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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, tigmeg and commercializing small molecule drugstfa@ treatment of serious diseases. In
November 2010, we submitted a new drug applicatiotNDA, requesting approval to market telaprenittie United States for the treatmer
patients with chronic hepatitis C virus, or HCVigation. In January 2011, we received priority esvidesignation for our telaprevir NDA frao
the United States Food and Drug Administratior DA, and the target date for the FDA to completegd@view of the telaprevir NDA is
May 23, 2011. We expect to obtain approval for mitthte sales of telaprevir in the United State2011. We are pursuing a number of other
clinical development programs, including a regtstraprogram for VX-770, the lead drug candidateum cystic fibrosis, or CF, program. We
plan to continue investing in our research and gweent programs and to develop and commerciaélected drug candidates that emerge
from those programs, alone or with third-party @bbrators.

OUR PIPELINE

Our pipeline is described in the followitadple. In addition to the drug candidates listeldlwewe are engaging in Phase 1 clinical trials
and/or nonclinical activities with respect to a raenof additional drug candidates, including commiaiintended for the treatment of HCV
infection, CF and influenza.

Clinical Development
Drug Candidate Indication Mechanism/Target Stage Collaborator(s)
HCV Infection
telaprevir (VX-950) HCV Infection HCV Proteak#ibitor NDA accepted witt Janssen
priority review Pharmaceutica, N.V.;
designation granted Mitsubishi Tanabe
Pharma Corporatio
VX-222 HCYV Infection HCV Polymerase Inhibitc Phase 2i
Cystic Fibrosis
VX-770 Cystic Fibrosis CFTR Potentiator Phase Cystic Fibrosis
Foundatior
Therapeutics Incorporat
VX-809 Cystic Fibrosis CFTR Corrector Phase 2 Cystic Fibrosis
Foundatior

Therapeutics Incorporat

Immune-mediated Inflammatory Diseases

VX-509 Rheumatoid JAK3 Inhibitor Phase 2a
Arthritis
Epilepsy
VX-765 Epilepsy Caspas-1 Inhibitor Phase 2i

OUR STRATEGY

Our goal is to be a biopharmaceutical camgpaith industry-leading capabilities in the resgmrdevelopment and commercialization of
innovative drugs that provide substantial benéditpatients with serious diseases. The key elentérsr strategy are:

Obtain FDA marketing approval for and effeely commercialize telaprevir in the United State We are focused on obtaining approval
for and successfully commercializing telaprevieaseatment for patients infected with genotypeQvHWe have submitted our NDA for
telaprevir to the FDA and plan to initiate salesedéprevir in the United States in 2011. We aeksgy approval to market telaprevir as a
treatment for patients infected with genotype 1 H@hb have not received previous treatment for timé@ction, referred to as treatment-naive
patients, and patients infected with
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genotype 1 HCV who have failed to achieve a susthinral response, or SVR, after prior treatmenh\piegylated-interferon, or peg-IFN, and
ribavirin, or RBV, referred to as treatment-failyratients.

Become a biopharmaceutical company capabtiiscovering, developing and commercializing miedis. \We believe we need an
effective sales and marketing organization to augroar research capabilities, late-stage developorganization and third-party
manufacturing relationships. In 2010, we establishsales and marketing organization in the Uriittedes to support the sale of telaprevir, if
approved. In order to support the potential Camatiianch of telaprevir, we have begun establiskalgs and marketing capabilities in Can
If our registration program for VX-770 is succedsfue also intend to establish sales and marketappbilities in Europe in order to prepare
for potential commercial sales of VX-770 in intetinaal markets.

Invest in research and early-stage and sialje clinical development programs.We intend to continue to invest significanto@ses in
research programs and early-stage and mid-stageatldevelopment programs as part of our strateglevelop drug candidates in disease
areas with significant unmet medical need. In 204 are continuing to conduct Phase 2 clinicaldiiiavolving drug candidates that could
address significant unmet needs in HCV, CF, rheaidatrthritis and epilepsy. We expect to continmeusing our research activities toward
therapies addressing serious diseases, becausdiexelihese therapies have the potential to defhegreatest value for patients, physicians
and the health care system.

Capitalize on collaboration arrangementgldnusiness development opportunitiesCollaborations have provided us with financial
support and other valuable resources for our devedmt and research programs, and business devetbppyortunities have provided us w
drug candidates and important research resouraeflire contributed to a number of the drug canegdia our current development pipeline.
We plan to continue to rely on collaborators toparp develop and/or commercialize some of our adrargdidates in markets in which we are
not concentrating our resources. We also oppottioally seek to license or acquire drugs, drug tdetds and other technologies that have the
potential to strengthen our pipeline, drug discgy@atform or commercial opportunities.

DRUG CANDIDATES
HCV Infection
Telaprevir (VX-950) (investigational oral HCV protease inhibitor for the treatment of HCV infection)

Telaprevir, our lead drug candidate, i®eally-administered hepatitis C protease inhibitat we have evaluated in treatment-naive and
treatment-failure patients with genotype 1 HCV atfen in combination with peg-IFN and RBV. Telapireworks by inhibiting the NS3-4A
serine protease, an enzyme necessary for HCV atiplic

We have collaboration agreements with Jam&harmaceutica, N.V., or Janssen, a Johnson @sdalcompany, and Mitsubishi Tanabe
Pharma Corporation, or Mitsubishi Tanabe, relatothe development and commercialization of telgjpr&ursuant to these agreements, we
are responsible for the commercialization of tedaprin North America, Mitsubishi Tanabe is respbtesfor the commercialization of
telaprevir in certain Far East countries, includiagan, and Janssen is responsible for the comatization of telaprevir in the rest of the
world. Telaprevir was discovered in our collabaratinow ended, with Eli Lilly and Company. We expiecpay Eli Lilly certain royalties on
future sales of telapreuvir.

On November 23, 2010, the FDA received DA for telaprevir. In January 2011, the telapréNDA was accepted for filing by the
FDA, and we received priority review designatioheTFDA's target review completion date for telapresyMay 23, 2011. The FDA's
regulatory review process for
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the telaprevir NDA includes, among other thingdetailed review by the FDA of the data and inforioratontained in the NDA, meetings and
frequent communications between us and represesesadi the FDA, and FDA inspections, including iesfions of clinical trial sites and third-
party facilities used to manufacture telapreviapplicable regulatory criteria are not satisfiget, FDA could refuse to approve or delay the
approval of the telaprevir NDA. In addition, we leasompleted our New Drug Submission to the Ther@p&uoduct Directorate of Health
Canada. Telaprevir was granted priority review an@da. We are seeking to obtain approval for amclatelaprevir in Canada in the second
half of 2011.

In December 2010, Janssen announced thabainketing authorization application, or MAA, tefaprevir was granted accelerated
assessment by the European Medicines Agency, or,BEivithe European Union. Review under the accadrassessment procedure is
provided by the EMA for drug candidates of majartpeutic interest and shortens the timeframeefdew by the EMA. In the first quarter of
2011, the EMA accepted the telaprevir MAA. Jandseseeking to obtain approval for and launch tedejorin the European Union in the
second half of 2011.

Background: Prevalence and Treatment of Hepatithi@s Infection

Exposure to the hepatitis C virus ofterd&eto chronic infection, although patients freqledd not have symptoms and are unaware that
they have become infected. Over time, liver inflaation develops in many patients, which can progi@ssarring of the liver, called fibrosis,
or more advanced scarring of the liver, calledhaisis. Patients with cirrhosis may go on to devdilgy failure or other complications of
cirrhosis, including liver cancer. The World Heallinganization has reported that HCV infection spansible for more than 50% of all liver
cancer cases and two-thirds of all liver transgamthe developed world.

The World Health Organization has estimaled about 170 million people are chronically otésl with HCV worldwide and that an
additional 3 million to 4 million people are infect each year. The Centers for Disease Control emgeRtion have estimated that
approximately 3.2 million people in the United ®&are chronically infected with HCV. The InstitofeMedicine has estimated the infected
population to be between 2.7 million and 3.9 milligeople.

Our clinical development activities relatedelaprevir are focused on genotype 1 HCV infectwhich is the most prevalent form of H
infection in the United States, the European Urind Japan. We believe that approximately 2.6 milfatients in the United States have
genotype 1 HCV infection. We believe that theségmds include approximately 750,000 patients whieaaly have been diagnosed with
genotype 1 HCV infection and 1.8 million patientsorremain undiagnosed.

In addition to being the most prevalentriasf HCV infection, infection with genotype 1 HCY the most difficult to treat of the primary
HCV genotypes. The current standard treatmeninfiection with genotype 1 HCV, which was first apged in 2001, is a combination of peg-
IFN and RBV, generally administered for 48 weelsisTreatment regimen is associated with significiahe-effects, including fatigue, flu-like
symptoms, rash, depression and anemia. Among p&tidro begin treatment, a significant percentageatients infected with genotype 1 H
fail to achieve a long-term sustained responshdmpy. In a clinical trial conducted by anothempany, involving approximately 3,070
treatment-naive patients in the United States tatewith genotype 1 HCV, between 59% and 62% dépts receiving peg-IFN and RBV
failed to achieve an SVR. On an intent-to-treaifd®b% of treatmentaive patients in the control arm of our Phase 3ANCE clinical trial,
who received the current standard treatment footyge 1 HCV infection, failed to achieve an SVR. Wédieve that there are over 250,000
patients infected with genotype 1 HCV in the Unigtdtes who have failed to achieve an SVR afteafhewith peg-IFN and RBV.

3
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Telaprevir Clinical Development

Our registration program for telaprevirlused the REALIZE clinical trial, a Phase 3 clifita@al in patients infected with genotype 1
HCV who failed to achieve an SVR with prior interda-based treatment, and two Phase 3 clinicabirilDVANCE and ILLUMINATE, in
treatment-naive patients infected with genotypeC\H

REALIZE

REALIZE was a pivotal three-arm double-Hial placebo-controlled clinical trial of telapreb@sed treatment regimens that enrolled 662
patients with genotype 1 HCV infection who failedachieve an SVR after treatment with pE and RBV. Patients were randomized 2:2:
the two telaprevir-based treatment arms and the@osrm, respectively. REALIZE included the followg patient groups:

. null responder—those patients who experienced at week 12 of ghinapy less than a 2 I, jreduction in HCV RNA levels

. partial responders—those patients who experiencéukeir prior course of therapy at least a 2 Jgpgeduction in HCV RNA
levels at week 12, but who failed to achieve unctatde HCV RNA levels by week 24; and

. relapsers—those patients who experienced undeted#i RNA levels at the completion of at leastwi@eks of prior
treatment, but who relapsed after treatment ended.

REALIZE is the only Phase 3 clinical traflan HCV protease inhibitor to date to enroll melsponders. REALIZE's primary endpoint \
SVR, defined as the percentage of patients whaihdétectable HCV RNA levels both at the end ofttreant and 24 weeks after the end of
treatment, measured on an intent-to-treat basiR B&s measured in each of the two telaprevir-basadment arms compared to the control
arm, as well as across the three subgroups ofrpgiie the trial arms. One of the two telaprevisédtreatment arms evaluated a lead-in
approach in which patients received four weeksreftpeatment with peg-IFN and RBV before receivielgprevir. Another objective of
REALIZE was to explore the safety of telaprevir whdosed in combination with peg-IFN and RBV.

The following table sets forth the SVR st an intent-to-treat basis for patients in thietiol arm and the combined telaprevir-based
treatment arms. In addition, the table includesmpkemental pooled analysis of the SVR rates oimi@mt-to-treat basis of the relapser and
partial responder patients together, across betleahtrol arm and the two telaprevir-based treatraens combined.

Partial
Relapsers  Responders  Null Responders Overall

All telaprevir -based treatment
arms 86% 57% 31% 65%
(245/286  (55/97) (46/147) (346/530

Pooled Results: 78¢

(300/383)
Control arm 24% 15% 5% 17%
(16/68) (4127) (2137) (22/132)
Pooled Results: 21¢
(20/95)

4




Table of Contents

The table below sets forth the SVR rateamintent-to-treat basis in each of the arms acttos three subgroups of patients.

Partial Null
Relapsers Responders Responders Overall

Telaprevir-based treatment arm (simultaneou
start):
telaprevir in combination with peg-IFN and RB'
for 12 weeks, followed by peg-IFN combined
with RBV for 36 week: 83% 5%% 29% 64%

Telaprevir-based treatment arm (lead-in
approach):
pec-IFN and RBV for 4 weeks, followed t
telaprevir in combination with peg-IFN and
RBV for 12 weeks, followed by peg-IFN

combined with RBV for 32 weel 88% 54% 33% 66%
Control arm:
pec-IFN combined with RBV for 48 weel 24% 15% 5% 17%
ADVANCE

ADVANCE was a pivotal three-arm double-blén placebo-controlled clinical trial that enrolle@88 treatment-naive patients with
genotype 1 HCV infection. ADVANCE had two telapnebiased treatment arms, one in which patientsvedel2 weeks of telaprevir-based
triple combination therapy and one in which pasariceived 8 weeks of telaprevir-based triple cowtiion therapy, in each case taking
additional peg-IFN and RBV for a period of timeeaftompleting telaprevir dosing. Patients in bdtthe telaprevir-based treatment arms who
met criteria for extended rapid viral responseeR¥R, completed all treatment after 24 weeks, wbétents who responded to treatment but
did not meet the eRVR criteria continued receiviieg-IFN and RBV for a total of 48 weeks of therapy.satisfy our eRVR criteria, a patient
must have had undetectable HCV RNA levels at tlikofnwveek 4 and week 12 after the start of treatmen

The primary endpoint of ADVANCE was SVRdach of the telaprevir-based treatment arms cordgarthe control arm. Another
objective of ADVANCE was to explore the safety @aakbrability of telaprevir when dosed in combinatiwith peg-IFN and RBV. The SVR
rates on an intent-to-treat basis for patientsDVANCE are set forth in the table below.

SVR Rates
12-week telaprevir-based treatment arm:
telaprevir in combination with p~IFN and RBV for 12 weeks, followed by g-IFN
combined with RBV for 12 weeks or 36 we 75%
8-week telaprevir-based treatment arm:
telaprevir in combination with p~-IFN and RBV for 8 weeks, followed by p-IFN
combined with RBV for 16 weeks or 40 we 69%
48-week control arm:
48 weeks of therapy with p-IFN and RBV 44%

ILLUMINATE

ILLUMINATE was a supplemental Phase 3 dalitrial that included evaluation of 24-week ai®dweek total treatment durations in
treatment-naive patients infected with genotypeCWVhivho achieved an eRVR in response to a telapteded treatment regimen. This clin
trial was a randomized, open-label trial that éerbb40 patients. ILLUMINATE was designed to suppént SVR data obtained from
ADVANCE by evaluating the benefits and risks, fatipnts achieving an eRVR, of extending total tresit duration from 24 to 48 weeks. 1
SVR rates from the trial met predefined non-infdtjocriteria established to compare the 24-weegjimen and the 48-week regimen and thus
indicated that there was no additional benefitdi@eding treatment to 48 weeks in

5
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patients who achieve an eRVR. The following tablevgles SVR rates for patients who achieved an eRiAReek 4 and week 12, and
remained on treatment through week 20.

SVR Rate Patients with
(For Patients Who SVR/Total Patients
Achieved eRVR) (Who Achieved eRVR)

24-week telaprevir-based treatment regimen:
telaprevir in combination with peg-IFN and RBV for
12 weeks, followed by peg-IFN combined with RBV fol
12 weeks 92% 149/162

48-week telaprevir-based treatment regimen:
telaprevir in combination with peg-IFN and RBV for
12 weeks, followed by peg-IFN combined with RBV fol
36 weeks 88% 140/160

The overall SVR rate for the patients eein ILLUMINATE on an intent-to-treat basis wag%. For patients who received the &éek
telaprevir-based treatment regimen after achieamgRVR, remained on treatment through week 2thaddundetectable HCV levels at the
end of treatment, the relapse rate was 5.7% (9/T%8) relapse rate for patients who achieved anReBMI received the 48-week telaprevir-
based treatment regimen was 1.9% (3/154).

Safety and Tolerability

The safety and tolerability results of ekvir-based combination therapy were consistersacthe Phase 3 clinical trials. The most
common adverse events, regardless of treatmemheggiwere rash, fatigue, pruritis, headache, naaseania, insomnia, diarrhea, flu-like
symptoms and pyrexia. The majority were graded milthoderate in severity.

Discontinuation of all study drugs in REAIH, ADVANCE and ILLUMINATE during the telaprevir-ls&d dosing period was as follows:

Discontinuation of All Study

Drugs During
Telaprevir-dosing Period
Total Rash Anemia

REALIZE

Telaprevi-based treatment armr 4% 0.4% 0.6%

Control arm: 3% 0.C% 0.C%
ADVANCE

12-week telaprev-based treatment arr 7% 1.4% 0.8%

8-week telaprev-based treatment arr 8% 0.5% 3.2%

Control arm: 4% 0.C% 0.€%
ILLUMINATE

Telaprevi-based treatment regimen (no control ar 7% 0.€% 1.1%

Additional Telaprevir Clinical Trials

In addition to our registration program felaprevir, we have ongoing and planned clinidalg exploring telaprevir-based treatment
regimens that may offer advantages to the regiregakiated in our completed Phase 3 clinical trisitee first of these trials is an ongoing
Phase 3b clinical trial, referred to as OPTIMIZEsidned to evaluate twice-daily dosing of telapresimpared to three-times-daily dosing. We
also are planning a Phase 2 clinical trial desigoesl/aluate shorter duration telaprevir-basedrreat regimens for specific patient
populations. We have ongoing and planned clinitalst designed to evaluate the potential for tedajprto address other patient populations,
including an ongoing Phase 2 clinical trial invalgipatients co-infected with genotype 1 HCV andhthman immunodeficiency virus, or HIV.
We also are planning a Phase 2 clinical trial itigoés with
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recurrent genotype 1 HCV infection who have reagiadiver transplant and are receiving commonlydusgmunosuppressive agents.
Mitsubishi Tanabe Clinical Progral

Mitsubishi Tanabe has conducted Phasengalitrials of telaprevir-based combination thgrapJapan that involved approximately 300
treatment-naive and treatment-failure patients WiV infection. Mitsubishi Tanabe filed for regusay approval of telaprevir in Japan in
January 2011.

VX-222 (investigational oral HCV polymerase inhibibr for the treatment of HCV infection)

HCV polymerase inhibitors, including our M@olymerase inhibitor VX-222, are direct-actingiaimal agents that inhibit the replication
of HCV, but through a mechanism distinct from HCMtease inhibitors such as telaprevir. We are cotitlyi a Phase 2a clinical trial in
patients with genotype 1 HCV designed to evaluesponse-guided combination treatment regimendagrevir and VX-222. Dosing in this
clinical trial began in August 2010. This trial ginally included two treatment arms of patientsreing two-drug treatment regimens
consisting of telaprevir and VX-222 and two treatingrms of patients receiving four-drug treatmegiimens consisting of telaprevir, VX22,
peg-IFN and RBV. In the fourth quarter of 2010, digcontinued both of the two-drug treatment arnmeabee patients in those arms met a pre-
defined stopping rule related to viral breakthroufhe remaining two original treatment arms, witlifdrug treatment regimens, are
continuing without modification. In the four-drugeatment arms, patients who meet pre-defined nagsidonse criteria complete all treatment
after 12 weeks and patients who respond to tredtmerdo not meet the rapid response criteria ooetireceiving peg-IFN and RBV for a total
of 24 weeks of therapy. In the first quarter of 20d/e plan to begin enrolling patients in a nevatimeent arm for this clinical trial to evaluate
12-week or 24-week response-guided treatment regiméth telaprevir, VX-222 and RBV but without p&eN. We believe the initiation of
this treatment arm is supported by emerging data fmultiple ongoing clinical trials of direct-acgjrantiviral therapies, including trials of
telaprevir/\VX-222-based combination therapy, whsciggest that adding RBV to a direct-acting antitireatment regimen may increase
antiviral activity.

In addition to the clinical trial evaluagitvX-222 in combination with telaprevir, we are doicting a Phase 2a clinical trial to evaluate
multiple doses of VX-222 in combination with onlggrIFN and RBV. This Phase 2a clinical trial isigesd to evaluate the safety, tolerability
and antiviral activity of two dose levels of VX-22200 mg and 750 mg) in a total of 50 patients wighotype 1 HCV infection. Patients in the
clinical trial are receiving VX-222 in combinatiavith peg-IFN and RBV for 12 weeks, followed by pidN and RBV for 36 weeks.

Cystic Fibrosis

Cystic fibrosis is a genetic disorder tatiects about 30,000 people in the United States7@n000 people worldwide. The drug candid.
that we are developing for CF were selected becalubeir potential to address the underlying caafs€F by increasing the function of a
defective protein in patients with CF, known as ¢stic fibrosis transmembrane conductance reguylatd®CFTR. The underlying cause of CF
is a genetically inherited deficiency in the protiloie or activity of the CFTR protein. The CFTR paint is involved in controlling the movem:
of chloride ions into and/or out of cells in thegy sweat glands, pancreas and other organs. WRils a systemic disease, progressive loss of
lung function is the primary cause of increasedtality in patients with CF. Abnormally thick mucirsthe lungs of patients with CF leads to
chronic lung infections, lung inflammation and pregsive decline in lung function. Some patienthf also experience problems with
digestion, due to a lack of CFTR function in thegas, resulting in the need for enzyme replacetherapy. According to the Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation in 2008, the predicted mediarigal for patients with cystic fibrosis is 37 ysa
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CF develops when neither of the two copiethe CFTRgene, referred to as alleles, produce sufficienttional CFTR protein. There are
numerous mutations in tlf@FTRgene that result in CF, including the G551D mutatad the F508del mutation. The G551D mutationltgsu
in a defect known as a gating defect, in whichGRE'R protein reaches the cell surface but doegffictently transport chloride ions across
cell membrane. The F508del mutation results infaalé&nown as a trafficking defect, in which theT®¥Fprotein does not reach the cell sur
in sufficient quantities.

According to the 2007 Cystic Fibrosis Foatiah Patient Registry Annual Data Report in thététhStates, approximately 4% of patients
with CF have the G551D mutation on at least oreleal19% of patients with CF have the F508del nartatn both alleles and an additional
approximately 38% of patients with CF have the F#d8nutation on one allele. There are numerousr d¢iss prevalent CF mutations that
result in gating and/or trafficking defects.

There is no available therapy that imprabesfunction of defective CFTR proteins. Insteadhilable treatments for CF pulmonary dise
focus on improving mucus clearance from the lurgwell as treating lung infections and inflammatibmproved mucus clearance is sought
through physical therapy, inhalation of a mucuanimg drug such as Pulmozyme (dornase alpha) hatation of hypertonic saline. Lung
infections are treated with inhaled and systemtiibantics while inflammation is treated with antifiammatory agents like ibuprofen. In
addition, the majority of CF patients take pandoe@hzyme supplements to assist with food absarptialigestion.

FEV,, a measure of the amount of air that an individaal exhale in one second, is a test used to a@edlweg function. CF is
characterized by progressive decreases in Féalues compared to FE\Walues observed in healthy individuals. The FE¥st has been used

as an efficacy endpoint during testing of the autityeapproved pulmonary drugs for the treatmentbf Since CF is a chronic disease, pivotal
clinical trials of CF drug candidates have involtkd measurement of FEWalues over a number of months. Mean increasesrirept

predicted FEV, of between 5% and 10% over 24-week periods have bleserved in the pivotal clinical trials of the cos thinning drugs and
antibiotics most widely used for the managemergef

We are conducting clinical trials of twaidrcandidates, VX-770 and VX-809, that were setebecause of their potential to improve the
function of defective CFTR proteins in patientshw@F. We discovered VX-770 and VX-809 in our reshaollaboration with The Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated, F T and with the support and participation of @estic Fibrosis Foundation. We hold
worldwide development and commercialization riglt¥X-770 and VX-809, and we will pay royalties@-FT on any future sales of VX?0
or VX-809.

VX-770 (investigational oral CFTR potentiator for the treatment of CF)

VX-770 is an investigational oral drug catade that has the potential to increase chlodetiansport across cell membranes by partially
restoring the activity of defective CFTR proteinttie surface of the cells. In May 2009, we inittageregistration program, referred to as
ENDEAVOR, for VX-770. The VX-770 registration pragn focuses on patients with the G551D mutationabse the G551D mutation is the
most prevalent gating mutation in patients with Tke registration program consists of three clinidgals designed to evaluate the safety and
efficacy of VX-770.
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The primary clinical trial, which is refed to as STRIVE, is a Phase 3 clinical trial of VX0 that enrolled approximately 170 patients
12 years of age and older with the G551D mutatioatdeast one of the patient's t@&TRgenes, or alleles. In this randomized, placebo-
controlled, double-blind, parallel-group clinicald, patients received either VX70 or placebo for 48 weeks. The second clinidal, which is
referred to as ENVISION, is a Phase 3 clinical oiavX-770 in patients between 6 to 11 years of agth the G551D mutation on at least one
allele. ENVISION is a two-part, randomized, placedmmtrolled, double-blind, parallel-group clinidal of VX-770. We have completed
Part 1 of ENVISION, which evaluated single-doserpiacokinetics to determine the dose selectionlidden ages 6 to 11. Part 2 of the
ENVISION trial enrolled approximately 50 patientheovare receiving either VX-770 or placebo for 4&k& The primary endpoint for the
STRIVE and ENVISION clinical trials is absolute ciye from baseline in percent predicted FEWrough week 24. Additional FEY

measurements taken through 48 weeks are a secantdppint. Secondary endpoints, including sweairade levels, will be measured to
evaluate the effectiveness of VX-770 in improvihg function of the defective CFTR protein.

The third clinical trial, which is referred as DISCOVER, is a Phase 2 exploratory cliniigal of VX-770 that enrolled approximately 1
patients with CF who are 12 years of age and @ddrwho have the F508del mutation on both allétethis randomized, placebo-controlled,
double-blind, parallel-group trial, patients reaaweither VX-770 or placebo for 16 weeks. The primendpoints of the DISCOVER clinical
trial are safety and change from baseline in pengesdicted FEV, through week 16. Additional secondary endpointsluiding sweat chloride

levels, were measured. Based on data from oucalitiials andn vitro data to date, we anticipate that further clinicall$ in patients
homozygous for the F508del mutation will involveotdrug candidates in combination, with one compadesigned to address trafficking
defects, such as VX-809, and another compound editp address gating defects, such as VX-770.

We completed patient dosing in STRIVE ia thist quarter of 2011 and in DISCOVER in 2010d ave expect to receive data from both
these clinical trials in the first quarter of 20¥¥e expect to complete patient dosing in ENVISI@NkHie first half of 2011 and to receive data
from ENVISION in mid-2011. If our registration pragn for VX-770 is successful, we could submit anAN&nd an MAA for VX-770 in the
second half of 2011.

Completed Phase 2a Clinical Trial of VX-770

The Phase 2a clinical trial of VX-770 tipa¢ceded the ongoing registration program enr@gatients with the G551D mutation on at
least one allele, 20 of whom were enrolled in Raot the clinical trial and 19 of whom were enrdli@ Part 2 of the clinical trial. Patients in
Part 1 of this clinical trial were dosed with VX dr placebo over 14 day periods. In Part 2 of ftfiase 2a clinical trial, patients were dosed
over 28 days in the following three arms: eighigres received 150 mg of VX-770 twice daily; seypatients received 250 mg of VX-770
twice daily; and four patients received a placekice daily. The primary endpoint of this Phase Raical trial was safety. There were no
serious adverse events attributable to VX-770 ig ¢hnical trial, and no patients discontinuedcatraent over the 28ay dosing period of Part
of this clinical trial. The safety data from thinécal trial supported the initiation of the retgstion program for VX-770.

The secondary endpoints of this Phasei&al trial measured lung function and CFTR protkinction. We measured changes in lung
function using FEV, , and we evaluated CFTR activity through measurésnginsweat chloride levels. Elevated sweat chiolévels—high
levels of salt in sweat—occur in CF patients arsiltedirectly from defective CFTR activity in epélial cells in the sweat ducts. Patients with
CF typically have elevated sweat chloride levett tre in excess of 60 mmol/L, compared to normalles of less than 40 mmol/L. A
summary of data regarding lung function and bioraeslof the CFTR protein function, including Vplues" from Part 2 of this Phase 2a clin
trial, is set forth in the table below. The reflstatistical testing is often defined in termsaof
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statistical "p-value," with a p-value of 0.05 osdegenerally considered to represent a statistisaghificant difference.

FEV , Mean Sweat Chloride
Increase from Mean Decrease Sweat
Number of Treatment Baseline at from Baseline at Chloride
Patients Arm Day 28 (p-value) Day 28 (p-value) Baseline
11.6% -52.8 mmol/L 102
8 150 m¢ (p<0.01) (p<0.01) mmol/L
7.4% -32.4 mmol/L 95
7 250 m¢ (p<0.05) (p<0.05) mmol/L
7.0% +4.8 mmol/L 98
4 Placebr (p=0.13) (p=0.38) mmol/L

VX-809 (investigational oral CFTR corrector compourd for the treatment of CF)

We are evaluating VX-809, an oral correctmmpound that was selected because of its poltémiiacrease the concentration of CFTR
proteins on cell surfaces in patients with the FEd8nutation, a mutation that results in a traffickdefect.In vitro , studies of correctors have
suggested that these compounds can restore furtftatefective F508del CFTR protein, with increasrdficking of F508del CFTR protein to
the cell surface and enhanced gating activity dfgelel CFTR protein on the cell surface.

In the first quarter of 2010, we completeBhase 2a, 28-day clinical trial of VX-809 asrayl agent in 89 patients 18 years of age or
older with the F508del mutation on both allelesisTPhase 2a clinical trial was a randomized, dobhtel, placebo-controlled, multiple dose
clinical trial. Patients received one of four doe&¥X-809, or placebo, in addition to standardrépes for 28 days. The trial was designed

primarily to evaluate the safety and tolerabilifyMX-809. Multiple secondary endpoints were utilize determine any effect of VX-809 on
CFTR protein function and lung function.

VX-809 was well-tolerated through 28 da§2% mg, 50 mg, 100 mg and 200 mg once-daily dodm¢he trial, one patient discontinued

treatment in each of the VX-809 treatment armstduedverse events. Respiratory-related adverseeware the most commonly reported
adverse events in the trial.

We also evaluated several secondary entipimithe Phase 2a clinical trial. In the triaktd was a statistically significant decline in stvea
chloride, compared to the baseline value priorgatment, at both the 100 mg and 200 mg once-dasgs, suggesting that the activity of the
CFTR protein was increased in patients during dpshaditionally, we observed a dose response aiosl with change in sweat chloride
across the four dose groups. A summary of the dagarding sweat chloride levels from this Phaseli®écal trial is set forth in the table belc

The patients' mean baseline sweat chloride levets approximately 100 mmol/L, which is consisteithwgweat chloride measurements of
patients with severe CF.

Mean Change in Sweat Chloride

Treatment Arm Levels from Baseline at Day 28 p-value

25 mg (onc-daily) 0.1 mmol/L .975:
50 mg (onc-da!ly) -4.6 mmol/l 1328
100 mg (onc-daily) -6.1 mmol/L .049¢
200 mg (onc-daily) -8.2 mmol/l .009:

The trial also included additional secodamdpoints to evaluate CFTR protein function,uddhg CFTR protein trafficking, and lung
function. The results from this Phase 2a clinical tlid not show any change in lung function, asasured by FEV .
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Phase 2a Combination Clinical Trial of VX-770 ang-809

We are conducting a Phase 2a combinatioical trial of VX-770 and VX-809 in patients withe F508del mutation on both alleles.
Enroliment is ongoing in Part 1 of this trial, whits designed to evaluate a 200 mg dose of VX-809]acebo, alone for 14 days and then in
combination with VX770, or placebo, for 7 days. We expect to receiterim data from Part 1 of this combination triathe first half of 201:

Immune-mediated Inflammatory Diseases
VX-509 (investigational oral JAK3 inhibitor for the treatment of immune-mediated inflammatory diseasés

VX-509 is designed to inhibit Janus kin8ser JAK3, which is involved in signaling pathwabsit control the survival and proliferation
of a type of white blood cell referred to as a yrapyte. Because of JAK3's role in lymphocyte bigloge believe it is a promising target for
the design of immunosuppressant drugs for treatofemtvariety of immune-mediated diseases. Basdd witro data, VX-509 appears to be a
potent and selective inhibitor of JAKS.

In 2010, we initiated a Phase 2a clinidal bf VX-509 in patients with moderate-to-seveneumatoid arthritis, or RA. We expect to
enroll approximately 200 patients in this doublawb) randomized, placebo-controlled trial, whichlwivaluate the safety, tolerability and
clinical activity of four doses of VX-509. Patierstse receiving 12 weeks of treatment with VX-508ehbtwice daily compared to placebo. The
primary endpoints of this clinical trial are to &vate safety and to measure clinical signs and sym@ of RA in patients after 12 weeks of
treatment. Efficacy assessments include the Ame@alege of Rheumatology criteria—ACR20, ACR50 &@R70—for defining clinical
improvement in patients with RA. ACR20, ACR50 an@R70 are standardized measures of the numberiehgmatvho achieve at least a 20,
50 or 70 percent improvement, respectively, in A§fieeified measures of RA activity. The trial al¢itizes disease activity scores, or DAS,
and European League Against Rheumatism, or EULAByanse criteria as additional efficacy assessméfexpect to complete enroliment
in this clinical trial in the first quarter of 20Ed to obtain clinical data, including measuremm@iftsafety, tolerability and clinical activity, in
the third quarter of 2011.

Epilepsy
VX-765 (investigational oral Caspase-1 inhibitor fo the treatment of epilepsy)

VX-765 is designed to inhibit Caspase, Wwhgan enzyme that controls the generation ofdytokines, IL-1f and IL-18, that are
believed to mediate a wide range of immune anduinfhatory responses in many cell types. Epilepsycisronic neurological disorder that is
defined by recurrent seizures that are the re$wlveractive neurons in the brain. Recent studiggsst that inflammation and overproduction
of IL-1 B may be associated with the initiation and mainterasf epileptic seizures. While there are a nunob@pproved anticonvulsant
medications used to treat patients with epilepsutestantial portion of patients are considerdaettreatmentesistant because they continu
have seizures while taking approved anti-epilegtigys.

VX-765 has been shown to inhibit acute s in preclinical models. In addition, VX-765 t&mwn activity in preclinical models of
chronic epilepsy that do not respond to approvedegileptic drugs. VX-765 previously had been dbgeover 100 patients in Phase 1 and
Phase 2a clinical trials relating to other diseasetuding a 28-day Phase 2a clinical trial inigats with psoriasis. We terminated development
for psoriasis in 2006 because patients did not slioadequate response to therapy with VX-765. Weueethat the data we have from the
nonclinical studies together with safety informatfoom previous clinical trials in humans for VX&@rovide a rationale to explore the
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clinical potential of this drug candidate as atiment for epilepsy. We expect that VX-765 will e ffirst clinical drug candidate to target
epilepsy through the inflammation pathway.

We recently completed the treatment ph&seRhase 2a clinical trial of VX-765 that enroligproximately 75 patients with treatment-
resistant epilepsy. The double-blind, randomizéal;gbo-controlled clinical trial was designed takenate the safety, tolerability and clinical
activity of VX-765. Patients were monitored foragie frequency during an initial six-week baselyeeiod and then for six weeks while they
received treatment with VX-765, followed by a fiettsix-week observation period while they wereamler receiving VX-765. The primary
endpoints of the trial were safety and tolerabhilitie secondary endpoints evaluated clinical effia@lative to baseline, measured by reduc
in seizure frequency and number of patients wii) @ercent or greater reduction in seizure frequercsus baseline. We currently are
analyzing data from this trial.

COMMERCIAL ORGANIZATION

Over the past several years, we have exghsignificantly our commercial organization in theited States. In 2010, we hired an
experienced management team and more than 10ebfskeld employees, prepared our initial marketirgfesgies, and designed and
implemented infrastructure that will be requiredstgpport commercial sales of telaprevir if it ipegved for sale in the United States. We
expect to complete these activities in the firdt 682011 and believe that our commercial orgatiarawill be prepared for the potential mid-
2011 commercial launch of telaprevir in the Unigtdtes. We also are planning to market telaprev@anada and believe that our commercial
organization will be prepared for the potential &adian launch of telaprevir in the second half af 20

We believe that we have developed a dedprstanding of the HCV market in the United Stated Canada. Our understanding
incorporates information regarding the currentdéad of care as well as the attitudes of patientsheealth care providers toward current and
potential therapies. We will be updating and refinour marketing strategies as we near the potetmamercial launch of telaprevir. In
addition, our government affairs and public poligpup advocates for policies that promote life scés innovation and increase awareness of
the diseases on which we are focusing with stadefegteral legislatures, government agencies, piigladth officials and other policy-makers.

RESEARCH PROGRAMS

We believe that our integrated drug desigproach has significantly enhanced our abilitglissover and develop small molecule drug
candidates directed at biologically complex targstsociated with serious diseases. Our drug desadfiorm integrates biology, pharmacology,
drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics, toxicologgterial sciences, biophysics, medicinal chemistg process chemistry, automation and
information technologies in a coordinated and stemgous fashion throughout the discovery processb®lieve that our approach has been
validated through our success in moving drug caatdilinto clinical trials. We have decided to foonsseveral core therapeutic areas, in order
to expand and develop our expertise in specificagheutic areas and to permit a framework for pédfelanning and execution. Currently, the
four therapeutic areas of highest priority to us @&fectious diseases, including viral infectiosisch as influenza, and bacterial infections;
immune-mediated inflammatory diseases; cancernandological diseases and disorders, including.@2iiven by the complexity of the
therapeutic areas selected, we are attemptingetdifg multiple targets within each indication theither as a stand-alone therapy or
combination therapy, could provide treatment oitirat are transformational in nature. The objeatif/this approach is to enable us to
eventually provide multiple drugs in each of thésgrapeutic areas. We select therapeutic areasapping our research strengths, including
expertise in kinases, proteases and membrane @pt@ito therapeutic areas with high unmet neetth, avi emphasis on indications where we
believe we, independently or in collaboration wither pharmaceutical companies, will be able toalisr, develop, and
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commercialize important medicines for serious dissaWithin each therapeutic area, we focus ilyjit@ specific indications.

Our past drug discovery efforts have predua variety of drug candidates that have been @cialized or are in preclinical or clinical
development. We believe our ongoing research pregi@ntinue to create value for us by generatingdreig candidates in areas of
significant unmet medical need. We are evaluating @dandidates in Phase 1 clinical trials and agaged in nonclinical activities involving a
number of additional investigational compounds, onmore of which may enter clinical developmen20i1.

To augment our internal research programsseek to collaborate with leading academic rebeastitutions, government laboratories,
foundations and other organizations in order tcaade research in our areas of therapeutic intasastell as in areas of basic technological
enablement. We have established relationshipsavganizations and organized consortia of orgaramatirom around the world with expert
in areas of interest to us, and intend to levethgeexperience to further our research efforts.

CORPORATE COLLABORATIONS

We have entered into corporate collabonatieith pharmaceutical and other companies anchazgtions that provide financial and other
resources, including capabilities in research, greent, manufacturing, and sales and marketingypport our research and development
programs.

Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V.

In June 2006, we entered into a licenseeld@ment, manufacturing and commercialization egrent with Janssen. Under the
collaboration agreement, we collaborate with Jansselevelop and commercialize telaprevir. Undertdrms of the collaboration agreement,
we retain exclusive commercial rights to telapréviNorth America and lead the development plartétaprevir in North America and the
Janssen territories. Janssen has exclusive riglesmmercialize telaprevir outside of North Amerigad the Far East. In connection with the
execution of the collaboration agreement, we restean up-front payment of $165.0 million in JulyoBOAs of December 31, 2010, we had
received $100.0 million of contingent milestone p@yts related to the development of telaprevir utige collaboration agreement. In
addition, the agreement provides for additionaltiogent milestone payments to us of up to $250l0anirelated to the regulatory filing with
and approval of telaprevir by the EMA, and the lguof telaprevir in the European Union. In thedtguarter of 2009, we entered into two
financial transactions related to these $250.0anilin potential future milestone payments, which discussed in detail in our consolidated
financial statements and management's discussibarsalysis of financial condition and results oégiions contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. In these transactions, we receivegb&lmillion in 2009 and a third party will receitiee proceeds from the $250.0 million in
potential milestone payments payable to us by &msghen and if we become entitled to them.

Janssen is responsible for 50% of drug ldgweent costs under the development program fotiN@merica and the Janssen territories.
Each of the parties to the collaboration agreerisar@sponsible for drug supply in their respectasitories. The collaboration agreement also
includes a tiered royalty payable to us averagindné mid-20% range, as a percentage of net satbg iJanssen territories, depending upon
successful commercialization. In addition, Jansgdlrbe responsible for certain thinolarty royalties in its territories. Janssen mayniaate the
collaboration agreement upon six months' noticgstdn such an event, all manufacturing, commaeeeibn and intellectual property rights to
telaprevir in the Janssen territories under thiabotation agreement will revert to us.
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As part of the collaboration agreementipfeing regulatory approval and commercializatiortedprevir in both North America and
Janssen's territories, we have agreed to establgbbal health initiative with Tibotec, an affiigaof Janssen, with the goals of advancing the
prevention, diagnosis, treatment and cure of HQ¥dtion, which will be principally directed towadiveloping countries.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporatio

In June 2004, we entered into a collaboraéigreement with Mitsubishi Tanabe pursuant tatwMitsubishi Tanabe agreed to provide
financial and other support for the development emmdmercialization of telaprevir. Under the termishe agreement, Mitsubishi Tanabe has
the right to develop and commercialize telapravidapan and specified other Far East countriesofigmal agreement provided for payments
by Mitsubishi Tanabe to us through Phase 2 clindealelopment, including an up-front license feejaligoment stage milestone payments and
reimbursement of certain drug development costselaprevir.

In July 2009, we amended the collaboratigreement with Mitsubishi Tanabe. Under the amemageeement, we received $105.0 million
in 2009, and will be eligible to receive a furtl@ntingent milestone payment, which if realized lWdaange between $15.0 million and
$65.0 million. The amended agreement provides Mithi Tanabe with a fully-paid license to manufaetand commercialize telaprevir to
treat HCV infection in Japan and specified othamtdes in the Far East. Mitsubishi Tanabe is resfie for its own development and
manufacturing costs in its territory. Mitsubishiriede may terminate the agreement at any time wittenuse upon 60 days' prior written notice
to us, in which case all rights to telaprevir wélert to us.

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporate

In May 2004, we entered into a collabomnaégreement with CFFT, the non-profit drug discgweard development affiliate of the Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation, pursuant to which CFFT proglide with partial funding through 2008 for our G&Search and development programs.
VX-770 and VX-809 were discovered by us under tagearch collaboration. We retain the right to tlgwand commercialize any compounds
discovered in the course of the research collalwmoraincluding VX-770 and VX-809, and we will payrayalty to CFFT on the net sales of any
approved drugs discovered in the collaboration.

GlaxoSmithKline plc

In 1993, we entered into a collaboratiothvidlaxoSmithKline plc covering the research, depetent and commercialization of HIV
protease inhibitors. Lexiva/Telzir and Ageneras®, HIV protease inhibitors that have been appragtreatments for HIV infection, were
discovered under this agreement. The agreemenide®that GlaxoSmithKline will pay us a royalty alhnet sales of the HIV protease
inhibitors covered by the agreement. In May 2008,sald our right to receive future royalties frofax®SmithKline with respect to these HIV
protease inhibitors, excluding the amount neceseapay a third party a subroyalty on these neissdbr a one-time cash payment to us of
$160.0 million.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We actively seek protection for our produahd proprietary information by means of Uniteat&t and foreign patents, trademarks and
copyrights, as appropriate. In addition, we relpmprade secret protection and contractual arrargésrio protect certain of our proprietary
information and products. We have patents and pgnattent applications that relate to potentiabdargets, compounds we are developing to
modulate those targets, methods of making or usioge compounds and proprietary elements of o discovery platform.
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Much of our technology and many of our gsses depend upon the knowledge, experience disdagkéiey scientific and technical
personnel. To protect our rights to our proprietampw-how and technology, we require all employessyell as our consultants and advisors
when feasible, to enter into confidentiality agrees that require disclosure and assignment td igeas, developments, discoveries and
inventions made by these employees, consultantadvidors in the course of their service to us.

While we have numerous issued patents andipg patent applications in our patent portfolie, believe that the patents and patent
applications in the United States and the Européson that are the most important to our businesdteose that claim the composition-of-
matter of drug candidates that have progressezhat into Phase 2 clinical trials. The followinpleasets forth the status of the primary patents
and patent applications in the United States aadtirvopean Union covering the composition-of-maifehese drug candidates:

Status of United States Patent Status of European Union Patent
(Anticipated Expiration, (Anticipated Expiration,

Drug Candidate Subject to Potential Extensions) Subject to Potential Extensions)
telaprevir (VX-950) Granted (2025) Granted (2021)
VX-770 Granted (2025) Application Pending (2025)
VX-222 Granted (2027) Application Pending (2027)
VX-809 Application Pending (2026) Application Pending (2026)
VX-509 Application Pending (2025) Application Pending (2025)
VX-765 Granted (2021) Application Pending (2021)

The United States patent covering the caitipn-of-matter for telaprevir was granted in 204ith a term that expires in 2025. We do not
expect material extensions to the term of the patevering the composition-afiatter of telaprevir in the United States. In thedpean Unior
we expect to obtain extensions to the term of #itent covering the composition-of-matter of telaprand that as a result of these extensions
the patents will expire in 2026. We will need tpbpseparately for the extensions in the Europeaiotyon a country-by-country basis.

We hold issued patents and pending pafgiications in the United States, and in foreignrtoes we deem appropriate, claiming
intellectual property developed as part of eacbwfsignificant research and development programaddition to the composition-of-matter
patents and patent applications listed above,rdaléctual property holdings include but are rwited to:

. United States and foreign patents and patent agifgits covering telaprevir, VX-222 and other HC\étgiase and polymerase
inhibitors and the use of these compounds to H€AY infection.

. United States and foreign patent applications dogguotentiators and correctors of the CFTR proteicluding VX-770 and
VX-809 and many other related compounds, and teeofithose potentiators and correctors to treat CF.

. United States and foreign patents and patent aijgits covering inhibitors of a variety of kinageteins, including V:-509, a
JAK3 inhibitor.

. United States and foreign patents and patent agijgits covering caspase-1 inhibitors, including V6&5.

. United States and foreign patent applications dogeahe manufacture, pharmaceutical compositiogiated solid forms
formulations, dosing regimens and methods of ughexfe compounds, including telaprevir and VX-770.

We cannot be certain, however, that isquegdnts will be enforceable or provide adequatéeptimn or that pending patent applications
will result in issued patents.
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From time to time we enter into non-exchedicense agreements for proprietary third-pagghthology used in connection with our
research activities. These license agreementsatjypiorovide for the payment by us of a license fag may also include terms providing for
milestone payments or royalties for the developnagfor commercialization of our drug productsiaggrom the related research.

MANUFACTURING
Manufacturing Approach and Philosop

As we advance our proprietary drug candisl#trough clinical development toward commercéion, we continue to build and maintain
our supply chain and quality assurance resourcestély on an international network of third partiesnanufacture and distribute our drug
candidates for clinical trials, and we expect thatwill continue for the foreseeable future to retythird parties to meet our commercial su|
needs for any of our drug candidates that are appréor sale.

Our supply chain for sourcing raw materesl manufacturing drug product ready for distitruis a multi-step international endeavor.
Third-party contract manufacturers, including sam€hina, supply us with raw materials, and corttraanufacturers in the European Union
and the United States convert these raw materitdsirug substance, and convert the drug substatacénal dosage form. Establishing and
managing this global supply chain requires a sigaift financial commitment and the creation andmtgmiance of numerous third-party
contractual relationships.

We are focusing resources on the developofesystems and processes to track, monitor aedsee our third-party manufacturers'
activities. We regularly evaluate the performantew third-party manufacturers with the objectafeconfirming their continuing capabilities
to meet our needs efficiently and economically. Manturing facilities, both foreign and domestig aubject to inspections by or under the
authority of the FDA and by or under the authoatfyther federal, state, local or foreign authestiA failure by any of our third-party
manufacturers to pass an inspection could adveedtdygt our ability to launch telaprevir or VX-71®a timely manner, if we obtain marketing
approval, or adversely affect our ability to con@rto distribute telaprevir or VX-770 after launch.

We have established a quality assuranagrano intended to ensure that our third-party mastufars and service providers produce
materials and provide services, when applicablactordance with the FDA's current Good ManufantuRractices, or cGMP, and other
applicable regulations.

Manufacture of Telaprevir Clinical and Commercialpplies

We require a supply of telaprevir for olinical trials and have agreed to exercise ourramttial rights from our thirgharty manufacturel
to provide a supply of telaprevir to Janssen antsdbishi Tanabe for their clinical trials. We aisidl require a supply of telaprevir for sale in
North America if we obtain marketing approval. bid#ion, we have agreed to exercise our contractghts from our thir-party
manufacturers to provide, until April 2012, a sypepl telaprevir drug substance to Mitsubishi Tan&dyeheir use in manufacturing telaprevir
in final dosage form for sale, if approved, intégsritory. We also have agreed to supply telaprésig substance, intermediates and final drug
product to Janssen as a secondary source unti2Dirie

We are manufacturing telaprevir, throughthird-party manufacturing network, to meet oanssen's and Mitsubishi Tanabe's clinical
supply needs and our needs for commercial suppliedaprevir, if approved. We believe our past andtinuing efforts to expand our
relationships with third-party manufacturers anérmaee their activities will be important to suppttmely and effective commercial launch of
telaprevir and its consistent supply in subseqyeats.
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We have completed the transfer of techriidarmation regarding the manufacture of telapréwiJanssen so that Janssen will be able to
manufacture telaprevir, if approved, for sale ins&en's territories and as a secondary supplysadfidrug substance for us. While we believe
there are multiple third parties capable of prawidimost of the materials and services we needdardo manufacture and distribute telapreuvir,
and that supply of materials that cannot be secmleed can be managed with inventory planningettsealways a risk that we may
underestimate demand, and that our manufacturipgoity through third-party manufacturers may nosbgicient. In addition, because of the
significant lead times involved in our supply ch&ntelaprevir, we may have less flexibility tojast our supply in response to changes in
demand than if we had shorter lead times.

Manufacture of V:770 Clinical and Commercial Supplies

We require VX-770 for clinical trials in Kb America and Europe, and will require a supgdlyy®-770 for sale in North America and
international markets if we obtain marketing ap@loWe obtain VX-770 to meet our clinical supplyeds through a third-party manufacturing
network and are in the process of validating thaufecturing processes that will be required to poedvVX-770, if approved, at a commercial
scale.

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical industry is characterizg extensive research efforts, rapid technoldgimagress and intense competition. There are
many public and private companies, including phamsuéical companies, chemical companies and biotdogy companies, engaged in
developing products for the same human therapatgias that we are targeting. Many of our competit@ve substantially greater financial,
technical and human resources than we do and hexe erperience than us in the development of neygdin order for us to compete
successfully, we may need to demonstrate gredttysafficacy, ease of manufacturing and/or madgasteptance of our products relative to
competitors' products that have received or wikiee regulatory approval for marketing.

We face competition based on the safetyedfichcy of our drug candidates, the timing andpscof regulatory approvals, the availability
and cost of supply, marketing and sales capalsilittimbursement coverage, price, patent proteatimhother factors. Our competitors may
develop or commercialize more effective, safer oreraffordable products than we are able to devetammercialize or obtain more
effective patent protection. As a result, our cotitpes may commercialize products more rapidly fieetively than we do, which would
adversely affect our competitive position, the litkeod that our drug candidates, if approved, wadtieve initial market acceptance and our
ability to generate meaningful revenues from tharsgys. Even if our drug candidates are approvedaghtve initial market acceptance, fut
competitive products may render our drugs obsaetencompetitive. If any such drug is renderedtdis or noncompetitive, we may not be
able to recover the expenses of developing, stiogmnd commercializing that drug. With respecalioof our drugs and drug candidates, we
are aware of existing treatments and numerous ciandidates in development by our competitors.

HCV Infection
Current HCV Market

A 48-week course of both peg-IFN, whichuiegs weekly injections, and RBV, which is an atalg, is the current standard treatment for
genotype 1 HCV infection. This treatment regimeadgsociated with significant side-effects, inclggfatigue, flu-like symptoms, rash,
depression and anemia. A majority of patients wigifbtreatment do not achieve an SVR. Based owisksans with physicians who treat
patients infected with HCV, we believe that there @ significant number of patients with HCV whoyntansider treatment with new, more
effective therapies.

17




Table of Contents
Initial Anticipated Competitive Landscape for Telkayr

Merck & Co., Inc.'s protease inhibitor, bpeevir, is the only HCV protease inhibitor thab&ing developed on a timeline comparable to
telaprevir. Merck completed Phase 3 clinical trizi®oceprevir-based treatment regimens in 201Gckannounced in January 2011 the FDA
had granted priority review of its NDA for bocepie\As a result, we expect that boceprevir willregiewed by the FDA on a very similar
timeline to telaprevir and may be approved shastlgr to telaprevir. Merck's Phase 3 clinical tialf boceprevir included a clinical trial,
RESPOND-2, that evaluated response-guided bocegrased triple combination therapy in treatmeniufai patients but excluded null
responders to prior treatment, and a clinical t@&RINT-2, that evaluated response-guided bocegrased triple combination therapy in
treatment-naive patients. Merck reported resutisfthese clinical trials in the second half of 20b0November 2009, Merck initiated another
Phase 3 clinical trial for boceprevir that it estted would enroll approximately 660 patients indelctvith genotype 1 HCV to compare the
effect on efficacy of erythropoietin use versusuedg the dose of RBV for the management of anemia.

If telaprevir and boceprevir are both apebon a comparable timeline, we believe that tiigslwould compete in the marketplace based
on, among other things, safety and efficacy dataftheir respective clinical trials, breadth of epged use, dosing regimen, cost, cost of co-
therapies and side-effect profiles.

Long-term Competitive Landscape in HCV

We are aware of numerous other compoundsriital trials that target HCV infection througlinumber of different mechanisms of
action, and we believe that there are many additipatential HCV treatments in research or earlyettsoment. There are a number of earlier-
stage protease inhibitors, HCV polymerase inhibitord HCV NS5A inhibitors, each of which is a diracting antiviral compound. We
believe the most advanced of these compounds is-#BE; a protease inhibitor being developed by Ebpan affiliate of our collaborator
Janssen, and Medivir AB. In the first quarter o1 20Tibotec initiated the first Phase 3 clinicéltof TMC-435. We believe that these earlier-
stage drug candidates, if approved, would be lagthcleveral years after telaprevir. If any of thexssy candidates is approved as a treatment
for HCV infection, we expect that they would congetith telaprevir on the basis of the factors déscr above.

Future competition in the HCV treatment kedmmay result from the administration of combioas of new oral therapies, and we are
aware of a number of companies focusing on devetppdombinations of direct-acting antiviral composind/e are conducting a Phase 2a
clinical trial in which we plan to evaluate an afial combination of VX-222, our lead polymeraseiliior, with telaprevir and RBV, but
without peg-IFN. We are aware that many compaiediding Abbot Laboratories, Bristol-Myers SquiBbompany, Gilead Sciences, Inc.,
Intermune, Inc., Merck, Pharmasset, Inc., and Haffrha Roche, are seeking to develop combinatioimens to treat HCV infection,
including several combinations being evaluatedhiage 2 clinical trials.

CF

Several companies are engaged in the pafaeteveloping treatments for CF, including a nemiif antibiotics and anti-inflammatory
drug candidates and at least one drug candidatésttasigned to improve the function of the CFTBt@in. PTC Therapeutics, Inc. in
collaboration with Genzyme Corporation is evalugtitaluren in a Phase 3 clinical trial in patiemith CF. Ataluren is a drug candidate
designed to improve the production of CFTR proté@ingatients with nonsense genetic mutations thhtthe production of CFTR proteins
before the protein is fully formed.
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GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The research, development, testing, matwfacquality control, approval, labeling, packagistorage, record keeping, promotion,
advertising, distribution and marketing of the doagndidates that we are developing are subjecttemsive regulation by United States and
foreign governmental authorities. In particularaphaceutical products are subject to rigorous jmieel, nonclinical and clinical testing and
other approval requirements by the FDA in the UhB¢ates under the Federal Food, Drug and Coswetj@and by comparable agencies in
most foreign countries. In addition to prohibititige sale and distribution of pharmaceutical proslpetor to regulatory approval, the FDA and
comparable agencies in most foreign countries pibthie pre-approval promotion of investigationalgs. We have summarized the FDA
process below, but other countries may have difteapproval processes with which we or our collabans will need to comply if we seek to
conduct clinical trials or obtain marketing apprbwethose countries. In addition, even if we ulditaly intend to seek initial marketing apprc
in the United States, we may conduct early clinidals in other countries, for a variety of reasoand therefore the submission of our initial
investigational new drug, or IND, application iretbinited States might not occur until after onenore foreign-sited clinical trials have been
initiated.

FDA Approval Process

As an initial step in the FDA regulatoryiew process, toxicity studies in animals and oti@nrclinical studies typically are conducted to
help identify potential safety problems that migktassociated with administration of the drug cdaudi being tested. For certain diseases,
animal models exist that are believed to be pradiaif efficacy in humans. For such diseases, g dandidate typically is tested for efficacy
that animal model. The results of these initiahaadi safety and disease model studies are subnbitténd FDA as a part of the IND submission,
prior to commencement of human clinical trialshe tUnited States. For several of our drug candsgate appropriately predictive animal
model exists. As a result, movivo evidence of efficacy will be available until thadeig candidates progress to human clinical trialgariety
of nonclinical studies in a number of animal specad other nonclinical studies, ordinarily araducted while human clinical trials are
underway, to provide supplemental toxicology arfteoinformation. This information as well as theuks from the early clinical trials provit
a foundation for the design of broader and morgtlenhuman clinical trials.

Clinical trials typically are conductedthree sequential phases, although the phases nealapyvPhase 1 frequently begins with the in
introduction of the drug candidate into healthy laumnsubjects prior to introduction into patientseThiug candidate may then be tested in a
relatively small number of patients for preliminanjormation, dosage tolerance, absorption, metsimplexcretion, clinical pharmacology and,
if possible, for early information on efficacy. Blga2 typically involves trials in a small samplelod intended patient population to assess the
efficacy of the drug for a specific indication,determine dose tolerance and the optimal dose ramgjéo gather additional information relat
to safety and potential adverse effects. Phasal8 &re undertaken to further evaluate clinicéétyaand efficacy in an expanded patient
population at geographically dispersed trial sitegbtain information on the overall risk-beneéitio of the drug candidate and to provide an
adequate basis for proposed labeling. Each trizdfiglucted in accordance with standards set faréhgrotocol that details the design and
objectives of the trial, the parameters to be usedonitor safety and the efficacy criteria to valaated. For clinical trials in the United States,
each protocol must be submitted to the FDA to sempeht the original IND submission. Further, ea@hichl trial must be evaluated by an
independent Institutional Review Board, or IRB, ethevaluates clinical research at or for eachtirtitin at which the trial will be conducted.
The IRBs will consider, among other things, ethieakors and the safety of human subjects in tbpgsed trials.
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Data from nonclinical testing and all ctial trials, along with descriptions of the manutfiictg process, analytical tests, proposed labeling
and the proposed risk evaluation and mitigatioatsgies and other relevant information, are sulechitb the FDA as part of requesting
approval to market the drug in the NDA. The proagfssompleting nonclinical and clinical testing psuitting the NDA and obtaining FDA
approval for a new drug is likely to take a numbkyears and require the expenditure of substarggdurces. Preparing an NDA involves
extensive data collection, verification, analysisl &xpense, and there can be no assurance thawapef the drug candidate that is the subject
of a particular NDA will be granted on a timely gsf at all. The FDA reviews all NDAs to ensutat they are sufficiently complete for
substantive review before it accepts them fordiliihe approval process is affected by a numb&atbrs, including the severity of the
targeted disease, the availability of alternatireatments and the risks and benefits demonstratelihical trials. The FDA may deny an NDA
if applicable regulatory criteria are not satisf@mdmay require additional testing or informatidmong the conditions for marketing approve
the requirement that the prospective manufactugeigdity control and manufacturing procedures canfto the FDA's cGMP regulations,
which must be followed at all times. In complyingwstandards set forth in these regulations, mastufers must continue to expend time,
money and effort in the area of production anditpabntrol to ensure full compliance. Manufactyyifacilities, both foreign and domestic,
also are subject to inspections by the FDA andthgrdfederal, state, local agencies or foreign@ities. In addition, the company developing
a drug candidate typically must submit a plan sgttorth its risk evaluation and mitigation strateg

Under the FDA Modernization Act of 1997e thDA may grant "Fast Track" designation to fagiktthe development of a drug intended
for the treatment of a serious or life-threatentogdition if the drug demonstrates, among othergi the potential to address an unmet
medical need. The benefits of Fast Track designatiolude scheduled meetings with the FDA to reeéiyput on development plans, the
option of submitting an NDA in sections rather tlsatvmitting all sections simultaneously, and th&aopof requesting evaluation of trials
using surrogate endpoints. Fast Track designaties dot necessarily lead to a priority review areéerated approval of a drug candidate by
the FDA. Telaprevir and VX-770 have received Fasick designation by the FDA.

Timing to Approval

We estimate that it generally takes 108qg@ars, or possibly longer, to discover, develog laring to market a new pharmaceutical
product in the United States as outlined below:

Phase: Objective: Estimated Duration:
Discovery Lead identification and target validati 2 to 4 year:
Preclinical Initial toxicology for preliminary identificationfaisks for humans; gather early
pharmacokinetic data; submit IN 1to 2 year:
Phase : Initial evaluation of safety in humans; study hdw trug candidate works and is metaboli 1 to 2 year:
Phase 2 Gather data on the effectiveness of the drug cameliand its optimal dosage; continue safe!
evaluation 2 to 4 year:
Phase : Confirm efficacy, dosage regimen and safety praffléhe drug candidate; submit NC 2 to 4 year:
FDA approval Approval by the FDA to sell and market the drugtfee approved indicatic 6 months to 2 yeal

A drug candidate may fail to progress at jpoint during this process. Animal and other narichl studies typically are conducted during
each phase of human clinical trials.
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Patent Term Restoration

Pursuant to the Drug Price Competition Batent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred tthaindustry as the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments, some of our patents, under certainittonsg, may be eligible for limited patent term exsion for a period of up to five years as
compensation for patent term lost during drug dewelent and the FDA regulatory review process. Hawrethis extension period cannot go
beyond 14 years from the drug's approval date.pHbent term restoration period is generally onéthal period of time elapsed between the
effective date of an IND application and the sulsiois date of an NDA, plus the period of time betw#e submission date of the NDA and
FDA approval. The United States Patent and Trade®éice, in consultation with the FDA, reviews aagproves applications for any patent
term extension or restoration. We intend to seelb#imefits of this statute, but there can be norasse that we will be able to obtain any such
benefits.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may gi@mphan drug designation to drugs intended td &i¢aare disease or condition” that affects
fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United Sta@sgphan drug designation must be requested betdrmitting an NDA. Orphan drug
designation does not convey any advantage in,antesihthe duration of, the regulatory review angrapal process. If a drug that has an
orphan drug designation subsequently receivesrgtdeDA approval for the indication for which ik such designation, the product is entitled
to orphan exclusivity. The first developer to reeekFDA marketing approval for an orphan drug istlent to a seven year exclusive marketing
period in the United States for that drug. Howewaedrug that the FDA considers to be clinicallyesigr to, or different from, another approy
orphan drug, even though for the same indicatiamy aiso obtain approval in the United States dutliegseven-year exclusive marketing
period. In addition, holders of exclusivity for tign drugs are expected to assure the availabflgyfficient quantities of their orphan drugs to
meet the needs of patients. Failure to do so amddlt in the withdrawal of marketing exclusivityrfthe drug. VX-770 and VX-809 have been
granted orphan drug designation.

Legislation similar to the Orphan Drug Aets been enacted in countries and regions outséderiited States, including the European
Union. The Orphan drug statutes in the EuropeamtJare available for therapies addressing chroeliilithting or life-threatening conditions
that affect five or fewer out of 10,000 personshat are financially not viable to develop. The kedirexclusivity period for orphan drugs in the
European Union is ten years and may be extendedeloe years if the sponsor completes agreed-updrafric investigations. The exclusivity
period can be reduced to six years if the sporsonat justify maintenance of market exclusivitydzhsn available evidence regarding the
profitability of the drug.

Post-approval Studies

Even after FDA approval has been obtaifigther studies, including post-approval trials,yne@ required to provide additional data on
safety and will be required to gain approval far fale of a drug as a treatment for clinical intioces other than those for which the drug
initially was approved. Also, the FDA will requipmst-approval reporting to monitor the side-effexftthe drug. Results of post-approval
programs may limit or expand the indications foiiehhthe drug may be marketed. Further, if theresamerequests for modifications to the
initial FDA approval for the drug, including charggi@ indication, manufacturing process, labelingnanufacturing facilities, submission of a
supplemental NDA to the FDA may be required.
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Pricing and Reimbursement

Sales of drugs depend in significant parthee availability of reimbursement from third-papayors for the cost of the drug. Third-party
payors include government health administrativiaiities, managed care providers, private healbriers and other organizations. We
anticipate third-party payors will provide reimbemnsent for our drugs if we are successful in obtajmarketing approval. Governments may
regulate access to, prices of or reimbursementddgeour drugs to control costs or to affect llevef use of our drugs, and private insurers
be influenced by government reimbursement methgiedo In addition, third-party payors are incregbimraising challenges to proposed
pricing, and in some cases, examining the cost#éffness of drugs before agreeing to a rate oflvarsement. The process of seeking
reimbursement from third-party payors is time-caonsg and expensive.

We expect to participate in the Medicaiblate program. Under the Medicaid rebate programyadd pay a quarterly rebate for all drug
sales that are reimbursed by Medicaid. The amdiuthisorebate is set by law as a minimum 23.1% efaberage manufacturer price, or AMP,
for the drug, or if it is greater, the differencetlveen AMP and the best price available from wEtpnon-government customer. The rebate
amount also includes an inflation adjustment if AMEreases greater than inflation.

Part D of the Medicare Prescription Drugptovement and Modernization Act of 2003, or MedicRart D, provides coverage to enrolled
Medicare patients for self-administered drugs saghills, tablets and creams, that do not neee fajbcted or infused by a physician.
However, Medicare Part D is administered by priyagscription drug plans approved by the UnitedeStgovernment and each drug plan
establishes its own Medicare Part D formulary fiasgription drug coverage and pricing, which thegdslan may modify from time-to-time.
Some vendors solicit discounted pricing from mantufeers and commonly condition formulary placemmmthe availability of manufacturer
discounts. We may need to provide such discourggéhange for advantageous positioning for teldpriéapproved, on formularies of
nation-wide prescription drug plans participatinghe Medicare Part D program as well as many @fdige regional plans. The United States
Congress could significantly change the Medicam Parogram in the future, including requiring tleeleral government to negotiate
discounts for our drugs or matching mandatory dist®to those required in other federal programs.

Participation in the Medicaid rebate pragnaill require us to extend comparable discountdenrthe Public Health Service, or PHS,
pharmaceutical pricing program. The PHS pricinggpaon extends discounts to community health clinitg other entities that receive health
services grants from the PHS, as well as the maaspitals that serve a disproportionate share ahfifally needy patients. We also are reqt
to offer discounted pricing to federal agenciesthi@Federal Supply Schedule, or FSS. FSS prisimggotiated periodically with the
Department of Veterans Affairs. Although FSS pricis negotiated, it is intended to be no more thanprice that we charge our most-favored
non-federal customer for the drug. The minimum alistt is set by statute at approximately 24%.

We expect that there may continue to barabrer of federal and state proposals to implemewneigimental pricing controls and limit the
growth of healthcare costs, including the costrekpription drugs. For example, the Patient Prateand Affordable Care Act, as amendec
the Health Care and Education Affordability Rectiatibn Act, collectively referred to as the PPAGAas enacted in 2010. The PPACA is
expected to significantly affect the pharmaceuticdustry. In addition, the PPACA imposes an anfie@) which will increase annually, on
sales by branded pharmaceutical manufacturersngtamnt2011. The financial impact of these discauiricreased rebates and fees and the
provisions of the PPACA on our business is unclear.
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Reimbursement Outside of the United St

Outside the United States drugs are paithfa variety of payors, with governments being phimary source of payment. In many
countries the government closely regulates drugmiand reimbursement and often has significasttrdiion in determining whether a prod
will be reimbursed at all and, if it is, how muclilliee paid. Negotiating prices with governmentatterities can delay patient access to and
commercialization of drugs. Payors in many cousttise a variety of cost-containment measures #minclude referencing prices in other
countries and using those reference prices tds@tdwn price, mandatory price cuts and rebathis ifiternational patchwork of price
regulation has led to different prices across adesiand could lead to cross-border trade from etarWith lower prices.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the Unitedt®s, we and our collaborators are and will beesuilip a variety of foreign regulations governing
clinical trials and commercial sales and distribatof drugs. We are responsible for seeking appfovaelaprevir in countries in North
America and have submitted our application for tetguy approval in Canada. Under our telaprevitatmration agreements, Janssen and
Mitsubishi Tanabe are responsible for seeking egtguy approval and compliance with foreign regolasi in their respective territories.
Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a drygpr@val of a drug candidate by the comparable etgay} authorities of foreign countries
must be obtained before we or our collaboratorscoammence clinical trials or marketing of the dmghose countries. The approval process
varies from country to country and the time maydreyer or shorter than that required for FDA appto¥he requirements governing the
conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, prig and reimbursement vary greatly from countrgaantry.

Under European Union regulatory systemsketang authorization applications may be submitéter under a centralized or
decentralized procedure. The centralized proceduigh is compulsory for medicines produced byaiarbiotechnological processes and
optional for those that are highly innovative, gdms for the grant of a single marketing authormathat is valid for all European Union
member states. For drugs without approval in anpjean Union member state, the decentralized ptwegutovides for assessment of a
marketing application by one member state, knowth@seference member state, and review and pesslgroval of that assessment by or
more other, or concerned, member states. Undeptbedure, an applicant submits an applicatioossier, and related materials—draft
summary of product characteristics, draft labeling package leaflet—to the reference member state@cerned member states. The
reference member state prepares a draft assesamedtafts of the related materials within 120 dafysr receipt of a valid application. Within
90 days of receiving the reference member stassssament report, each concerned member statelenidé whether to approve the
assessment report and related materials. If a mestédte cannot approve the assessment report Eteld-enaterials on the grounds of potential
serious risk to public health, the disputed pomts/ eventually be referred to the European Commonissvhose decision is binding on all
member states of the European Union.

Other Regulations

Pharmaceutical companies also are sulgearious federal and state laws pertaining tothezdre "fraud and abuse," including anti-
kickback laws and false claims laws. Akitkback laws make it illegal for any entity or pen to solicit, offer, receive or pay any remuniera
in exchange for or to induce the referral of businéncluding the purchase or prescription of di@aear drug. False claims laws prohibit
anyone from presenting or causing to be presetdetijrd-party payors, including Medicare and Meiiit; claims for payment for drugs or
services that are false or fraudulent, claimstims or services not provided as claimed or cldansedically unnecessary items or services.
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Actual knowledge of federal anti-kickback and criati healthcare fraud laws or specific intent tdatie those laws is not required.

In recent years, several states also haaeted legislation requiring pharmaceutical comgsitd establish marketing compliance progi
with respect to interactions with health care pdevs and/or make reports to a designated statengemtherwise publicly disclose
information related to, among other things, trarssté value to health care providers. Many of threespiirements are new and uncertain, and
the penalties for failure to comply are unclear.

In addition to the statutes and regulatidescribed above, we also are subject to regulatioier the Occupational Safety and Health Act,
the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic SubstnControl Act, the Resource Conservation and RegdAct and other federal, state, lo
and foreign statutes and regulations, now or hegeaf effect.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2010, we had 1,691 eyags. The number of our employees increased bydi8#g 2010, from 1,432 on
December 31, 2009. We are likely to further inceeasr headcount in 2011. Of these employees, ajpppadely 1,550 were based in the United
States, 100 were based in Europe and 40 were bagkhada. Our scientific staff members have difietsexperience and expertise in
molecular and cell biology, biochemistry, synthetiganic chemistry, protein X-ray crystallograppyotein nuclear magnetic resonance
spectroscopy, microbiology, computational chemjdbigphysical chemistry, medicinal chemistry, a@li pharmacology and clinical medicine.
Our clinical development personnel have extensimegise in designing and executing clinical trj@sd we are continuing to build our
commercialization organization. Employees in ounotercial organization have extensive experiensiliing and marketing pharmaceutical
products as well as seeking reimbursement frommowent and thirgsarty payors for pharmaceutical products. Our egg#s are not covert
by a collective bargaining agreement, and we cemgidr relations with our employees to be good.

OTHER MATTERS
Information Available on the Internet

Our internet addressvisvw.vrtx.com Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly repori Form 10-Q, current reports on Forri,8and
all amendments to those reports, are availabletofiee of charge through the "Finances/Investf-BEC Filings" section of our website as
soon as reasonably practicable after those matdréale been electronically filed with, or furnishedthe Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Corporate Information

Vertex was incorporated in Massachuseti®B0, and our principal executive offices are tedaat 130 Waverly Street, Cambridge,
Massachusetts 02139. We have research sites ldoaeoh Diego, California; Coralville, lowa; Monéde Canada and Milton Park, U.K. We
also have an office in Washington, D.C.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The names, ages and positions held by xaoutive officers and directors are as follows:

Name Age Position

Matthew W. Emmen 58 Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board ¢
Presiden

Peter Mueller, Ph.D. 54 Executive Vice President, Global Research and
Development, and Chief Scientific Offic

lan F. Smith, C.P.A., A.C.A 45 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Nancy J. Wysens} 53 Executive Vice President and Chief Commercial @ff

Kenneth S. Boger, M.B.A., J.C 64 Senior Vice President and General Coul

Lisa Kelly-Croswell 44 Senior Vice President, Human Resour

Amit K. Sachdev, J.D. 43 Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs and Public
Policy, and Commercial Business Lead, Car

Christiana Stamoulis, M.B.A. 4C Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy and Bgsin
Developmen

Paul M. Silva 44 Vice President and Corporate Contro

Joshua S. Boger, Ph.I 59 Director

Stuart J.M. Collinson, Ph.C 51 Director

Eugene H. Cordes, Ph.L 74 Director

Jeffrey M. Leiden, M.D., Ph.D 55 Lead Independent Direct

Wayne J. Riley, M.D., M.B.A. 51 Director

Bruce I. Sach 51 Director

Elaine S. Ulliar 63 Director

Dennis L. Winge! 63 Director

Mr. Emmens has been our Chairman, Chietttkee Officer and President since May 2009. Helteen a member of our Board of
Directors since 2004 and became our Presidenthnugey 2009. Mr. Emmens is the Chairman of the BadiDirectors of Shire plc, a
specialty biopharmaceutical company, and has beeenaber of Shire's board since March 2003. Fronchl2003 to June 2008, Mr. Emmens
was also the Chief Executive Officer of Shire efore joining Shire in 2003, Mr. Emmens servedPessident of Merck KGaA's global
prescription pharmaceuticals business in Darms@eltmany. In 1999, he joined Merck KGaA and esséigid EMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., its
United States prescription pharmaceutical busifdssEmmens held the position of President and {Ihiecutive Officer at EMD
Pharmaceuticals from 1999 to 2001. Prior to this, Binmens held various positions, including Chiré&utive Officer, at Astra Merck, Inc.
well as several positions at Merck & Co., Inc. Mmmens was a member of the Board of Directors oftsnCorporation from 2006 through
February 2009. Mr. Emmens received a B.S. degréesiness management from Farleigh Dickinson Usitser

Dr. Mueller is our Executive Vice Preside@tobal Research and Development, a position kéhbhll since May 2009, and has been our
Chief Scientific Officer since July 2003. Dr. Musllwas our Executive Vice President, Drug Innovatiad Realization, from February 200t
May 2009, and our Senior Vice President, Drug Discg and Innovation, from July 2003 to February@@®rior to joining us, Dr. Mueller
was the Senior Vice President, Research and Dewelop of Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Wwith responsibility for the
development of all drug candidates in the
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company's portfolio in North America. He led resdaprograms in the areas of immunology, inflammatardiovascular disease and gene
therapy on a global basis. During his time with Bareger Ingelheim, Dr. Mueller oversaw the discgvef numerous development candidates
and held several positions in basic research, rnmadichemistry and management. Dr. Mueller receivetth an undergraduate degree and a
Ph.D. in chemistry at the Albert Einstein Univeysif Ulm, Germany, where he also holds a Professoiia Theoretic Organic Chemistry. He
completed fellowships in quantum pharmacology aio@kUniversity and in biophysics at Rochester lémsity.

Mr. Smith is our Executive Vice Presidentla&Chief Financial Officer, a position he has hgittte February 2006. From November 2003
to February 2006, he was our Senior Vice PresidedtChief Financial Officer, and from October 280 November 2003, he served as our
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Priofjdining us, Mr. Smith served as a partner inltlie Science and Technology Practice Gr
of Ernst & Young LLP, an accounting firm, from 19892001. Mr. Smith initially joined Ernst & YourgU.K. firm in 1987, and then joined
its Boston office in 1995. Mr. Smith currently isreember of the Boards of Directors of Acorda Thetdjes, Inc., Infinity
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and TolerRx Inc. Mr. Smitkde@ B.A. in accounting and finance from Manchebtetropolitan University, U.K., is a
member of the American Institute of Certified Paliccountants and is a Chartered Accountant of &rbhnd Wales.

Ms. Wysenski is our Executive Vice Prestdamd Chief Commercial Officer, a position she hakl since December 2009. Prior to joir
us, Ms. Wysenski held the position of Chief OpergqDfficer of Endo Pharmaceuticals, a 1,200-pesgm@tialty pharmaceutical company,
where she led sales, marketing, commercial operstsupply chain management, human resources aiodigdusiness development
initiatives. Prior to her role at Endo, Ms. Wyseins&rticipated in the establishment of EMD Pharmdicals, Inc., where she held various
leadership positions, including the role of Prestdend Chief Executive Officer from 2001 to 200l afice President of Commercial from
1999 to 2001. From 1984 to 1998, Ms. Wysenski keleeral sales-focused roles at major pharmacegticapanies, including Vice President
of Field Sales for Astra Merck, Inc. Ms. Wysenskinges on the North Carolina Central University Rbaf Trustees and as a director for Reata
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a privately held compan iSta founder of the Research Triangle Park chatdne Healthcare Business Women's
Association. Ms. Wysenski holds a B.S. from Kerat&tniversity and an Executive M.B.A. from BaldWifallace College.

Mr. Kenneth Boger is our Senior Vice Presidand General Counsel, a position he has hete giining us in 2001. He came to us from
the law firm of Kirkpatrick & Lockhart LLP, now krvan as K&L Gates, where he was a partner speciglizirbusiness and corporate law and
was a member of the firm's Management Committéer Ry the merger of Kirkpatrick & Lockhart withehBoston law firm of Warner &
Stackpole LLP in 1999, Mr. Boger was a partner arieér & Stackpole, where he served on its Execi@imemittee from 1988 to 1997.

Mr. Boger holds an A.B. in history from Duke Unigéy, an M.B.A. from the Graduate School of Busgatsthe University of Chicago, and a
J.D. from Boston College Law School. Mr. Bogertie brother of Dr. Joshua Boger, one of our director

Ms. Kelly-Croswell is our Senior Vice Présint, Human Resources, a position she has held dutg 2007. Ms. Kelly-Croswell served as
our Vice President, Human Resources from July 2668.1gh June 2007. From November 2005 through 2008, Ms. Kelly-Croswell served
as Vice President of Human Resources of NitroMed,, la pharmaceutical company. From February 200dovember 2005, Ms. Kelly-
Croswell served as Senior Vice President, Humamess, for the Health Care Division and Servicem@pons, of CIGNA, an employee
benefits company. From September 2001 to Februady,2Vs. Kelly-Croswell served as Vice Presidentiaman Resources for Global
Research and Development for the Monsanto Compamggricultural products and solutions company shatjoined in 1998. Ms. Kelly-
Croswell holds a B.S. in Finance and an M.A. indaénd Industrial Relations from the Universityllificis at Urbana-Champaign.
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Mr. Sachdev is our Senior Vice Presidemt;pOrate Affairs and Public Policy, and Commer&akiness Lead, Canada. As a Senior Vice
President, he has led our government affairs, pyddlicy and patient advocacy functions since lieejd us in July 2007. In October 2010, he
took on the added role of building and managing@amadian business operations. Mr. Sachdev ses/Edecutive Vice President, Health of
the Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO) frékpril 2005 through June 2007. At BIO, he was thei@eexecutive responsible for
managing BlO's Health Section and its GoverningrBoand for directing all health care policy anéextion. Mr. Sachdev was the Deputy
Commissioner for Policy at the FDA from April 206%ough April 2005, and held several other sen@sifons within the FDA from
September 2002 through April 2004. From 1998 toZ0r. Sachdev served as Majority Counsel to then@dtee on Energy and Commerce
in the United States House of Representatives, evMhemwvas responsible for bioterrorism, food sadety environmental issues. From 1993 to
1997, Mr. Sachdev practiced law, first at the ClemihManufacturers Association, and then with thve fiam of Ropes & Gray. Mr. Sachdev
holds a B.S from Carnegie Mellon University, andl@. from Emory University School of Law.

Ms. Stamoulis is our Senior Vice Presid@drporate Strategy and Business Development, iigroshe has held since October 2009.
became a member of our executive team in OctoblEd.Z8rior to joining us, she was a Managing DireaidCitigroup's Healthcare Banking
Group from April 2006 to February 2009. From 200®pril 2006, Ms. Stamoulis was an investment barkeéhe Healthcare Investment
Banking Group of Goldman, Sachs & Co., where she avdlice President from January 2002 through A@6. Ms. Stamoulis started her
career as a strategy consultant at The Boston @owgsGroup. Ms. Stamoulis holds a B.S. in Econ@raad a B.S. in Architecture from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology and an M.B@mn the MIT Sloan School of Management.

Mr. Silva is our Vice President and Corger@ontroller, a position he has held since Sep&rB008. Mr. Silva joined us in August 2007
as Senior Director, Accounting Operations. Prigjoining us, he was the Vice President, Interngddréng at Iron Mountain Incorporated fre
July 2006 until August 2007 and a consultant ta Ikountain's financing department from April 200&iLUJuly 2006. He was the Finance
Director of the Bioscience Technologies DivisionTdfermo Electron Corporation from 2002 to April 300/r. Silva holds a B.S. in account
from Assumption College.

Dr. Joshua Boger is the founder of Verted has been a director since our inception in 1B&9was our Chief Executive Officer from
1992 through May 2009. He was our Chairman of tbarB from 1997 until May 2006 and our Presidentrfimur inception until December
2000, and from 2005 through February 2009. He wasChief Scientific Officer from 1989 until May 129Prior to founding Vertex in 1989,
Dr. Boger held the position of Senior Director agfdic Chemistry at Merck Sharp & Dohme Research tatbdes in Rahway, New Jersey,
where he headed both the Department of Medicinah@s$try of Immunology & Inflammation and the Depaent of Biophysical Chemistry.
Dr. Boger holds a B.A. in chemistry and philosofitgm Wesleyan University and M.S. and Ph.D. degmreehemistry from Harvard
University. Dr. Boger is the brother of Mr. Kennd&bger, our Senior Vice President and General Gauns

Dr. Collinson has been a member of our BadiDirectors since July 2001. He currently seres Partner at Forward Ventures, a vel
capital firm. Prior to our acquisition of Auroradsiciences Corporation in 2001, Dr. Collinson semethe President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board of Aurora. Dr. Collindwid senior management positions with Glaxo Welledrom December 1994 to June
1998, most recently serving as Co-Chairman, Holspitd Critical Care Therapy Management Team anddbar of Hospital and Critical Care.
Dr. Collinson received his Ph.D. in physical cheamgidrom the University of Oxford, England and IMsB.A. from Harvard University.

Dr. Cordes has been a member of our BoEdrectors since 2005, and a scientific advisousosince 1996. Dr. Cordes was the Chair
of Vitae Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a position he Hiech
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January 2002 to March 2006. Prior to joining ViRtearmaceuticals, Dr. Cordes was a professor ofypdmar at the University of Michigan.
Dr. Cordes received a B.S. degree in chemistry fiteenCalifornia Institute of Technology and a Phirbbiochemistry from Brandeis
University.

Dr. Leiden has been a member of our Bo&mirectors since July 2009 and was appointed ead independent director in October 2010.
He has more than 20 years of experience in thedsgal and pharmaceutical sectors. Dr. Leiden wasiéent and Chief Operating Officer of
Abbott Laboratories, Pharmaceuticals Products Grang a member of the Board of Directors of Abhatboratories from 2001 to 2006. Fr¢
1987 to 2000, Dr. Leiden held several academic iappents, including the Rawson Professor of Medi@nd Pathology and Chief of
Cardiology and Director of the Cardiovascular Resednstitute at the University of Chicago, the &ikR. Blout Professor of Biological
Sciences at the Harvard School of Public Healtt,Riofessor of Medicine at Harvard Medical Schbfd.is an elected member of both the
American Academy of Arts and Sciences, and thetintstof Medicine of the National Academy of ScieacDr. Leiden is currently a
Managing Director at Clarus Ventures, a life sceneenture capital firm he joined in 2006. Dr. lezids also currently a director and the non-
executive Vice Chairman of the board of Shire ploj a director of several private biotechnology panies. Dr. Leiden was a member of the
Board of Directors of Millennium Pharmaceuticals;.|from October 2007 until it was acquired in J2088. Dr. Leiden received both his
M.D. and Ph.D. degrees from the University of Chiza

Dr. Riley has been a member of our BoarBioéctors since July 2010. Dr. Riley is Presidamtl Chief Executive Officer of Meharry
Medical College, a position he has held since Jgn2@07. In addition, he holds the academic ranRmfessor of Internal Medicine at both
Meharry and Vanderbilt University Schools of Mediei From May 2004 to December 2006, Dr. Riley s#a®&a corporate officer and
member of the executive management team as Vicgderd and Vice Dean for Health Affairs and Goveental Relations and Associate
Professor of Medicine at Baylor College of Medigiaad Assistant Chief of Medicine at Ben Taub Gehidospital, Baylor's primary adult
public hospital teaching affiliate. He served asisimnt Dean for Education at Baylor College of Mgk from 2000 to 2004. Dr. Riley is a
member of the Board of Directors of Pinnacle Finaneartners, Inc., a financial services holdirrgifiwhere he serves on the Audit and
Corporate Governance and Nominating CommitteesRidey earned a B.A. from Yale University, an M.Pikl health systems management
from the Tulane University School of Public Headttd Tropical Medicine, an M.D. from the Morehoush&l of Medicine and an M.B.A.
from the Jones Graduate School of Business, Rideelkity.

Mr. Sachs has been a member of our BoaRirettors since 1998. He is a General Partneharl€s River Ventures, a venture capital
firm he joined in 1999. From 1998 to 1999, he sdrag Executive Vice President and General Managis@end Communications, Inc. From
1997 until 1998, Mr. Sachs served as PresidenCdmef Executive Officer of Stratus Computer, Incofa 1995 to 1997, he served as
Executive Vice President and General Manager ofrite¥net Telecom Business Group at Bay Networks, From 1993 to 1995, he served as
President and Chief Executive Officer at Xylogiles;. Mr. Sachs was a director of BigBand Netwotks, from 2005 through June 2009.

Mr. Sachs holds a B.S.E.E. in electrical engineggfiom Bucknell University, an M.E.E. in electricahgineering from Cornell University, and
an M.B.A. from Northeastern University.

Ms. Ullian has been a member of our BodrDicectors since 1997. From 1996 through Janu@®02 she served as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Boston Medical Center, a ptejanot-for-profit, 626-bed, academic medical cemtth a community-based focus. From
1994 to 1996, she served as President and Chieluixe Officer of Boston University Medical Centdospital. From 1987 to 1994,

Ms. Ullian served as President and Chief Execufiffecer of Faulkner Hospital. She also serves dsector of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.
and Hologic, Inc. In addition, Ms. Ullian was a nimen of the Board of Directors of Valeant Pharmaicailg, Inc. during 2005 through 2007.
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Ms. Ullian holds a B.A. in political science fronuffs University and an M.P.H. from the UniversityMichigan.

Mr. Winger has been a member of our Bodidirectors since July 2009. Mr. Winger has overygars of experience as a financial
executive, the majority of which has focused onlifieesciences industry. He retired in 2008 fromphgra Corporation, a life sciences compi
where he had been Senior Vice President and ChiahEial Officer since 1997. He was previously $eMice President of Finance and
Administration, and Chief Financial Officer at Givir Corporation. Before joining Chiron, Mr. Wingegltl various financial executive
positions, including Chief Financial Officer of T»oper Companies, Inc. Mr. Winger is currentlyiractor of the following public
companies: Accuray Incorporated; Cephalon Inc.;dekitar Therapeutics. In addition, Mr. Winger was@mber of the Board of Directors of
A.P. Pharma, Inc. during 2005 and 2006 and a mewitthe Board of Directors of Cell Genesys, Indtilits merger with BioSante
Pharmaceuticals in October 2009. He holds an M.Bgdn Columbia University Graduate School of Bussand he earned his undergraduate
degree from Siena College.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk, and you should carefully consider theksiand uncertainties described
below in addition to the other information includedincorporated by reference in this Annual RepmrtForm 10-K. If any of the following
risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our busmefnancial condition or results of operations vablikely suffer, possibly materially. In that
case, the trading price of our common stock coelclide.

Risks Related to Our Business

We depend heavily on the success in the Unitede3talf our lead drug candidate, telaprevir, whichdaot yet been approved by the FDA
we experience material delays in obtaining or areable to obtain marketing approval for telapreviuobusiness will be materially harmed.

We believe that a significant portion o tvalue attributed to our company by investorsaselol on the commercial potential of telaprevir,
which has not yet been approved by the FDA. The a# substantial discretion in deciding whethenairtelaprevir should be granted
approval based on the benefits and risks of tel@pbased therapies in the treatment of genotypkCY infection. In November 2010, we
submitted our NDA for telaprevir to the FDA. In deany 2011, we were granted priority review desigmafor the telaprevir NDA from the
FDA. Although the FDA's goal is to complete itsiev of NDA submissions granted priority review dgsition in the six-month period
following the initial submission of the NDA, or byay 23, 2011 in the case of the telaprevir, the ABAot under any legal obligation to
complete its review within this timeframe. The giag of priority review designation for our NDA de@ot ensure that our NDA for telaprevir
will be approved.

Obtaining approval to market telapreviaitimely manner will depend on many factors, inolgahe following:

. whether or not the FDA determines that the evidgyathered in weltontrolled clinical trials, other clinical trialsid nonclinica
studies of telaprevir demonstrates that telapie\dafe and effective as a treatment for genotyd€Y infection;

. whether or not the FDA is satisfied that the maotufang facilities, processes and controls forgedair are adequate, that t
labeling is satisfactory and that plans for postkeating studies, safety monitoring and risk evatraand mitigation are
sufficient; and

. the timing and nature of the FDA's comments andgtmes regarding the NDA for telaprevir, the scHedpand
recommendations of any advisory committee meetingphsider telaprevir, the time required to respinthe FDA's comments
and questions and to obtain the final labelingétaprevir and any other delays that may be astatisith the NDA review
process.

If we experience material delays in obtainmarketing approval for telaprevir in the Unigtdtes, we will not receive product revenues
during the delay and may be at a competitive digathge if Merck's potentially competitive HCV pra¢e inhibitor boceprevir is approved
significantly before telaprevir. Any such delay magterially harm our product revenues and cashdldfwve do not obtain approval to mar
telaprevir in the United States, our business glimaterially harmed.

In order to execute our business plan and achieveffiability, we need to effectively commercialigegaprevir.

We can not be sure that telaprevir wilcoenmercially successful in the pharmaceutical magken if we and Janssen gain marketing
approval for telaprevir in a timely manner. In attdi to the other challenges related to a compauagdhing its first commercial drug, we may
face competition from Merck & Co., Inc., which isweeloping boceprevir, a potentially competitive Hgktease inhibitor. In January 2011,
Merck announced that it had received priority revgesignation from the
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FDA for its NDA for boceprevir. As a result, we eqt that boceprevir will be reviewed by the FDAawery similar timeline to telaprevir and
may be approved prior to telaprevir.

We expect that the initial commercial swscef telaprevir will depend on many factors, inldhg the following:

. the efficacy, cost, breadth of approved use, sfteeeprofile and cost of co-therapies of telaprenhased treatment regimens
relative to competitive treatment regimens, inahgdboceprevir-based treatment regimens if bocepigapproved,;

. the relative timing of marketing approvals from #@A and comparable foreign regulatory authorif@stelaprevir anc
boceprevir;
. the effectiveness of our commercial strategy ferldunch and marketing of telaprevir, including ptcing strategy and the

effectiveness of our efforts to obtain adequateltparty reimbursements;

. the number of patients with genotype 1 HCV infegtimcluding treatment-naive patients and patiemts did not achieve an
SVR with prior treatment, who seek treatment;

. maintaining and successfully monitoring commermiahufacturing arrangements for telaprevir withd-party manufacturers:
ensure they meet our standards and those of regukanthorities, including the FDA, which extendjveegulate and monitor
pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities;

. our ability to meet the demand for commercial siggpbf telaprevir

. our ability to increase awareness of the benefitady treatment of HCV infection and to incredise rates of diagnosis ai
subsequent treatment of currently undiagnosedmgatigith genotype 1 HCV infection;

. the acceptance of telaprevir by patients, the na¢dimmmunity and thir-party payors; an

. the effect of new health care legislation currebiyng implemented in the United Stat

While we believe that telaprevir will hasesommercially competitive profile, we cannot aetaly predict the amount of revenue that will
be generated if telaprevir receives regulatory aygir If we do not effectively commercialize telapir, we will not be able to execute our
business plan and may not be able to achieve abdfty. If our revenues, market share and/or othdicators of market acceptance of
telaprevir do not meet the expectations of investorpublic market analysts, the market price afammmon stock would likely decline.

Even if we or our collaborators gain regulatory appval for any of our drug candidates, if our recdgtestablished sales and marketil
capabilities or our third-party relationships foie commercialization of our drug candidates are reftective, our drug candidates may not
be successfully commercialized.

We have no experience as a company in riagkdrugs or with respect to pricing and obtainaupquate third-party reimbursement for
drugs. In 2010, we significantly expanded our comuia¢ organization in the United States in ordeptepare to market telaprevir and are
establishing a commercial organization in Canade.nake entered into collaborations that providecollaborators the right to market
telaprevir outside of North America. We will ne@dexpand our capabilities and/or enter into addél@rrangements with third parties to sell
and market our other drug candidates if they apeayed for sale. To the extent that our collabamat@ve commercial rights to our drugs, any
revenues we receive from sales of any approvedsdrulpcations where our collaborators have righitsdepend primarily on the sales and
marketing efforts of these collaborators, whichdeenot control and may not be able to effectivaluience. If our recently established sales
and marketing
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capabilities or our third-party relationships fbetcommercialization of our drug candidates areeffective, our business could be materially
harmed.

We are investing significant resources in our despient program for VX-770, based primarily on déeftam a relatively small clinical trial
in which patients received VX-770 over a short dtica. If we are unable to show the safety and efiy of VX-770, or experience delays in
doing so, our business could be materially harmed.

We have increased the resources that wienaesting in the development of VX-770 and aredraning a registration program for VK20
focused on patients with CF who have the G551D timtaWe initiated this registration program bageitharily on data from a Phase 2a
clinical trial of VX-770 in 39 patients with CF, imhich patients received VX-770 over 14-day anddag-periods. This is a relatively small
number of patients from which to project the finatcomes of a drug development program. In ordeed¢eive approval for VX-770, we will
need to show that VX-770 is safe and effective iarger number of patients than were involved m®hase 2a clinical trial, over significantly
longer dosing periods. In addition, our registnagwogram for VX-770 includes pediatric patient plgpions in which VX-770 has not
previously been studied. Since a substantial ppdiche CF population is under age 18, VX-770®ptial commercial success will be
dependent not only on marketing approval for agattents, but also on approval for pediatric pasieti we are unable to show the safety and
efficacy of VX-770 in the relevant patient popudets, or experience delays in doing so, our busioeskl be materially harmed.

We expect to incur future losses, and we may néwezome profitable.

We have incurred significant operating é&sseach year since our inception, including netde®f $754.6 million, $642.2 million and
$459.9 million during the years ended Decembe2810, 2009 and 2008, respectively. We expect tdimoa to incur operating losses at least
until we are able to obtain approval in the UniBtdtes for telaprevir and begin generating prodexgnues, because we are continuing to
invest significant amounts in telaprevir and VX-7#0clinical development of our earlier-stage doagndidates and in research activities. As a
result, we believe it is likely that our expenseal @xceed our revenues at least until we begieiréeg substantial product revenues. There can
be no assurance that any of our drug candidatébevdpproved or, if approved, will be commercialyccessful. There also can be no
assurance that we will begin generating earningsasshflow positive company during 2012. Our nesés have had and will continue to have
an adverse effect on, among other things, our btdkrs' equity, total assets and working capVtéd. expect that our results of operations will
fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to yaad that such fluctuations may be substantialc#/enot provide assurance that we will ever
become profitable.

If any of our drug candidates receive regulatory @pval, the approved drug will be subject to onggiregulatory review. If we or ou
collaborators fail to comply with continuing Unite@tates and applicable foreign regulations, any apged drug could lose its approval or
sales could be suspended, and our business woulsebi@usly harmed

If we or our collaborators receive regutsttapproval for any of our drug candidates in depeient including telaprevir and VX-770, we
and our collaborators will be subject to continuregulatory review, including the review of clinicasults reported after approval. Drugs are
more widely used by patients once approval has bb&ined and therefore siééfects and other problems may be observed affgospl tha:
were not seen or anticipated during pre-approvalcell trials or nonclinical studies. In additiahge manufacturers and the manufacturing
facilities we engage to make any of our approvedyslialso will be subject to periodic review angigion by the FDA and applicable foreign
regulatory authorities. The subsequent discoveyrefiously unknown problems with the drug, a mactidrer or manufacturing facility may
result in restrictions on the drug, a
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manufacturer or manufacturing facility, includingthdrawal of the drug from the market, inabilityuse the facility to make our drug or a
determination that drug inventories are not safefonmercial sale. If we or our collaborators faicomply with applicable continuing
regulatory requirements, we or our collaboratory & subject to fines, suspension or withdrawakgfilatory approval, product recalls and
seizures, operating restrictions and/or criminakpcutions.

Our drug candidates remain subject to clinical tesy and regulatory approval. If we are unable to stessfully develop and test our drug
candidates, we will not be successful.

The success of our business depends phmgrdn successful development and commercialinadfoour drug candidates. Our drug
candidates are in various stages of developmentrausd satisfy rigorous standards of safety anda&dfi before they can be approved by the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authoritiesdale. To satisfy these standards, we must aflaesources among our various
development programs and must engage in expensiVieagthy testing of our drug candidates. Theseadiery and development efforts for
new pharmaceutical products, including follow-omgounds and/or new combination therapies, are resedntensive and may take 10 to
15 years or longer for each drug candidate. Despitesfforts, our drug candidates may not:

. offer therapeutic or other improvement over exgtompetitive drugs

. be proven safe and effective in clinical trials;

. meet applicable regulatory standards;

. be capable of being produced in commercial quastii acceptable costs;

. if approved for commercial sale, be successfullyketeed as pharmaceutical products.

In addition to our registration program ¥6X-770, we have ongoing Phase 2a clinical trialse number of our earlier-stage drug
candidates, including a clinical trial of telapméViX-222-based treatment regimens in patients wéhotype 1 HCV infection, a clinical trial of
VX-809 in combination with VX-770 in patients withe most common CF mutation, a clinical trial of 38R9 in patients with moderate-to-
severe rheumatoid arthritis and a clinical triaM-765 in patients with epilepsy. While we are Yiadependent on obtaining approval for
telaprevir and the success of our registration yanogfor VX-770, the strength of our company's gipeelof drug candidates, including drug
candidates that could potentially be complementatglaprevir and/or VX-770, will depend in largarpupon the outcomes of these ongoing
Phase 2a clinical trials. Findings, including tmtagy findings, in nonclinical studies conductechcorrently with clinical trials as well as
results of our clinical trials could lead to abrgpanges in our development activities, includimg possible cessation of development activities
associated with a particular drug candidate or anog Furthermore, results from our clinical triiay not meet the level of statistical
significance required by the FDA or other regulptauthorities for approval of a drug candidate.

We and many other companies in the pharateet and biotechnology industries have suffeligdiicant setbacks in later-stage clinical
trials even after achieving promising results irlieastage clinical trials. Accordingly, the resifrom the completed preclinical studies and
clinical trials may not be replicated in later atial trials, and ongoing clinical trials for ourudy candidates may not be predictive of the results
we may obtain in later-stage trials or of the likebd of approval of a drug candidate for commersade. In addition, from time to time we
report interim data from our clinical trials, inding, with respect to our HCV drug candidates, dagmrding patients' HCV RNA levels during
treatment, at the completion of treatment or 12ksedter completion of treatment. Interim datasubject to change, and there can be no
assurances that interim data will be confirmed ughenanalysis of final data.
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If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval, wéll be unable to commercialize our drug candidat:

Our drug candidates are subject to extengdwernmental regulations relating to their depelent, clinical evaluation, manufacturing and
commercialization. Rigorous nonclinical testing afidical trials and an extensive regulatory appigwocess are required in the United States
and in most other countries prior to the commersdde of drug candidates. Satisfaction of theseoéimel regulatory requirements is costly,
time-consuming, uncertain and subject to unanticipatdayd. It is possible that none of the drug cantdglave are developing will be appro
for marketing.

We have limited experience in conductind aranaging the late-stage clinical trials and NDAcess necessary to obtain regulatory
approvals, including approval by the FDA. The tirequired to complete clinical trials and to satigfg FDA and other countries' regulatory
review processes is uncertain and typically takasynyears. Our analysis of data obtained from risicell and clinical activities is subject to
confirmation and interpretation by regulatory auities, which could delay, limit or prevent reguat approval. We may also encounter
unanticipated delays or increased costs due torgment regulation from future legislation or adrstréitive action or changes in FDA policy
during the period of drug development, clinicahlsiand FDA regulatory review.

Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtaigquired approvals could materially adverselycftrir ability to successfully commercialize a
drug candidate. Furthermore, any regulatory appriovanarket a drug may be subject to limitationst tive do not expect on the indicated uses
for which we may market the drug. Any such limivas could reduce the size of the market for thg.dru

We also are subject to numerous foreignleggry requirements governing the conduct of chihtrials, manufacturing and marketing
authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursemdine foreign regulatory approval process inclualésf the risks associated with the FDA
approval process described above, as well asaisiilsutable to the satisfaction of foreign reqmments. Approval by the FDA does not ensure
approval by regulatory authorities outside the EchiStates and approval by a foreign regulatoryaityhdoes not ensure approval by the FI
Foreign jurisdictions may have different approvadqedures than those required by the FDA and mapéa additional testing requirements
for our drug candidates.

We depend on third-party manufacturers, includingle source suppliers, to manufacture materials fdinical trials and expect to continue
to rely on them to meet our commercial supply neéatsany drug candidate that is approved for salecluding telaprevir. We may not be
able to maintain these relationships and could erpace supply disruptions outside of our control.

We rely on a worldwide network of third-pamanufacturers to manufacture and distributedsug candidates for clinical trials, and we
expect that we will continue to rely on third pastifor the foreseeable future to meet our commesaf@ply needs for any of our drug
candidates that are approved for sale, includilaptevir. As a result of our reliance on theseddgarty manufacturers and suppliers, including
sole source suppliers of certain components ofloug candidates, we could be subject to signifisapiply disruptions outside of our control.
Our supply chain for sourcing raw materials and ufiacturing drug product ready for distribution isnalti-step international endeavor. Third-
party contract manufacturers, including some imn@hsupply us with raw materials, and contract Mfesturers in the European Union and the
United States convert these raw materials into dulgstance and convert the drug substance intodirsage form. Establishing and managing
this global supply chain requires a significangafigial commitment and the creation and maintenahoemerous third-party contractual
relationships. Although we attempt to effectivelgmage the business relationships with companiesarisupply chain, we do not have control
over their operations. There can be no assuraatevihwill be able to establish and maintain conuiaésupply chains on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all, in order to suppa@rtdlinch of telaprevir or any of our other drugdidates.
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We will require a supply of telaprevir feale in North America if we are successful in atiteg marketing approval. We currently are
exercising our contractual rights from our thirddgananufacturers to provide a supply to JanssenMitsubishi Tanabe of telaprevir and/or
materials required to manufacture telaprevir. Weeehsompleted the transfer of technical informatiegarding the manufacture of telaprevir to
Janssen so that Janssen will be able to manufaetaprevir for sale in Janssen's territoriesglfiprevir is approved in any of these territories,
and as a secondary supply source of drug substanas. We believe there are multiple third partiapable of providing most of the materials
and services we need in order to manufacture asidhilite telaprevir. We also believe that supplynaterials that can not be second-sourced
can be managed with inventory planning. Howeveardhs a risk that we may underestimate or ovenaesé demand, and the manufacturing
capacity for which we planned and contracted withdtparty manufacturers may not be sufficient @ymesult in more inventory than is
necessary. In addition, because of the signifitzad times involved in our supply chain for telaprewe may have less flexibility to adjust our
supply in response to changes in demand than Hageshorter lead times.

We require a supply of VX-770 for clinidahkls in North America and Europe, and we willueg a supply of VX-770 for sale in North
America and international markets if we obtain nedirkg approval for this drug candidate. We obtali+¥70 to meet our clinical supply needs
through a third-party manufacturing network andiarthe process of validating the manufacturingcpsses that will be required to produce
VX-770, if approved, at a commercial scale. Weiarihe process of expanding our existing relatiguskvith our third-party manufacturers
and establishing new relationships with third-pamignufacturers, in order to establish the suppéjrcfor VX-770 that would be required to
support a commercial launch of VX-770.

Even if we successfully establish arrangamith third-party manufacturers, supply disrap§ may result from a number of factors,
including shortages in product raw materials, ladratechnical difficulties, regulatory inspectiomsrestrictions, shipping or customs delays or
any other performance failure by any third-partynofacturer on which we rely.

Any supply disruptions could disrupt thmitig of our clinical trials and the commercial latrof any approved drugs. Furthermore, we
may be required to modify our production methodpeanit us to economically manufacture our drugsctommercial launch and sale. These
modifications may require us to re-evaluate ououeses and the resources of our third-party manufexs, which could result in abrupt
changes in our production methods and suppliesfof our drug candidates are approved for sadesimilarly may be at risk of supply chain
disruption for our commercial drug supply. In adxit holders of exclusivity for orphan drugs, whigh expect to hold for VX-770 if it is
approved, are expected to assure the availabflisyfficient quantities of their orphan drugs toehthe needs of patients. Failure to do so ¢
result in the withdrawal of marketing exclusivityrfthe orphan drug.

In the course of providing its servicespatract manufacturer may develop process techgaklgted to the manufacture of our drug
candidates that the manufacturer owns, either imgegntly or jointly with us. This would increase oeliance on that manufacturer or require
us to obtain a license from that manufacturer @eoto have our products manufactured by otherlgrppuitilizing the same process.

If clinical trials for a drug candidate are prolongd or delayed, our development timelines for théeafed drug candidate could be extend
our costs to develop the drug candidate could irase and the competitive position of the drug carat& could be adversely affected.

We can not predict whether or not we wilteunter problems with any of our completed, ongainplanned clinical trials that will cause
us or regulatory authorities to delay or suspeirdazal trials,
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or delay the analysis of data from our completedrwoing clinical trials. Any of the following calildelay the clinical development of our d
candidates:

. ongoing discussions with the FDA or comparableifprauthorities regarding the scope or design ofctinical trials and the
number of clinical trials we must conduct;

. delays in enrolling volunteers or patients intmidal trials, including as a result of low numbef:patients that meet tt
eligibility criteria for the trial,

. a lower than anticipated retention rate of volurge® patients in clinical trials;

. the need to repeat clinical trials as a resulhobnclusive results, unforeseen complicationsstirtg or clinical investigatc
error;

. inadequate supply or deficient quality of drug ddate materials or other materials necessary ®ctnduct of our clinical
trials;

. unfavorable FDA or foreign regulatory authority pestion and review of a manufacturing facility éodrug candidate or i

relevant manufacturing records or a clinical tsig or records of any clinical or preclinical istigation;

. unfavorable scientific results from clinical triad§ our drug candidate
. serious and unexpected d-related sid-effects experienced by participants in our cliniclls;
. favorable results in testing of our competitorsigicandidates, or FDA or foreign regulatory auttyospproval of our

competitors' drug candidates; or

. action by the FDA or a foreign regulatory authotiyplace a clinical hold on a tri

Our ability to enroll patients in our clail trials in sufficient numbers and on a timelgisawill be subject to a number of factors,
including the size of the patient population, tlaune of the protocol, the proximity of patientsctimical sites, the availability of effective
treatments for the relevant disease, the numbethef clinical trials ongoing and competing foripats in the same indication and the
eligibility criteria for the clinical trial. In adtlon, subjects may drop out of our clinical trimismay be lost to follow-up medical evaluation
after treatment ends, and this could possibly imibes validity or statistical significance of théats. Delays in patient enroliment or unforeseen
drop-out rates may result in increased costs amgelodevelopment times.

We, our collaborators, the FDA or otherlaggble regulatory authorities may suspend clinticals of a drug candidate at any time if wi
they believe the subjects or patients participaitinguch clinical trials are being exposed to ueatable health risks or for other reasons. Any
such suspension could materially adversely affezdevelopment of a particular drug candidate amdasiness.

In addition, it is impossible to predict @her legislative changes will be enacted, or wérefDA or other applicable regulatory authority
regulations, guidance or interpretations will barotped, or what the impact of such changes, if axay, be. If we experience any such
problems, we may not continue development of tlig dandidate that is affected.
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Government and other third-party payors seek to tin costs of health care through legislative anther means. If they fail to provide
coverage and adequate payment rates for our futdrags, our revenues and prospects for profitabilitgil be harmed.

In both domestic and foreign markets, @les of any future drugs will depend in part upoa availability of reimbursement from third-
party payors. Third-party payors include governntezdlth programs such as Medicare and Medicaidagethcare providers, private health
insurers and other organizations. Governments #ret third-party payors generally seek to contaireduce the costs of health care through
various means. For example, in certain foreign migtkoricing or profitability of therapeutic anchet pharmaceutical products is subject to
governmental control. In the United States, thereetbeen, and we expect that there will continugetaa number of federal and state proposals
to implement similar governmental control. In theited States, the recently enacted PPACA will digantly affect the pharmaceutical
industry. The PPACA will require discounts undex Medicare drug benefit program and increasesdabates paid by pharmaceutical
companies on drugs covered by Medicaid. In additioe PPACA imposes an annual fee, which will iaseeannually, on sales by branded
pharmaceutical manufacturers starting in 2011. firtencial impact of these discounts, increasedtesband fees and the other provisions o
PPACA on our business is unclear and there caml@ssurance that our business will not be matgraVersely affected by the PPACA.

In addition, third-party payors are incliegsy attempting to contain health care costs byaeding price discounts or rebates and limiting
both the types and variety of drugs that they woler and the amounts that they will pay for drigsa result, they may not cover or provide
adequate payment for our future drugs. We mightineeonduct post-marketing studies in order to alestrate the cost-effectiveness of any
future drugs to such payors' satisfaction. Suctlistumight require us to commit a significant anmafrmanagement time and financial and
other resources. Our future drugs might not ultetyalbe considered cost-effective. Adequate thirdypa@imbursement might not be available
to enable us to maintain price levels sufficientetalize an appropriate return on our investmepraduct development.

Reimbursement rates may vary accordingeaise of the drug and the clinical setting in \whtds used, may be based on payments
allowed for lower-cost products that are alreadynbeirsed, may be incorporated into existing paysémt other products or services, and may
reflect budgetary constraints and/or imperfectionsledicare or Medicaid data used to calculatedhates. Net prices for drugs may be
reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates regbiyegbvernment health care programs. While we apdmenting policies in an effort to
comply with mandated reimbursement rates, the &dgvernment, state governments and private pdy@gsently pursue actions against
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies alletliagthe companies have overstated prices in ¢odeflate reimbursement rates. Any
such action could adversely affect the pricingred ghe commercial success of any of our drug cateiapproved for sale.

Any legislation, or similar regulatory clugs or relaxation of laws that restrict importginfgs from other countries, also could reduce the
net price we receive for our marketed drugs.

We have no experience as a company wittertgo pricing and obtaining adequate ttpadty reimbursement for drugs. If our capabili
and policies in this are not effective, any futdrags may not be commercially successful and osiness could be materially harmed.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or preventr drug candidates’ commercial succe!

The United States federal government ahdragjovernments have shown significant interepuirsuing healthcare reform. Any additional
government-adopted reform measures could adveasfelgt the pricing of healthcare products, includamy of our drug candidates approved
for sale, in the United States or internationaltg ¢he amount of reimbursement available from gowvemtal agencies or other third party
payors. The continuing efforts of governments, inage companies,
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managed care organizations and other payors fdthibege products to contain or reduce healthcasésanay adversely affect our ability to set
prices we believe are fair for any drugs we mayetlgy and commercialize.

New laws, regulations and judicial decisioor new interpretations of existing laws, regola and decisions, relating to healthcare
availability, methods of delivery or payment fougds, or sales, marketing or pricing, may limit potential revenues, and we may need to
revise our research and development or commerataiz programs. The pricing and reimbursement enwnrent may change in the future and
become more challenging due to several reasoriading policies advanced by the U.S. government healthcare legislation or fiscal
challenges faced by government health administrvatighorities. Specifically, in both the United t8saand some foreign jurisdictions, there
have been a number of legislative and regulatoop@sals and initiatives to change the healthcastesyin ways that could affect our ability
sell any of our drug candidates that are approwveddle. Some of these proposed and implementedwsfcould result in reduced
reimbursement rates for our drug candidates, wivichid adversely affect our business strategy, djpgrmand financial results. For example,
in March 2010, the PPACA, a legislative overhaultaf U.S. healthcare system, was enacted intovidwch may have far reaching
consequences for biopharmaceutical companies iké&sia result of this new legislation, substarntfenges could be made to the current
system for paying for healthcare in the United &aincluding changes made in order to extend rakdenefits to those who currently lack
insurance coverage. Extending coverage to a lavgalation could substantially change the structdnhe health insurance system and the
methodology for reimbursement. If reimbursementdior approved drug candidates, if any, is substiyiiess than we expect in the future, or
rebate obligations associated with them are sutialigrincreased, our business could be materiatlgl adversely impacted.

Further federal and state proposals anlifuzaie reforms could limit the prices that carcharged for the drug candidates that we dev
and may further limit our commercial opportunityui@esults of operations could be materially adelgraffected by the PPACA, by the
Medicare prescription drug coverage legislationth®/possible effect of such current or futurestgion on amounts that private insurers will
pay and by other healthcare reforms that may betedar adopted in the future.

We expect that results from our and our collaborasoclinical development activities and the clinicdevelopment activities of our
competitors will continue to be released periodigabnd may result in significant volatility in thg@rice of our common stock.

Any new information regarding our drug ciladies or potentially competitive drugs or drugdidates, and in particular any new
information regarding telaprevir and potentiallymquetitive HCV drug candidates, can substantialfgcfinvestors' perceptions regarding our
future prospects. We, our collaborators and ourpsditors periodically provide updates regardinggddevelopment programs, typically
through press releases, conference calls and patiseis at medical conferences. These periodictegdzften include interim or final results
from clinical trials conducted by us, our collabtora or our competitors and/or information about @uour competitors' expectations regarc
regulatory filings and submissions as well as fittimical development of our drug candidates deptally competitive drugs or drug
candidates. The timing of the release of infornrabg us regarding our drug development progranoétén beyond our control and is
influenced by when we receive data from our clihidals and by the general preference among pheentécal companies to disclose clinical
data and other information during medical confeesnén addition, because clinical trials of drugdidates for the treatment of HCV infection
often occur over more than one year, the infornmati@t we, our collaborators and our competitossldse about these trials may be based on
interim rather than final data that may involveeipretation difficulties and may in any event notwrately reflect final results.

38




Table of Contents

If our competitors bring superior drugs to market dring their drugs to market before we do, we mag unable to find a market for ou
drug candidates.

Any drug we develop may not be able to ceramffectively with drugs that are currently oa tharket or new drugs that may be
developed by others. There are many other compdeiesoping drugs for the same indications thatwveepursuing. In order to compete
successfully in these areas, we must demonstrgteirad safety, efficacy and ease of manufacturimggain market acceptance over
competing drugs that may receive regulatory approetore or after our drug candidates, and oveseftbat currently are marketed. Many of
our competitors, including major pharmaceutical pamies such as Merck, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Glaxi&iiine, Pfizer, Roche, Amgen,
Novartis and Johnson & Johnson, possess subshamfiahter financial, technical and human resouticas we possess. In addition, many
our competitors have significantly greater experéethan we have in conducting nonclinical testind Buman clinical trials of drug candida
scaling up manufacturing operations and obtainégyiatory approvals of drugs and manufacturindifees. Accordingly, our competitors m
succeed in obtaining regulatory approval for dmngse rapidly than we do. If we obtain regulatorpaqval and launch commercial sales of
drug candidates, we also will compete with respeaohanufacturing efficiency and sales and marketeyggbilities, areas in which we currer
have limited experience.

In particular, a significant number of caanges are focused on developing treatments fortgpad. HCV infection. In addition to the
initial competition that we may face from Merck@deprevir, we are aware of a number of companigsaite developing new treatments for
HCYV infection including HCV protease inhibitors, N(oolymerase inhibitors, HCV NS5A inhibitors andvadced interferons. Although drug
development is a lengthy process and involves la tdgyree of risk, at some point during the nexesgwears one or more of these earlier-
stage drug candidates may be approved by the FBA wesult, the longer-term commercial prospectselaprevir will depend on, among
other factors:

. the efficacy, safety and other characteristicetzrevir relative to future treatments for HCVaafion;

. our ability to establish telaprevir as a signifitanmponent of any oral combination or shorter taretherapies that may |
approved as a treatment for HCV infection; and

. the timing of marketing approvals for drugs beimyeloped by our competitors, including in particwday other protease
inhibitors, including Merck's boceprevir, and amalazombination or shorter duration therapies.

As a result, even if we are initially successfutommercializing telaprevir, it is possible thatarr more competing therapies could be
approved with a better safety and efficacy profitajch we believe could negatively impact telapreéles.

If physicians, patients and thir-party payors do not accept our future drugs, weyrtge unable to generate significant revenues, ifyan

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for alrug candidates, our approved drugs may notmairket acceptance among physicians and
patients. We believe that effectively marketingpebvir, if it is approved, and our other drug ddates, if any of them are approved, will
require substantial efforts, both prior to launcl after approval. Physicians may elect not togiles our drugs, and patients may elect not to
request or take them, for a variety of reasonsuitiol:

. lower demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy paned to other drugs;
. prevalence and severity of adverse -effects;
. lack of cost-effectiveness;
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. lack of reimbursement availability from third-paggyors;

. a decision to wait for the approval of other théeagthat have significant perceived advantages ovedrug candidate
. convenience and ease of administration;

. other potential advantages of alternative treatmeathods; and

. ineffective marketing and distribution suppc

If our approved drugs fail to achieve markeceptance, we will not be able to generate Bagmit revenues.

If our processes and systems are not compliant wéhulatory requirements, we could be subject tdags in submitting NDAs ol
restrictions on marketing of drugs after they habeen approved.

We are developing drug candidates for reguy approval for the first time since our inceptiand have been implementing regulated
processes and systems required to obtain and rimaietgulatory approval for our drug candidates.t&arof these processes and systems for
conducting clinical trials and manufacturing madevere required to be compliant with regulatorguieements before we applied for
regulatory approval for telaprevir. These processebsystems will be subject to continual review pariodic inspection by the FDA and ot
regulatory bodies. If compliance issues are idieutiat any point in the development and approvat@ss, we may experience delays in filing
for regulatory approval for our drug candidatesgelays in obtaining regulatory approval aftemfiji In addition, any later discovery of
previously unknown problems or safety issues wihraved drugs or manufacturing processes, or fatiicomply with regulatory
requirements, may result in restrictions on suclyslior manufacturing processes, withdrawal of dftgys the market, the imposition of civil
or criminal penalties or a refusal by the FDA amdfher regulatory bodies to approve pending appibas for marketing approval of new
drugs or supplements to approved applicationscamhich could have a material adverse effect onbmusiness. In addition, we are a party to
agreements that transfer responsibility for commywith specified regulatory requirements, sucfileg and maintenance of marketing
authorizations and safety reporting or compliandé wanufacturing requirements, to our collaboraiand third-party manufacturers. If our
collaborators or third-party manufacturers do nufilf these regulatory obligations, any drugs ¥anich we or they obtain approval may be
subject to later restrictions on manufacturingale sor may even risk withdrawal, which could havwmaterial adverse effect on our business.

We depend on our collaborators to work with us tevelop, manufacture and commercialize some of otrgicandidates.

We have granted development and commezat#din rights for telaprevir to Janssen (worldwidleer than North America and Far East)
and to Mitsubishi Tanabe (Far East). We expectteive meaningful regulatory, technical, manufaoguand commercial contributions to the
telaprevir program from Janssen and will be emtitteroyalties from any sales of telaprevir, if apged, in Janssen's territories. The success of
our telaprevir program is dependent upon the cartirsupport that Janssen has agreed to providdasasden has significant discretion in
determining the efforts and resources that it apiply to the collaboration.

The risks that we face in connection witege existing and any future collaborations inclitngefollowing:

. Our collaboration agreements are subject to terimainder various circumstances, including, athencase of our agreement
with Janssen, termination without cause. Any seciination by Janssen could have a material adeffset on our financial
condition and/or delay the development and comrakseéile of telaprevir in Janssen's territories.
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. Our collaborators may change the focus of theiettgyment and commercialization efforts or may hasgefficient resources to
effectively develop our drug candidates. Pharmacaiuand biotechnology companies historically hearevaluated their
development and commercialization priorities foliogemergers and consolidations, which have beemmamin recent years in
these industries. The ability of some of our dragdidates to reach their potential could be limifesbllaborators decrease or
fail to increase development or commercializatifiorés related to those drug candidates.

. Any future collaboration agreements may have tfecebf limiting the areas of research and develepthat we may pursue,
either alone or in collaboration with third parties

. Collaborators may develop and commercialize, eith@ne or with others, drugs that are similar te@mpetitive with the drug
or drug candidates that are the subject of thdialoorations with us.

Janssen is seeking approval from the EMiaoket telaprevir in the European Union. The ratprly process in the European Union is
similar to the process in the United States, bpiclly takes longer to complete. If Janssen expees material delays in obtaining marketing
approval for telaprevir in its territories, we wilbt receive royalty revenues during the delayalissen is unable to obtain approvals to market
telaprevir in its territory, we will not receiveyalty payments from telaprevir sales in Janssen‘gdries, which could materially harm our ci
flows.

Our investment in the clinical development and mdaature of a commercial supply of telaprevir mayth@sult in any benefit to us if
telaprevir is not approved for commercial sale.

Telaprevir is the first drug candidate thatexpect to commercialize in a major market. \Weepdanning for and investing significant
resources in order to seek marketing approvaldiaptevir, to build our commercial supply invenésriof drug product, and to complete our
scale-up of sales and marketing capacity. Our ¢ostbtain a commercial supply of telaprevir haveluded approximately $63 million,
$20 million and $17 million in 2010, 2009 and 2068spectively. Our engagement in these resoureasite activities puts significant
investment at risk if we do not obtain regulatoppeoval and successfully commercialize telapreviNorth America. There is no assurance
that our development of telaprevir will lead susfaby to regulatory approval, or that obtaininguéatory approval will lead to commercial
success of telaprevir. If telaprevir is not appibier commercial sale or if its development is gethfor any reason, our full investment in
telaprevir may be at risk, we may face significemsts to dispose of unusable inventory, and ouinbas and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.

We may need to raise additional capital that mayt be available.

We expect to incur substantial expensegeadesign and develop existing and future compgunaldertake clinical trials, seek regulatory
approvals and build our drug supply, regulatoryweli@ment and commercial capabilities. We also exfmeincur substantial administrative
and commercialization expenses. As a result, we nqigg additional capital beyond our current resesir We anticipate that we would finance
any additional cash needs with some combination of:

. public offerings or private placements of our debequity securities, asset-backed borrowings loerotethods of financing;
. cash received from existing and future collabomtigreements; and
. future product sale:

We believe that our current cash, cashvedemts and marketable securities will be suffitterfund our operations for at least the next
twelve months. We may, however, raise additionpltaathrough public offerings or private placenseof our debt or equity securities. Any
such capital
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transactions may or may not be similar to the @atisns that we have completed in the past. Any filebncing may be on terms that, among
other things, include conversion features thatadoesult in dilution to our then-existing secufitylders and restrict our ability to pay interest
and dividends—although we do not intend to payd#inids for the foreseeable future. Any equity fimags would result in dilution to our then-
existing security holders. If adequate funds ateanailable on acceptable terms, or at all, we beyequired to curtail significantly or
discontinue one or more of our research, drug gisgoor development programs, including clinic&@ls, incur significant cash exit costs, or
attempt to obtain funds through arrangements watlaloorators or others that may require us to qelish rights to certain of our technologies,
drugs or drug candidates. Based on many factarkidimg general economic conditions, additionaafining may not be available on
acceptable terms, if at all.

We may not be successful in developing either af HiCV polymerase inhibitors we acquired in our adgiion of ViroChem and, as a
result, we may not realize any benefits from thisqaisition and could be subject to significant imjpaent charges in future periods.

In March 2009, we acquired ViroChem Phatnta, or ViroChem, for $100.0 million in cash an@ 2 million shares of our common sta
We acquired ViroChem primarily in order to secughts to two HCV polymerase inhibitors, VX-222 avid-759, as part of our strategy to
pursue drug candidates that could potentially hesldg@ed in combination with telaprevir and/or oarlier- stage drug candidates. VX-222 and
VX-759 were still in Phase 1 clinical developmetttee time of the acquisition and have only beesgated in nonclinical studies and in a
limited number of patients infected with HCV. Whilee believe the data from the clinical trials amdhclinical studies to date support the
development of combination therapies, there areemaus reasons why we may not be able to successiielop a combination therapy
involving either VX-222 or VX-759, including:

. data from trials involving drug candidates evaldateparately may not predict possible outcomedy asainforeseen drug
interactions, from drug candidates dosed in conminawhich could negatively impact the efficacydasafety profile of the
combination product candidate;

. positive results in small clinical trials and ndnaal studies may not be predictive of resultslinical trials involving large
numbers of patients; and

. favorable results of testing or earlier FDA or igreregulatory approval of competitors' products.

There can be no assurance that we will be abledoessfully develop either VX-222 or VX-759 alondrocombination with telaprevir or our
other HCV protease inhibitors, and if we are natcassful in developing VX-222 or VX-759, we may nedlize any benefits from our
acquisition of ViroChem.

At the time of acquisition, we allocated2$® million to intangible assets related to thgiacess research and development associated
with the ViroChem drug candidates. In the fourtlager of 2009, we recorded expense of $7.2 mililoconnection with an impairment of the
intangible assets related to VCH-286, a drug catdifbr the treatment of HIV infection that we aicgd from ViroChem. At December 31,
2010, our consolidated balance sheet included $5h8lion of intangible assets related to in-praessearch and development, approximately
80% of which related to VX-222 and approximatel$206f which related to VX-759. If the value of thetreig candidates, and in particular
VX-222, becomes impaired, we may incur significampairment charges, including potentially the enimount of the intangible assets
reflected on our consolidated balance sheet agedoidth the drug candidate, in the period in whith impairment becomes known. An
impairment could result from, among other thinggawvorable safety or efficacy results from clinitdls or nonclinical studies or competitive
factors affecting the potential market for the doagdidate. VX-759, which is considered a backupmound to VX-222, could be impaired by
data pertaining to the potential successful devakg of VX-222, which could result in a significantpairment charge
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in the period in which that determination is maldleve incur a significant impairment charge in &ufie period related to the intangible assets
acquired in the ViroChem transaction, the valuewfcommon stock could decrease.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinicalitls, and those third parties may not perform s#gistorily, including failing to meet
established deadlines for the completion of sucials.

We do not have the ability to independentpduct clinical trials for our drug candidatesd ave rely on third parties such as contract
research organizations to help manage our clinidlprocess and on medical institutions and chhinvestigators to enroll qualified patients
and conduct our clinical trials. Our reliance oadé third parties for clinical development actestreduces our control over these activities.
Accordingly, these third-party contractors may ocamplete activities on schedule, or may not conductclinical trials in accordance with
regulatory requirements or our trial design. Ifsta¢hird parties do not successfully carry outrtbentractual duties or meet expected dead|
we may be required to replace them. Although weetelthat there are a number of other third-paotytactors we could engage to continue
these activities, it may result in a delay of tffected trial. If clinical trials are not conductédaccordance with our contractual expectations or
regulatory requirements, action by regulatory aritles might significantly and adversely affect gtenduct or progress of these trials or in
specific circumstances might result in a requirentleat a trial be redone. Accordingly, our effaxdsobtain regulatory approvals for and
commercialize our drug candidates could be delayed.

Issuances of additional shares of our common staduld cause the price of our common stock to deeli

As of December 31, 2010, we had 203.5 amilshares of common stock issued and outstandimgf Recember 31, 2010, we also had
outstanding options to purchase 21.3 million shafeommon stock with a weighted-average exercigee pf $30.50 per share and 8.2 million
shares of common stock issuable upon conversionbutstanding convertible senior subordinate@sidue 2015, or 2015 Notes, at a
conversion price of approximately $48.83 per sh@wgstanding vested options are likely to be esextif the market price of our common
stock exceeds the applicable exercise price. litiaddwe may issue additional common stock orrietstd securities in the future as part of
financing activities or business development atiigiand any such issuances may have a dilutieetefh existing shareholders. Sales of
substantial amounts of our common stock in the oparket, or the availability of such shares foesabuld adversely affect the price of our
common stock. In addition, the issuance of regidi@ommon stock or common stock upon exerciseybatstanding options would be
dilutive, and may cause the market price for aslodiour common stock to decline.

Outstanding indebtedness may make it more diffictdtobtain additional financing or reduce our fleRility to act in our best interests.

We are obligated to repay an aggregatedl65% million for our secured notes due 2012, er2812 Notes, no later than October 31, 2
and an aggregate of $400.0 million for our 2015d¥ato later than October 1, 2015. We also are agiihto make semi-annual interest
payments on the outstanding principal amount oP0ES Notes. We may issue additional convertiblat de incur other types of indebtedness
in the future. The level of our indebtedness caiffdct us by:

. making it more difficult to obtain additional fineimg for working capital, capital expenditures, tisérvice requirements or
other purposes;

. constraining our ability to react quickly in an embrable economic climate or to changes in ourrassi or the pharmaceutical
industry; or

. requiring the dedication of substantial cash t@iserthe repayment of any outstanding debt, inciggieriodic interes

payments, thereby reducing the amount of cashahlaifor other purposes.
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If we acquire or license technologies, resourcesdoug candidates, we will incur a variety of costad may never realize benefits from t
transaction.

If appropriate opportunities become avd@atve might attempt to license or acquire techgias, resources and drugs or drug candidates,
including potentially complimentary HCV therapi&sien if we complete a license or other transactimmight never realize the anticipated
benefits of the transaction or we may incur impainincharges related to assets acquired in anytsargaction. Future licenses or acquisitions
could result in potentially dilutive issuances gfigy securities, the incurrence of debt, the domadf contingent liabilities, impairment
expenses related to goodwill, and impairment orréizaiion expenses related to other intangibletasséhich could harm our financial
condition.

Our drug development efforts are data-driven ancthfore potentially subject to abrupt changes inpexted outcomes.

Small molecule drug discovery and developni@volve, initially, the identification of chemdt compounds that may have promise as
treatments for specific diseases. Once identifeedrag candidates, compounds are subjected to gétasting in a laboratory setting, in
animals and in humans. Our ultimate objective iddtermine whether the drug candidates have pHydieaacteristics, both intrinsically and
animal and human systems, and a toxicological lerafiat are compatible with clinical and commdrsigcess in the treatment of the disease
being targeted. Throughout this process, experisnare conducted and data are gathered that canfdnee a decision to move to the next ¢
in the investigation process for a particular deagdidate, could result in uncertainty over theppracourse to pursue or could result in the
termination of further drug development effortstwiespect to the compound being evaluated. We orothié results of our discovery research
and our nonclinical studies and clinical trials aadularly evaluate and evaluate our portfolio investments with the objeetdf balancing ris
and potential return in view of new data and sdiienbusiness and commercial insights. This prea=m result in relatively abrupt changes in
focus and priority as new information comes totlighd we gain additional insights into ongoing pesgs and potential new programs.

We may not have the resources to develop and coroiakze all the drug candidates for which we havights, and we may not be able to
attract collaborators for the development and conmeielization of these drug candidates.

As part of our ongoing strategy, we mayksasgditional collaborative arrangements. We hameraber of research programs and early-
stage and mid-stage clinical development progr&mapending on how these programs progress, we mdyave the funding and/or the
personnel to continue the development and comnizadi@n of all of these programs internally. Wdlwieed to expand our internal
capabilities and/or enter into new arrangements third parties to sell and market any of our dragdidates, other than telaprevir, if the are
approval for sale. At any time, we may make thedeination that in order to continue developmerd dfug candidate or program or
successfully commercialize a future approved dregieed to identify a collaborator. Potentially, aegending on the circumstances, we may
desire that a collaborator either agree to fundiquus of a drug development program led by usgoe@to provide all the funding and directly
lead the development and commercialization of giamm. No assurance can be given that any effort:alee to seek additional collaborative
arrangements will be successfully completed omalii basis or at all. If we are unable to enten extceptable collaborative relationships, one
or more of our development programs could be delayderminated, and any future drug may not bemengially successful and the
possibility of our receiving a return on our invesit in the program could be impaired.
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Risks associated with our international businessationships could materially adversely affect ounginess.

We have manufacturing, collaborative amcic4l trial relationships, and we and our colladtors are seeking approval for our drug
candidates, outside the United States. In additi@nexpect that if telaprevir is approved for comeied sale, a significant portion of our
commercial supply chain, including sourcing of naaterials and manufacturing, will be located inr2hiJapan and the European Union. We
are planning to expand our operations in Canadadar to market telaprevir, if approved, in thatietry, and may seek to expand our
commercial operations in Europe in order to maxké&t770 internationally, if approved. Consequentlye are, and will continue to be, subject
to risks related to operating in foreign countriRisks associated with conducting operations irifpr countries include:

. differing regulatory requirements for drug appravial foreign countries;

. unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory requirements;

. economic weakness, including inflation, or politizestability in particular foreign economies anduikets;

. compliance with tax, employment, immigration anbldalaws for employees living or traveling abroad;

. foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &

. foreign currency fluctuations, which could resaulficreased operating expenses or reduced reveametsther obligation

incident to doing business or operating a subsidimanother country;

. workforce uncertainty in countries where labor @hie more common than in the United States;
. production shortages resulting from any eventsctiffg raw material supply or manufacturing capéesi abroad; and
. business interruptions resulting from -political actions, including war and terroris

These and other risks associated withmermational operations could materially adversdfgct our business.
If we fail to expand our human resources, and maregur growth effectively, our business may suff

We expect we may require significant addidl investment in personnel, management systethgseaources. Recently we have built out
the commercial organization that will be resporesiiolr the commercial launch of telaprevir in theitdd States, if it receives marketing
approval. The number of our employees increasetBbf in 2010 and 6% in 2009, and we expect to e&pee additional growth in 2011.
Because our drug discovery and development aetivigre highly technical in nature, we require #reises of highly qualified and trained
scientists who have the skills necessary to conithesie activities. In addition, we need to atteard retain employees with experience in these
fields. We face intense competition for our persgrirom our competitors, our collaborators and pttenpanies throughout our industry.
Moreover, the growth of local biotechnology comganand the expansion of major pharmaceutical coiapamto the Boston area have
increased competition for the available pool oflelliemployees, especially in technical fields, #mlhigh cost of living in the Boston and ¢
Diego areas makes it difficult to attract employfrem other parts of the country to these areas.aDility to commercialize our drug
candidates, and achieve our research and develomhbjectives, depends on our ability to respondectively to these demands and expand
internal organization to accommodate additionaicgrated growth. If we are unable to hire qualifigetsonnel or manage our growth
effectively, there could be a material adversectft®m our business.
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The loss of the services of key employees or tlilefato effectively integrate key employees conkhatively impact our business and future
growth.

Our future success will depend in large parour ability to retain the services of our legjentific and management personnel and to
integrate new scientific and management persomt@ldur business. As we expand our capabilitiemiicipation of the possible launch of
commercial products, a loss of key personnel @ilarke to properly integrate new personnel couldliseuptive. We have entered into
employment agreements with some individuals angigeocompensation-related benefits to all of oyr &mployees that vest over time and
therefore induce them to remain with us. Howevss,émployment agreements can be terminated byntpégee on relatively short notice.
The value to employees of stock-related benefésthst over time—such as options and restrictackstwill be significantly affected by
movements in our stock price that we can not chrard may at any point in time be insufficienttmnteract more lucrative offers from other
companies. A failure to retain, as well as hiraintrand effectively integrate into our organizatidaufficient number of qualified scientists,
professionals, sales personnel and senior managevoeid negatively affect our business and ouritgtib grow our business.

If our patents do not protect our drugs, or our dgs infringe third-party patents, we could be subject to litigationcasubstantial liabilities.

We have numerous issued patents and paefitations pending in the United States, as aforeign counterparts in other countries.
Our success will depend, in significant part, onaility to obtain and maintain United States &mign patent protection for our drugs, their
uses and our processes, to preserve our tradeéssancketo operate without infringing the proprigteghts of third parties. In particular, we
believe that composition-of-matter claims are galhethe most significant patent claims for comganin our segment of the pharmaceutical
industry that focus on small molecule drug candiddhat are new chemical compounds. While we hatenfs or patent applications with
composition-of-matter claims for each of our modeanced clinical drug candidates, only a portiothese patents have been granted at this
time. We can not be certain that any patents gslie from our patent applications or, even if gatesue or have issued, that the issued claims
will provide us with any significant protection agst competitive products or otherwise be valualemercially.

Legal standards relating to the validitypatents and the proper scope of their claimsemptiarmaceutical field are still evolving, and
there is no consistent law or policy regardinguhkd breadth of claims in biopharmaceutical patentthe effect of prior art on them. If we are
not able to obtain adequate patent protectionability to prevent competitors from making, usimglaselling similar drugs will be limited.
Furthermore, our activities may infringe the claiofigatents held by third parties. Defense andgmation of infringement or other intellectual
property claims, as well as participation in otmeer-party proceedings, can be expensive and tiomsuming, regardless of whether or not the
outcome is favorable to us. If the outcome of amghditigation or proceeding were adverse, we cdigdubject to significant liabilities to third
parties, could be required to obtain licenses ftoimtl parties or could be required to cease sdleffected drugs, any of which outcomes could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business has a substantial risk of product lidy claims. If we are unable to obtain appropriatevels of insurance, a product liability
claim could adversely affect our business.

Our business exposes us to significantriateproduct liability risks that are inherentthre development, clinical testing, manufacturing
and sales and marketing of human therapeutic ptedie have clinical trial insurance and will séelobtain product liability insurance prior
to the sales and marketing of any of our drug aatds. However, our insurance may not provide aateqeoverage against potential liabiliti
Furthermore, clinical trial and product liabilitydurance is becoming
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increasingly expensive. As a result, we may be len@bmaintain current amounts of insurance cover@gbtain additional or sufficient
insurance at a reasonable cost to protect agaissts that could have a material adverse effeasolf a claim is brought against us, we might
be required to pay legal and other expenses tomdéfe claim, as well as uncovered damages aweasddting from a claim brought
successfully against us. Furthermore, whether bweaare ultimately successful in defending anyhstlaims, we might be required to direct
significant financial and managerial resourcesuithsdefense, and adverse publicity is likely taltes

If we do not comply with laws regulating the protan of the environment and health and human safetyr business could be adverst
affected.

Our research and development efforts invdihe controlled use of hazardous materials, ctedmand various radioactive compounds.
Although we believe that our safety procedureshmidling and disposing of these materials compth Wie standards prescribed by state and
federal regulations, the risk of accidental contation or injury from these materials can not beniglated. If an accident occurs, we could be
held liable for resulting damages, which could blessantial. We also are subject to numerous enwiggtal, health and workplace safety laws
and regulations, including those governing labosapwocedures, exposure to blood-borne pathogemsrenhandling of biohazardous
materials. Although we maintain workers' compemsaitnsurance to cover us for costs we may incurtduljuries to our employees resulting
from the use of these materials, this insurance moayrovide adequate coverage against poterdiailities. Due to the small amount of
hazardous materials that we generate, we haventietst that the cost to secure insurance coveragenfaronmental liability and toxic tort
claims far exceeds the benefits. Accordingly, werxdbmaintain any insurance to cover pollution dbads or other extraordinary or
unanticipated events relating to our use and dapfshazardous materials. Additional federal,estatd local laws and regulations affecting
operations may be adopted in the future. We mayrisabstantial costs to comply with, and substhfitias or penalties if we violate, any of
these laws or regulations.

We have adopted anti-takeover provisions and arbjsct to Massachusetts corporate laws that may frate any attempt to remove or
replace our current management or effectuate a messs combination involving Vertex.

Our corporate charter and by-law provisjdiassachusetts state laws and our shareholdes p¢gn may discourage certain types of
transactions involving an actual or potential chenfjcontrol of Vertex that might be beneficialu® or our security holders. Our charter
provides for staggered terms for the members oBtherd of Directors. Our by-laws grant the direstamright to adjourn annual meetings of
shareholders, and certain provisions of outdwys may be amended only with an 80% shareholder. Yursuant to our shareholder rights ¢
each share of common stock has an associatedneckfdrare purchase right. The rights will not tragparately from the common stock until,
and are exercisable only upon, the acquisitiomemitential acquisition through tender offer lyeason or group of 15% or more of the
outstanding common stock. We may issue sharesyoflass or series of preferred stock in the futvitbout shareholder approval and upon
such terms as our Board of Directors may deterniihe.rights of the holders of common stock willdudject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of any claisseries of preferred stock that may be issueddrfuture. Massachusetts state law prohibits
us from engaging in specified business combinationkess the combination is approved or consummiatadgrescribed manner, and prohibits
voting by any shareholder who acquires 20% or nbur voting stock without shareholder approva. &result, shareholders or other parties
may find it more difficult to remove or replace awurrent management.
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Our stock price may fluctuate based on factors beg@ur control.

Market prices for securities of companigshsas ours are highly volatile. From January D92 December 31, 2010, our common stock
traded between $25.94 and $44.24 per share. Theetrfar our stock, like that of other companiesha biotechnology field, has from time to
time experienced significant price and volume fhattons that are unrelated to our operating perdmece. The future market price of our
securities could be significantly and adverselgetiéd by factors such as:

. announcements of FDA actions with respect to régoldilings for our drug candidates or those of oampetitors or of results
of clinical trials or nonclinical studies relating our drug candidates or those of our competitors;

. announcements of financial results and other ojpergerformance measures, including, if we obtgipraval for telaprevir,
product revenues during the initial period aftéapeevir's commercial launch, or capital structgror financing activities;

. technological innovations or the introduction ofwnérugs by our competitor

. government regulatory action;

. public concern as to the safety of drugs develdpedthers;

. developments in patent or other intellectual propeghts or announcements relating to these ns!

. developments in domestic and international govemaigolicy or regulation, for example relatingitdellectual property right:
. developments relating specifically to other comparand market conditions for pharmaceutical antebimology stocks or

stocks in general; and

. general worldwide or national economic, politicatlacapital market conditions.
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARI-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and, intigatar, the description of our Business set famtitem 1, the Risk Factors set forth in this
Item 1A and our Management's Discussion and AnalykFinancial Condition and Results of Operatisatsforth in Item 7 contain or
incorporate a number of forward-looking statemevithin the meaning of Section 27A of the Securittes of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, including statements regarding:

. our expectations regarding clinical trials, devetgmt timelines and regulatory authority filings aubmissions for telaprevi
VX-770, VX-222, VX-809, VX-509, VX765, including our expectations regarding regulatarthorities' timelines for review
our NDA submission for telaprevir in the United 88 our New Drug Submission for telaprevir in Gimaand Janssen's MAA
for telaprevir in the European Union, and the guitii that we could submit an NDA and an MAA foX¥770 in the second
half of 2011,

. our belief that if we are successful in obtainipgprval for telaprevir by the May 23, 2011 targetedfor the FDA to complete
its review, we would be able to begin marketingpeévir in the United States in mid-2011;

. our statements regarding the possibility that cdnédin generating earnings as a cashflow positwepany in 2012
. our ability to successfully market telaprevir and-V70 or any of our other drug candidates if wealske to obtain regulatory
approval;
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. our expectations regarding the timing and struatdirdinical trials of our drug candidates, inclaogitelaprevir, VX-770, VX-
222, VX-509 and VX-765 and combinations of telajrexith VX-222 and VX-770 with VX-809, and the timg of our receipt
of data from our VX-770 registration program andlafa from our other clinical trials;

. expectations regarding the amount of, timing of adds with respect to our revenues, costs andresgs and other gains and
losses, including those related to potential prodenenues and royalty revenues from sales of teNép to potential milestone
payments from Janssen, to the intangible assatsiatsd with the ViroChem acquisition and to ttabilities we recorded in
connection with the September 2009 financial tratigas;

. the data that will be generated by ongoing andrdrclinical trials and the ability to use thatadtd support regulatory filing
including potential applications for marketing apyal for VX-770;

. our beliefs regarding the support provided by chiitrials and preclinical and nonclinical studidsur drug candidates for
further investigation, clinical trials or potentiate as a treatment;

. the focus of our drug development efforts and marfcial and management resources and our plaontince investing in our
research and development programs and to devetbpanmmercialize selected drug candidates that ezrfeogn those
programs, alone or with third-party collaborators;

. the establishment, development and maintenancellaborative relationships;
. potential business development activities;
. our ability to use our research programs to idgratifd develop new drug candidates to address sadisaases and significe

unmet medical needs;

. statements regarding the letter of intent that mtered into in January 2011 with respect to thempidl lease of a facility to be
built in Boston, Massachusetts;

. our estimates regarding obligations associated avidase of a facility in Kendall Square, Cambridgdassachusetts; ai

. our liquidity and our expectations regarding thegibility of raising additional capital.

Any or all of our forward-looking statemeri this Annual Report on Form 10-K may turn aube wrong. They can be affected by
inaccurate assumptions we might make or by knowm&nown risks and uncertainties. Many factors moeetd in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K will be important in determining futuresults. Consequently, no forward-looking statencantbe guaranteed. Actual future results
may vary materially from expected results. We g@isavide a cautionary discussion of risks and uadeties under "Risk Factors" above in this
Item 1A. These are factors and uncertainties tieathink could cause our actual results to diffetarially from expected results. Other factors
and uncertainties besides those listed there aistdadversely affect us.

Without limiting the foregoing, the wordselieves,” "anticipates,” "plans,” "intends," "exfs and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. There are enber of factors and uncertainties that could caaseal events or results to differ materially
from those indicated by such forwal@bking statements, many of which are beyond ouatred, including the factors and uncertaintiesfeeth
under "Risk Factors" above in this Item 1A. In ditati, the forward-looking statements contained imerepresent our estimate only as of the
date of this filing and should not be relied upgnrepresenting our estimate as of any subsequentWhile we may elect to update these
forward-looking statements at some point in thereit we specifically disclaim
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any obligation to do so to reflect actual resudtgnges in assumptions or changes in other faatfasting such forward-looking statements.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We did not receive any written commentsifittie Securities and Exchange Commission pridnéadate 180 days before the end of the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 regardingitimgd under the Securities Exchange Act of 193amended, that have not been resolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease an aggregate of approximatelyQlQi® square feet of laboratory and office spadaditities located in Cambridge,
Massachusetts, San Diego, California, Washingtd, Coralville, lowa, Montreal, Canada, and the BdiKingdom. We believe our facilities
are adequate for our current needs.

Cambridge, Massachusetts

We lease an aggregate of 815,000 squareffspace in ten facilities situated in close pmtiky to our corporate headquarters located at
130 Waverly Street in Cambridge, Massachusettslease approximately 100,000 square feet of laboratod office space in our 130
Waverly Street corporate headquarters and appraeaiyn®92,000 square feet of laboratory and offigace at 200 Sidney Street, located
adjacent to our corporate headquarters. The 13WaStreet and 200 Sidney Street leases expifeemember 31, 2015, with two options to
extend for additional consecutive five-year terargj an option to terminate the lease in Decemb&8,2ubject to certain advance notice
provisions. The lease for 21,000 square feet af@Bpace at 21 Erie Street, also located adjaoemir corporate headquarters, expires in May
2012, with an option to extend for two additionahsecutive five-year terms. We sublease approxignaéb,000 square feet at 88 Sidney
Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts, as subtenarkeondes, Inc. who is the prime tenant in the buiidiThe sublease expires in June 2012
an option to extend through 2014.

The lease for our Kendall Square, Cambritiigesssachusetts facility will expire in 2018. Wevbdhe option to extend this lease for two
consecutive ten-year terms. We have subleasedxpmtely 145,000 square feet of the Kendall Sqdacdity, and are using the remaining
square feet of space leased in the facility forregearch operations. The subleases are for terdisgein 2012 and 2015 with one sublease
having an extension option to 2018.

We are planning to consolidate our openatin Massachusetts so that they will be locatedsimgle location. We have not yet, however,
entered into a binding agreement with respectitodhany other new facility and intend that matecommitments with respect to a new
facility will be contingent on obtaining approval market telaprevir in the United States. In Jap24x11, we signed a letter of intent with
respect to the potential lease of a facility tdobidt in Boston, Massachusetts. This letter of imteontemplates the lease of approximately
1,100,000 square feet of office and laboratory sgaca period of 15 years commencing in late 2013.

San Diego, California

We lease approximately 81,000 square felatboratory and office space in San Diego, Catlifar The lease for this space will expire on
September 30, 2013. We have the option to extdeddase for one additional term of five years.
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United Kingdom

We lease approximately 22,000 square feletboratory and office space in Milton Park, Abdtogn, England, for our United Kingdom
business and research and development activitiegra lease expiring in 2013. We also lease aitiala 41,000 square feet of laboratory
and office space in Milton Park under a lease witerm that expires in 2024. This lease has cet¢éamination provisions in 2014 and 2019.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any material legatpedings. We are not a party to any litigatioany court with any governmental authority, and
management is not aware of any contemplated praugég any governmental authority against us.

ITEM 4. REMOVED AND RESERVED
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ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on The NASDA@Wal Select Market under the symbol "VRTX." Thdduling table sets forth for the

PART I

periods indicated the high and low sale pricesspare of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ:

Year Ended December 31, 201(

First quarte
Second quarte
Third quartel
Fourth quarte

Year Ended December 31, 2009:

First quartel
Second quarte
Third quartel
Fourth quarte

Stockholders

High Low
$ 44.2¢ $ 36.1°F
41.62 32.41
37.9¢ 31.2¢
38.7( 32.0¢

$ 35.97 $ 26.67

36.3C 25.9¢
38.5( 31.8¢
44.0¢ 31.8¢

As of February 9, 2011, there were 2,08dérs of record of our common stock.

Performance Graph
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Dividends

We have never declared or paid any casdetids on our common stock, and we currently exipedtfuture earnings, if any, will be
retained for use in our business. Restrictionbiéndredit agreement we entered into in January B&dtfict our ability to declare or pay
dividends in certain circumstances.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

The table set forth below shows all repasgs of securities by us during the three monttlege®ecember 31, 2010:

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
Total Number Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet
of Shares Average Price Publicly Announced be Purchased Under
Period Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs
Oct. 1, 2010 tc
Oct. 31, 201( 6,86¢ $ 0.01 — —
Nov. 1, 2010 tc
Nov. 30, 201( 4,221 $ 0.01 — —
Dec. 1, 2010 to
Dec. 31, 201( 6,43 $ 0.01 — —

The repurchases were made under the teffrmg @006 Stock and Option Plan. Under this plaa,may award shares of restricted stoc
our employees and consultants that typically abgesti to a lapsing right of repurchase by us. Wg meercise this right of repurchase in the
event that a restricted stock recipient's senaagstis terminated. If we exercise this right, we r@quired to repay the purchase price paid by ol
on behalf of the recipient for the repurchasediast shares, which typically is the par value gleare of $0.01. Repurchased shares returned
to the 2006 Stock and Option Plan are availabléuture awards under the terms of that plan.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following unaudited selected consobiddiinancial data are derived from our audited obdated financial statements. These data
should be read in conjunction with our audited otidated financial statements and related notesattgaincluded elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and with "Management's Disaussind Analysis of Financial Condition and Resaft®perations” included in Item 7
below.

Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues
Royalty revenue $ 30,24 $ 28,32( $ 37,48: $ 4797 $ 41,20¢
Collaborative revenue 113,12¢ 73,56¢ 138,02: 151,03¢ 175,14¢
Total revenue 143,37( 101,88t¢ 175,50: 199,01: 216,35t
Costs and expense
Royalty expense 12,73( 14,20: 15,68¢ 13,904 12,17(
Research and development exper 637,41t 550,27« 516,91 519,22° 379,71!
Sales, general and administrative expel 187,80( 130,19: 101,29( 78,55¢ 49,85¢
Restructuring expens 1,501 6,24( 4,32¢ 7,11¢ 3,651
Intangible asset impairment charges — 7,20( — — —
Acquisitior-related expenses( — 7,79: — — —
Total costs and expens 839,44° 715,90: 638,21 618,80 445,39:
Loss from operation (696,07 (614,01:) (462,709 (419,79)) (229,039
Interest income/(expense), 1 (17,320 (8,182) 2,851 28,51¢ 15,06¢
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (41,229 (1,847 — — —
Other gain/(losses)(3)(« — (18,13Y) — — 7,07¢
Net loss(3] $ (754,62() $ (642,17) $ (459,85) $ (391,27) $ (206,89)
Net loss per share, basic and dilutec $ B.77) $ 3.7) $ 3.27) $ (3.09) $ (1.89)
Weightec-average shares, basic and dilt 200,40: 173,25¢ 140,55t 128,98t 113,22:

December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $ 103141 $ 128491 $ 832,10. $ 467,7%¢ $ 761,75
Intangible assets(: 518,70( 518,70( — — —
Goodwill(1) 26,10: 26,10: — — —

Total asset $ 1,725,441 $ 1,95548 $ 980,47¢ $ 601,470 $ 921,57¢
Total current liabilities $ 474,78 $ 284,88. $ 216,56¢ $ 199,27¢ $ 251,01

Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 2018)ph

current portior — — 287,50( — —
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 2! 400,00( — — — —
Secured notes (due 2012), net of current portic — 121,76! — — —
Liability related to sale of potential future miteae
payments, net of current portion( — 38,20° — — —
Other long terr-debt, net of current portic — — — — 19,997
Deferred tax liability(1, 160,27¢ 160,27¢ — — —
Other liabilities, net of current portic 186,41: 254,00 237,54 130,90 144,63:
Stockholders' equit 503,97: 1,096,341 238,87« 271,29! 505,93!
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 1,725,441 $ 1,95548 $ 980,47¢ $ 601,470 $ 921,57¢
1) The intangible asset impairment charges, the aitipuiselated expenses, the intangible assets, the gb@ihlithe deferred tax liability reflected in thelected financial data rele
to our acquisition of ViroChem in 2009. See Not®Bur consolidated financial statements includethis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2) The change in fair value of derivative instrumestgured notes (due 2012) and liability relateskte of potential future milestone payments refléét the selected financial data

relate to two financial transactions that we ertén¢o in September 2009. As of December 31, 2€H®secured notes (due 2012) and the liabilitytedlo sale of potential future
milestone payments are included in total currettilities. See Note Q to our consolidated finanstatements included in this Annual Report on Fb@K.

?3) We recorded a $1.0 million benefit in 2006 duehi® ¢cumulative effect of estimating forfeitures qtigy awards on the grant date rather than recgrttiem as they occur, which
decreased the basic and diluted net loss per constreme for 2006 by $0.01.

(4) Other gain/(losses) includes losses on exchangesnofertible notes of $18.1 million in 2009 andb&f2 million in 2006 and a realized gain on saléeéstment of $11.2 million
in 2006.
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

We are in the business of discovering, tigirg and commercializing small molecule drugstfa treatment of serious diseases. In
November 2010, we submitted a new drug applicatiotNDA, requesting approval to market telaprenittie United States for the treatmer
patients with chronic hepatitis C virus, or HCVigation. We expect to obtain approval for and @igisales of telaprevir in the United States in
2011. We are pursuing a number of other clinicakttgppment programs, including a registration pragfar VX-770, the lead drug candidate
in our cystic fibrosis, or CF, program. We plarctmtinue investing in our research and developmeygrams and to develop and
commercialize selected drug candidates that enfesgethose programs, alone or with third-party abtirators.

Business Focu

We are focused on obtaining approval fat eammercializing telaprevir in the United Statghjle continuing to advance our other drug
candidates and to invest in research programsanrnaly 2011, we received priority review desigrmafar the telaprevir NDA from the United
States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, whichablishes an anticipated timeframe for the FD£etaew the telaprevir NDA that ends
on May 23, 2011. The FDA's regulatory review pracies the telaprevir NDA will include, among othtiings, a detailed review by the FDA
of the data and information contained in the NDAgatings and frequent communications between usegdsentatives of the FDA, and FDA
inspections, including inspections of clinical kidites and third-party facilities used to manufiaettelaprevir. If applicable regulatory criteria
are not satisfied, the FDA could refuse to appraveelay the approval of the telaprevir NDA. If e successful in obtaining approval for
telaprevir within the anticipated timeframe, we egpto begin marketing telaprevir in the Unitedt&dan mid-2011. Our collaborator, Janssen
Pharmaceutica, N.V., or Janssen, is responsiblinéocommercialization of telaprevir in its territs, including the European Union, and is
obligated to pay us royalties on its net sale®lafprevir. Janssen obtained accelerated assesBméatmarketing authorization application, or
MAA, for telaprevir from the European Medicines Agg, or EMA, in December 2010 and is seeking t@wbapproval for and launch
telaprevir in the European Union in the second 6&#011.

In order to execute our business plan ahikse profitability, we need to obtain approval felaprevir in a timely manner and success
commercialize telaprevir in the United States. \Wgeet that we will incur substantial expenses iheotto seek approval for and commercialize
telaprevir, while at the same time continuing tosoe diversified research and development effort®fr other drug candidates and to expand
our organization. We may seek to borrow workingitedyif such financing is available to us. Althougle have no plans to do so in the near
term, we may raise additional capital from publiftedngs or private placements of our securitiesyf new collaborative agreements or
through other methods of financing, particularlpjiproval of telaprevir is delayed or commercidl@atakes longer than expected. We cannot
be sure that financing opportunities will be avaldgaon acceptable terms, if at all. If adequatelfuare not available on acceptable terms, we
may be required to significantly curtail or disdone one or more of our research or developmergraros, including clinical trials, incur
significant cash exit costs, or attempt to obtaimdis through arrangements with collaborators oerstthat may require us to relinquish right
certain of our drug candidates.

Successful commercialization of telapréirris approved will require: effective marketindistribution and pricing strategies;
infrastructure to support commercial sales; appad@and sustained levels of drug product inventooynpany-wide processes and systems to
support compliance with
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applicable laws and regulations and post-marketafgty evaluations; and an effective sales forceraanaged markets organization to
promote telaprevir to health care providers andpay-or longer-term success we also will neechsuiee that a significant portion of the
HCV-infected population that is currently undiagadss diagnosed and treated. In 2010, we signifig@xpanded our commercial
organization in the United States, hiring an exgrered management team and more than 100 field-leaspldyees, preparing our initial
marketing strategies, and designing and implemgrtlie infrastructure required to support commersddés in the United States. We expect to
complete these activities in the first half of 2Gid believe that our commercial organization bélprepared for the potential mid-2011
commercial launch of telaprevir in the United StaM/e also are seeking to obtain Canadian regylagproval for telaprevir in the second |

of 2011 and have started building the commerciaagtructure that will be required to market telapr in Canada. We expect that the market
for the treatment of patients with HCV infectionlivide highly competitive and may initially inclugeHCV protease inhibitor that is being
evaluated by the FDA concurrently with telaprevir.

The most advanced of our other drug caneglis VX-770, which we are evaluating in a fullgrolled registration program that focuse:
patients with CF who have the G551D mutation ingbee responsible for CF. We expect that we wileiee data from the primary Phase 3
clinical trial in the VX-770 registration program ihe first quarter of 2011. If we believe the ffestrom the Phase 3 clinical trials for VX-770
support registration, we could submit an NDA andvi¥A for VX-770 in the second half of 2011. We exp¢hat if we seek regulatory
approval for VX-770, the submissions of the NDA &ndA for VX-770 will involve a complex and resourdetensive process that could be
delayed. Concurrently with preparing the NDA sulsita for VX-770, we would seek to establish a comuiat infrastructure in Europe in
order to prepare for potential commercial salegX{770 in international markets.

We have several ongoing Phase 2a cliniizd$ tdesigned to obtain additional informationaeting earlier-stage drug candidates intended
for the treatment of HCV infection, CF, rheumataithritis and epilepsy. We expect to receive dadmfall of these clinical trials in 2011,
which should help us determine, which, if any,lige programs deserve further investment. We Ileetleat our longer-term success will
depend on our ability to continue to generate a@kbp innovative compounds. To that end, we exigecontinue to focus on research
programs directed toward the identification of rdnwg candidates for the treatment of serious deseas

Drug Development and Commercializati

Discovery and development of a new pharmidgca product is a difficult and lengthy procebattrequires significant financial resources
along with extensive technical and regulatory etiperand can take 10 to 15 years or more. Through@ientire process, potential drug
candidates are subjected to rigorous evaluatiovewin part by stringent regulatory consideratiadesigned to generate information
concerning efficacy, side-effects, proper dosagelteand a variety of other physical and chemibaracteristics that are important in
determining whether a drug candidate should beawepl for marketing as a pharmaceutical product.tidbsmical compounds that are
investigated as potential drug candidates nevegrpss into formal development, and most drug catdgithat do advance into formal
development never generate data that support niegkagppproval. Because our investments are sulijemtrisiderable risks, we closely monitor
the results of our discovery research, clinicalsrand nonclinical studies, and frequently evalwatr drug development programs in light of
new data and scientific, business and commerciddlins, with the objective of balancing risk andemial. This process can result in relatively
abrupt changes in focus and priority as new infaimmebecomes available and we gain additional wtdading of our ongoing programs and
potential new programs.

56




Table of Contents

If we complete a registration program fairag candidate and believe the data support appadthe drug candidate, we generally would
submit an NDA to the FDA requesting approval to keathe drug candidate in the United States. Wauoicollaborators also generally would
seek analogous approvals from comparable regulatathorities in foreign jurisdictions. To obtainpepval, we must, among other things,
demonstrate with evidence gathered in nonclinittadiss and well-controlled clinical trials that theig candidate is safe and effective for the
disease it is intended to treat and that the matwiag facilities, processes and controls forrrenufacture of the drug candidate are adequate
The FDA and foreign regulatory authorities will leasubstantial discretion in deciding whether orewsath of our drug candidates should be
granted approval based on the benefits and riskseadirug candidate in the treatment of a partiatittease. Their review of our NDA or a
foreign regulatory filing could delay, limit or prent regulatory approval of the drug candidateedfulatory delays are significant or regulatory
approval is limited or denied altogether, our ficiahresults and the commercial prospects for tlug dandidate involved will be harmed.

We believe that by focusing on seriousa@igs and innovative drugs that have the potentiaidvide significant advantages over existing
therapies, we can increase the likelihood thatdoug candidates, if approved, will be commercialligcessful. In addition, we believe that
telaprevir will have a commercially competitive filw and that there is a significant group of patsewith genotype 1 HCV infection that may
be willing to seek treatment with a telaprevir-hteatment regimen. However, we cannot accurgteglict the product revenues that will be
generated if telaprevir receives regulatory appard we may need to adjust our business planeasbtain additional information regarding
our actual product revenues. Even drugs that aehietial market acceptance may then be renderedlete or noncompetitive by the
introduction of additional therapies, expirationimtellectual property protections or introductioihgeneric competition. Approved drugs
continue to be subject, among other things, to mangeregulatory risks, post-approval safety momgpand risks related to supply chain
disruptions.

We will require a supply of telaprevir feale in North America and a supply of VX-770 folesaorldwide if we are successful in
obtaining marketing approval for either or bothttuése drug candidates. We rely on an internatioe@vork of third parties to manufacture and
distribute our drug candidates for clinical trisdsd we expect that we will continue to rely ondtparties for the foreseeable future to meet our
commercial supply needs for any of our drug cartdilthat are approved for sale. Thixaty contract manufacturers, including some i@l
supply us with raw materials, and contract manufzes in the European Union and the United Statagert these raw materials into drug
substance, and convert the drug substance intbdosage form. Establishing and managing this dlsbpply chain requires a significant
financial commitment and the creation and mainteaasf numerous third-party relationships. Althowgh attempt to effectively manage the
business relationships with companies in our supp8in, we do not have complete control over theiivities.

We have not marketed pharmaceutical predoetore, and prior to 2010 we had a relativelylsomemmercial organization. As a result, in
the past many of the regulations related to theketarg of pharmaceutical products have had limépglicability to our business. As we
expand our commercial organization and preparghf@potential commercial launch of telaprevir, veeda focused on designing a
comprehensive compliance program to actively idgnpirevent and mitigate risk through the implenagion of compliance policies and
systems and by promoting a culture of complianaaoAg other laws, regulations and standards, wsubject to various federal and state |
pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, inclydinti-kickback and false claims statutes. Antkkiack laws make it illegal for a prescription
drug manufacturer to solicit, offer, receive, oy ay remuneration in exchange for, or to indulse,referral of business, including the
purchase or prescription of a particular drug. €algims laws prohibit anyone from presenting fayment to third-party payors, including
Medicare and Medicaid, claims for reimbursed droigservices that are
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false or fraudulent, claims for items or servicesprovided as claimed, or claims for medically eo@ssary items or services. In 2011, we
expect to devote substantial management and fialresources to complete the implementation ofetloesnpliance policies in preparation of
the potential commercial launch of telaprevir.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our finahmigdition and results of operations is based upanconsolidated financial statements pref
in accordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples in the United States, or GAAP. The preparaof these financial statements
requires us to make certain estimates and assumsgtiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reported pekéelsnonitor and analyze changes in facts and cirtamass that might have a material efi
on our estimates and assumptions. Changes in ¢éstirage reflected in reported results for the peirlovhich they become known. We base
our estimates on historical experience and vantler assumptions, including in certain circumsgégnftiture projections, that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual reswdisdiffer from our estimates if past experiencetber assumptions do not turn out to be
substantially accurate.

We believe that our application of the daling accounting policies, each of which requirgsigicant judgments and estimates on the part
of management, are the most critical to aid inyfuthderstanding and evaluating our reported fireneisults: derivative instruments and
embedded derivatives; revenue recognition; reseamdrdevelopment expenses; commercial suppliefydérscombinations; restructuring
expense; and stock-based compensation expensac@aunting polices, including the ones discusséalyeare more fully described in the
Notes to our consolidated financial statementduding Note B "Accounting Policies," included ingiAnnual Report on Form -K.

Derivative Instruments and Embedded Deriva—September 2009 Financial Transactions

Expenses related to two financial transactithat we entered into in September 2009 residteinificant non-cash expenses in 2010.
The two financial transactions relate to $100.0iamlof potential milestone payments payable tbyganssen in connection with the
regulatory filing with and approval of telapreviy the EMA and $150.0 million of potential milestopayments payable to us by Janssen in
connection with the launch of telaprevir in the &pegan Union. In the first financial transaction, is&ued secured notes due 2012, or 2012
Notes, which have a face value of $155.0 milliod do not carry an explicit interest rate, for $22@illion in cash. The 2012 Notes ¢
payable in October 2012 and are secured by $158i6mof potential future telaprevir milestone pagnts. In the second transaction, we sold
$95.0 million in additional potential future tel@wir milestone payments for a cash payment of $82l&n. The 2012 Notes contain an
embedded derivative related to their potentialyeiapayment or redemption. The separate sale qidtential $95.0 million in future milestone
payments is accounted for as a free-standing dem@venstrument.

In order to account for the 2012 Notes #redsale of the rights to the potential future stidme payments, we estimate the fair value of the
derivative embedded in the 2012 Notes and of the-ftanding derivative associated with the sa&96f0 million in potential future milestone
payments. The models we use to estimate thesediaies require, among other things, estimates daggathe timing and probability of
achieving the milestone events and the appropdiat®unt rates. As we and Janssen have obtainétibadtidata from the telaprevir
registration program and have completed variousities necessary to achieve the potential milestevents, we have updated these
assumptions to reflect the increasing probabilftaahieving these milestone events and the expeictéolg of such events. These updates have
resulted in changes in the estimated fair valuta®fembedded and free-standing derivative and gporaling expenses or gains in each
quarterly period.
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In 2010, we recorded $56.3 million in expesirelated to the September 2009 financial tréiesagprimarily due to increases in the fair
value of the freestanding derivative that resulted from the positegults we obtained from the telaprevir registratprogram in the second ¢
third quarters of 2010 and Janssen's receipt @dlaated assessment from the EMA for the telapM®A in the fourth quarter of 2010. In
2009, we recorded $5.3 million in expense relatetthé September 2009 financial transactions, priynerinterest expense. If Janssen obtains
approval for and launches telaprevir in the Europgaion, we expect that in future periods we wiltir $35.2 million in additional non-cash
expenses related to the two September 2009 finanaisactions. However, the timing of these expsr any gains will depend on a number
of factors, including factors related to the prabgband timing of achieving the relevant mileseavents and to applicable discount rates, and
could result in material expenses or gains in amrigrly period.

Revenue Recognitic

Our revenues are generated primarily thinozajlaborative research, development and/or corniadération agreements. The terms of
these agreements typically include payment to uwmefor more of the following: nonrefundable, fopat license fees; milestone payments;
royalties on product sales. In May 2008, we soldr@hts to receive future royalties from our HI¥s&ts and have been recognizing revenues
in connection with that transaction since the ddtihe sale.

If we are successful in obtaining apprdealtelaprevir in the United States, we expectegih recognizing product revenues on sales of
telaprevir. Recognizing product revenues will regquis to make significant assumptions and estimatggrding, among other things, the mix
of private and governmental payors for telaprewmat ahargebacks, contractual discounts, rebatesnseaind trade and distribution fees that we
expect to offer to certain private institutions ardanizations, various government agencies amdftients needing financial assistance.

Up-front License Fees

We recognize revenues from nonrefundalgdrant license fees related to collaboration agrests, including the $165.0 million we
received from Janssen in 2006 and the $105.0 milie received from Mitsubishi Tanabe in 2009, atraight-line basis over the contracted
or estimated period of performance. The periodesfggmance over which the revenues are recognizggically the period over which the
research and/or development is expected to ocamaaufacturing services are expected to be providlea result, we often are required to
make estimates regarding drug development and cocmtieation timelines for drug candidates beingaleped pursuant to a collaboration
agreement. Because the drug development prockssgyigly and our collaboration agreements typicediyer activities over several years, this
approach often has resulted in the deferral ofiigmt amounts of revenue into future periodsadilition, we periodically evaluate our
estimates in light of changes in the developmesmgfor our drug candidates. Because of the makyg &nd uncertainties associated with the
development of drug candidates, our estimates dagathe period of performance have changed irp&tst and may change in the future. Our
estimates regarding the period of performance utigedanssen collaboration agreement were adjus2@D7, 2009 and 2010, as a result of
changes in the global development plan for teldaprathich contemplates the conduct of certain pygtroval development activities. These
adjustments were made on a prospective basis begiimthe periods in which the changes were idiewti These adjustments resulted in a
decrease in the amount of revenues we recognipedtfie Janssen collaboration by $2.6 million peartar for the first adjustment, by
$1.1 million per quarter for the second adjustnaerd by $1.4 million per quarter for the third adjoent. Any future adjustment in our
estimates of the period of performance under amguotollaborations could result in substantialrdes to the period over which the revenues
from an upfront license fee related to that collaborationr@eognized. For example, if we adjust our estisiateof January 1, 2011 to incre
the period of performance under
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the Janssen agreement by one year, it would ri@saltiecrease in the amount of deferred revenuegewagnize from our Janssen collaboration
of $0.5 million per quarter beginning in the ficgtarter of 2011 and extend the period of time owidich we recognize these deferred revenues.

Milestone Payments

At the inception of each agreement thaluides contingent milestone payments, we evaluatgiven the contingencies underlying each
milestone event are substantive, specifically neing factors such as the scientific and other ribles must be overcome to achieve the
milestone event, as well as the level of successfatt and investment required. If we do not cdasia milestone event to be substantive, the
revenues from the related milestone payment camoécognized when the milestone event is achidugdnust be recognized on a straight-
line basis over the remaining period of performance

Where a substantive milestone event iseagddl in a collaboration arrangement, where we havebligations remaining after achievem
of the milestone and the corresponding paymemasanably assured, we recognize the payment asce&@acause achievement of a
substantive milestone event under a collaboratipaeanent typically requires the completion of a banof activities conducted over a
significant period of time, the expenses relateddioieving the milestone event often are incurnéak po the period in which the milestone
payment is recognized.

The milestone events that we achieved uadedanssen collaboration agreement in 2008 disaited in $55.0 million in revenues were
considered substantive. There are $250.0 milligooitential milestone payments under the Janssexeagmt related to the regulatory filing .
approval by the EMA of an MAA for telaprevir ancettaunch of telaprevir in the European Union. Wpest that when, and if, these milest:
events are achieved, the milestone events willdnsidered substantive and that revenues relateddio milestone event will be recognized in
the quarter in which the corresponding paymeng¢ésonably assured.

Royalty Revenues

In May 2008, we entered into a purchaseagent with Fosamprenavir Royalty, L.P. pursuanthch we sold, and Fosamprenavir
Royalty purchased for a oriere cash payment to us of $160.0 million, our tighreceive royalty payments, net of subroyaltyants payabl
to a third party, arising from sales of Lexiva/Tiebnd Agenerase under our 1993 agreement withdSmithKline. We deferred the
recognition of $155.1 million of revenues in conti@e with this sale. In May 2008, we began recomjzhese deferred revenues under the
units-of-revenue method. Under this method, thewarhof deferred revenues to be recognized as foy@lenues in each period is calculated
by multiplying the following: (1) the net royaltyagments due from GlaxoSmithKline to Fosamprenaviyad®y for the period by (2) the ratio
of the revenues we received from the sale of gintsito HIV royalty payments that we have not yebgnized to the total estimated remaining
net royalties that we expect GlaxoSmithKline to pagamprenavir Royalty over the remaining termhefagreement. Estimating the total
remaining net royalties that GlaxoSmithKline widypto Fosamprenavir Royalty requires the use ofestilie estimates and assumptions,
including estimates regarding the size of the pakmarket for HIV protease inhibitors, the conipie¢ position of Lexiva/Telzir specifically
and HIV protease inhibitors generally with resgeaturrently approved drugs and drugs that maypipecved in the future, and the pricing of
Lexiva/Telzir. Changes to our estimate of the totahaining net royalties that GlaxoSmithKline willy to Fosamprenavir Royalty could ha
material effect on the amount of royalty revenuesrecognize in a particular period.

Prior to May 2008, royalty revenues typligalere recognized based upon actual and estinmetesales of licensed HIV drugs and
generally were recognized in the period the satesmed. We
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reconciled and adjusted for differences betweenahcbyalty revenues and estimated royalty reveituése quarter any differences became
known. These differences were not significant.

Research and Development Exper

All research and development expensesjdiaty amounts funded through research and developoodlaborations, are expensed as
incurred. Research and development expenses angrisech of costs incurred in performing research @akelopment activities, including
salary and benefits; stock-based compensation sgp&aboratory supplies and other direct expercsagractual services, including clinical
trial and pharmaceutical development costs; exgeassgociated with the commercial supply investrireatir drug candidates; and
infrastructure costs, including facilities costslatepreciation.

When third-party service providers' billitegms do not coincide with our period-end, weraagired to make estimates of our obligations
to those third parties, including clinical trialdapharmaceutical development costs, contractuaicger costs and costs for commercial supply
of our drug candidates, incurred in a given acdognperiod and record accruals at the end of thiegeWe base our estimates on our
knowledge of the research and development progrsengices performed for the period, past historyrétated activities and the expected
duration of the third-party service contract, whapglicable.

Commercial Supplies

Over the past several years we have indugignificant costs related to the manufactureoofimercial supplies of telaprevir. We also are
beginning to incur costs related to the manufactfitommercial supplies of VX-770, although thesgénbeen considerably less than the costs
related to the manufacture of commercial supplfdelaprevir. After we receive data from a Phas#irdcal trial of a drug candidate,
determining whether or not to continue to clasaifyof the commercial supply costs related to thraly candidate as research and development
expenses or to capitalize some of them as invelenives significant judgments. We capitalize int@ies produced in preparation for
potentially initiating sales of a drug candidateantihe drug candidate is considered to have agrigihability of regulatory approval and the
costs to manufacture the drug candidate are exgppéxtee recoverable through sales of the drugeterchining whether or not to capitalize
such inventory, we evaluate, among other factafsrination regarding the drug candidate's safetyefficacy, the status of regulatory
submissions and communications with regulatory @itibs and the outlook for commercial sales, idatg the existence of current or
anticipated competitive drugs and the availabiityeimbursement. In addition, we evaluate risksamted with manufacturing the drug
candidate and the remaining shelf life of the inaen After we begin capitalizing inventory, we ¢imue to monitor these factors and, if there
are significant negative developments regardinglting candidate, we could be required to impaivipiesly capitalized costs.

While we believe that the development ati¢ig and clinical trial data to date have reduttedrisks associated with obtaining marketing
approval for telaprevir, we expensed all of ourtswslated to the manufacture of commercial suppifetelaprevir in 2010 because of the
inherent risks of drug development, including uteiety about the regulatory approval process. Weeekto begin capitalizing the costs of our
telaprevir commercial inventory in 2011. We exptbett most of the costs of the initial commercighglies of telaprevir that will be available
and when, we obtain approval for telaprevir willbalready been expensed. As a result, we expechémufacturing costs for telaprevir
included in our cost of revenues initially to bev|decause most of these costs will have beendedas research and development expen:
prior periods, and to increase as we begin tosedintory that is produced after we begin capitatjizhe costs of our telaprevir commercial
inventory.
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Business Combinatior

In March 2009, we acquired ViroChem for @10million in cash and common stock with a fairked value of $290.6 million. We
assigned the value of the consideration transféoedquire the business to the tangible asset&dandfiable intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, on the basis of their fairues at the date of acquisition. The difference betwthe purchase price and the fair value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed was aiddatgoodwill. This goodwill related to the potahsynergies from the possible development
of combination therapies involving telaprevir ahd ficquired drug candidates. The allocations recboth our consolidated balance sheet as of
the acquisition date included $525.9 million ofingible assets related topnecess research and development and a $162.5mrdléferred ta
liability. As of December 31, 2010, our consolightelance sheet included $518.7 million of intafeydssets related to process research a
development and a $160.3 million deferred tax ligbi

The intangible assets acquired were ingBscesearch and development assets relating tinubecandidates being developed by
ViroChem, primarily VX-222 and VX-759, each of whics a HCV polymerase inhibitor that was in Phaséirfical development at the date of
acquisition. VX-222 and VX-759 had estimated faifues on the acquisition date of $412.9 million &&@85.8 million, respectively. In
addition, we considered ViroChem's other clinicalgicandidates and determined that VCH-286, Vira€kdead HIV drug candidate, had an
estimated fair value on the acquisition date o2$illion, based on development costs through tdupisition date, and that the other clinical
drug candidates had no fair value because thecaliahd nonclinical data for those drug candiddidsiot support further development as of
the acquisition date. We also considered ViroCh@m@slinical programs and other technologies andrdened that because of uncertainties
related to the safety, efficacy and commercial Nitgtof the potential drug candidates, market dpants would not ascribe value to those
assets. Market participants relevant to the armlysihe fair value of drug candidates are thirdipainvolved in the development and
commercialization of drug candidates.

We assessed the fair value of assets,dimguntangible assets such as in-process reseactievelopment, using a variety of methods,
including present-value models that are based opdtiple probability-weighted scenarios involvirtgetdevelopment and potential
commercialization of the acquired drug candidaié® present-value models used to estimate thedhies of VX-222 and VX-759 required
us to make significant assumptions regarding thienages that market participants would make in eatihg a drug candidate, including the
probability of successfully completing clinicalal$ and obtaining regulatory approval to marketdthey candidate, the timing of and the
expected costs to complete in-process researcdaredopment projects, future cash flows from poétiirug sales, which are based on
estimates of the sales price of the drug, the namibgatients that will be diagnosed and treatedi @ competitive position in the marketple
and appropriate discount rates. The estimated/&dire ascribed to VX-222 and VX-759 was based erestimated fair value that would be
ascribed to each of these drug candidates by aanhpakticipant that acquired both drug candidatessingle transaction. The assumed
probability of advancing VX-222 and VX-759 througarious phases of development reflects the undetstg among market participants that
most drug candidates that enter Phase 2 cliniieds tire not ultimately approved for commerciaés&Vhile, on the date of acquisition, V222
and VX-759 were each at a similar stage of develgmve attributed a significantly higher valueAs-222 than to VX-759 because the
clinical and nonclinical data from the VX-222 reggraprogram was significantly more promising thae tlinical and nonclinical data from the
VX-759 research program. In addition, the fair wa&stimate incorporates our determination that kketgarticipant would not be likely to
continue development of VX-759 unless future dadanfclinical trials or nonclinical studies of VX22 resulted in a delay or discontinuatior
the VX-222 development program. Projections ofdheation and cost of nonclinical studies and chhicials vary significantly over the life of
a project depending on developments in the prograen time, but in order to estimate the fair markadtie on the acquisition date we made
following
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assumptions from the perspective of market paditip regarding the potential timing and costs tetip VX-222 and/or VX-759. We
assumed if a drug candidate were successfully dpedlin the United States it would take approxitydiee to nine years from the date of the
acquisition in order to obtain marketing approvaladdition, for the valuation, we assumed an eatnof cost from acquisition to launch to
develop a drug candidate that was within a rand&6D million to $700 million. Future cash flowsany, would not be generated until a drug
candidate completed all required phases of clirtitalls and obtained regulatory approval. The aslusted discount rate for each of these
projects was approximately 28%.

ViroChem's in-process research and devetopmssets were recorded at fair value and acabémtas indefinite-lived intangible assets.
We will maintain each of these assets on our cicteste@ld balance sheet until either the researcldaadlopment project underlying it is
completed or the asset becomes impaired. If we Emp project, we will amortize the carrying vabfehe related intangible asset as part of
cost of revenues over the remaining estimatedfithe asset. If we determine that a project hasine impaired or we abandon a project, we
will write down the carrying value of the relatedédngible asset to its fair value and will takerapairment charge in the period in which the
impairment occurs. In order to complete an acquiesgarch and development project, the related chndidate must be evaluated in later-
stage clinical trials, which are subject to altleé risks and uncertainties associated with theldgment of pharmaceutical products. In 2011,
we expect to obtain data from an ongoing Phasdirdiaal trial evaluating telaprevir/VX-22Based combination therapy. If the fair value of
of these drug candidates, and in particular VX-2#&,omes impaired as the result of unfavorableysafeefficacy data from any ongoing or
future clinical trial or because of any other imf@tion regarding the prospects of successfully ldgugg or commercializing the drug
candidate, we could incur significant charges aglriod in which the impairment occurs. VX-759 ethis considered a backup compound to
VX-222, could be impaired by data pertaining to plo¢ential successful development of VX-222, whighuld reduce the likelihood that we
will advance the development of VX-759. In suchrstance, we could record significant charges éngériod in which that data is analyzed
and the determination is made.

We test the ViroChem intangible assetsrfgrairment on an annual basis as of October 1 nao@ frequently if indicators are present or
changes in circumstance suggest that impairmentaxiay. Events that could indicate impairment aigher an interim impairment assessm
include the receipt of additional clinical or nanatal data regarding a drug candidate or a paéyttompetitive drug candidate, changes in
the clinical development program for a drug cantdida new information regarding potential salesgsifor the drug. In connection with each
annual impairment assessment and any interim immgaiit assessment, we compare the fair value ofsthet as of the date of the assessment
with the carrying value of the asset on our conlstéd balance sheet. The fair values of VX-222\&Xd759 are estimated using the probab
weighted present-value models described abovéinglupdated assumptions and estimates regarldengtatus of the development programs
for the drug candidates, the potential future dlshs from sales of drugs, and appropriate discoat#s.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, we deterrdittee fair value of VCH-286 was zero, resultingifi7.2 million impairment charge. In
connection with this impairment charge, we als@rded an adjustment of $2.2 million to the defemeedliability. In the fourth quarters of
2010 and 2009, we evaluated VX-222, VX-759 andgivedwill related to the ViroChem transaction foparment. No impairment was found
for VX-222, VX-759 or the goodwiill.

Restructuring Expens

We record liabilities associated with rasturing activities based on estimates of fair gdtluthe period the liabilities are incurred. The
liability for accrued restructuring expense of $illion at December 31, 2010 is related to thatipn of our facility in Kendall Square,
Cambridge,
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Massachusetts that we are not occupying and dimtgotd to occupy. This liability is calculated bypdying our best estimate of the net amount
of our ongoing obligation under the Kendall Squaese. We use a discounted cash-flow analysisltolete the amount of this liability. The
probability-weighted discounted cash-flow analysibased on management's assumptions and estiofatesongoing lease obligations,
including contractual rental commitments, build-oammitments and building operating costs, andregts of income from subleases, based
on the term and timing of the subleases. We didcihanestimated cash flows using a discount ratgppfoximately 10%. These cash flow
estimates are reviewed and may be adjusted in gubseperiods. Adjustments are based, among dilrggst, on management's assessment of
changes in factors underlying the estimates. Becausestimate of the liability includes the apation of a discount rate to reflect the time-
value of money, the estimate will increase sim@yaaesult of the passage of time, even if all othetors remain unchanged. Our estimates of
our restructuring liability have changed in thetpagad it is possible that our assumptions andgnedéis will change in the future, resulting in
additional adjustments to the amount of the esgohéiability. The effect of any such adjustmentslddbe material. We will review our
assumptions and judgments related to the leaseicasting on at least a quarterly basis until tren#all Square lease is terminated or expires,
and make whatever modifications we believe are ssang, based on our judgments, to reflect any ddhogcumstances.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

We measure the compensation cost of staskd compensation at the grant date, based oaithafue of the award, including estimated
forfeitures, and we recognize that cost as an esepestably over the associated employee servidedyavhich generally is the vesting period
of the equity award, or the derived service pefadawards with market conditions. For our awardhywerformance conditions, we make
estimates regarding the likelihood of satisfactibthe performance condition that affect the penodr which the expense is recognized. We
calculate the fair value of stock options and shawachased pursuant to our employee stock purgiaseising the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The Black-Scholes option pricing rebequires us to make certain assumptions anch&ss concerning our stock price
volatility, the rate of return of risk-free investmis, the expected term of the awards, and owipatéed dividends. In determining the amount
of expense to be recorded, we also are requiregldrrise judgment to estimate forfeiture ratesafeards, based on the probability that
employees will complete the required service peribdctual forfeitures differ significantly fromun estimates, if any of our estimates or
assumptions prove incorrect, or if the likelihoddiohievement of a performance condition changesresults could be materially affected.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2010/2009 2009/2008
Comparison Comparison
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
2010 2009 2008 (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Revenue: $143,37( $101,88¢ $175,50: $ 41,48 41%$ (73,61%) (42%
Operating
costs and
expense: 839,447 71590. 638,21. 123,54¢ 17%  77,68¢ 12%
Non-
operating
loss (gain]  58,54¢  28,16¢ (2,857 30,38: 108% 31,02 nle
Net loss $754,62¢ $642,17¢ $459,85. $ 112,44¢ 18%$ 182,32 40%

Net Loss

The increased net loss in 2010 as compar2809 was the result of significant increasesuncosts and expenses, partially offset by an
increase in our revenues. The increase in our tipgreosts and expenses during 2010 as comparZ@aD®was primarily due to increased
expenses for our commercial organization and irsg@@nvestment in commercial supplies of telaprevir

The increased net loss in 2009 as compar2808 was the result of a significant increaseunoperating costs and expenses combined
with a significant decrease in our revenues. Owelorevenues in 2009 were primarily the resultwf @cognition of milestone revenues in
2008 for which there were no corresponding milest@venues in 2009. The increased expenses includeshsed operating expenses related
to the growth in size of our workforce and to catetstage clinical programs and increased stockebesmpensation expense.

Net Loss Per Shai

Our net loss for 2010 was $3.77 per basitdiluted common share compared to a net l0s8d09 of $3.71 per basic and diluted
common share. Our net loss per basic and dilutedraan share increased in 2010 compared to 2009ezsult of an 18% increase in net loss,
largely offset by an increase in the number ofbasid diluted weighted-average common shares odlisigfrom 173.3 million shares in 2009
to 200.4 million shares in 2010. The increase éwighted-average number of common shares outstamd2010 compared to 2009 resulted
primarily from the equity offering we completed@cember 2009 and the exchanges and conversians df75% convertible senior
subordinated notes due 2013, or 2013 Notes, immman stock during 2009 and 2010.

Our net loss for 2009 was $3.71 per basitdiluted common share compared to a net l0s8d08 of $3.27 per basic and diluted
common share. Our net loss per basic and dilutedran share increased in 2009 compared to 2008ezsult of a 40% increase in net loss,
partially offset by an increase in the number dfiband diluted weighted-average common sharesamai®ig from 140.6 million shares in
2008 to 173.3 million shares in 2009. The incréagbe weighted-average number of common sharetanding in 2009 compared to 2008
resulted primarily from the equity offering we coleied in February 2009, the ViroChem acquisitioMiarch 2009 and the exchanges of the
2013 Notes into common stock during 2009.

Stock-based Compensation and Certain Other Expenses

The comparisons of our operating costsexmnses and other losses in the three years &wtwinber 31, 2010 reflect changes in our
levels of stock-based compensation expense argiicether expenses during the periods. Our stoskdaompensation expense has increase
due to the expansion of our workforce and increasgeénses related to equity awards that incorppetermance-based vesting acceleration.

65




Table of Contents

In 2010 and 2009, we incurred $56.3 milleord $5.3 million, respectively, in non-cash exgsn®lated to financial transactions that we
completed in September 2009. Most of these non-eagénses in 2010 related to changes in the faiewvaf derivative instruments associated
with the September 2009 financial transactionsltieg from changes in our estimates due to oueipg®f positive data from the telaprevir
registration program and Janssen's receipt of a@ted assessment from the EMA for the telapreAiAM

Our costs and expenses in 2010, 2009 add 2@luded the following:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Stock-based compensation expel $91,12¢« $86,72: $ 57,98
Restructuring expens 1,501 6,24( 4,32¢
Acquisitior-related expenses (ViroChel — 7,798 —
September 2009 financial transaction expe 56,291 5,312 —
Intangible asset impairment charg — 7,20C —
Loss on exchanges of convertible nc — 18,13} —
Revenues
2010/2009 2009/2008
2010 2009 2008 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentage
Royalty revenue $ 30,24 $ 28,32( $ 37,487 $ 1,92« 7% $ (9,169 (24)%
Collaborative revenue 113,12¢ 73,56¢ 138,02 39,557 54% (64,45) (471)%
Total revenue $143,37( $101,88¢ $175,50: $41,481 41% $ (73,619 (42)%

Our total revenues in recent periods haresisted primarily of collaborative revenues, whigtve fluctuated significantly on a quarterly
basis. This variability has been due to, amongrdtiiags: the July 2009 amendment of our collahonsdgreement with Mitsubishi Tanabe,
which provided for an up-front payment that is lgeiecognized over the expected period of performamaler that contract; the variable level
of net reimbursement we have received for the telapdevelopment program from Janssen; increaseehiues in 2010 from services we
provided to our telaprevir collaborators through third-party manufacturing network; and the timiofgrecognition of significant milestone
revenues. If we are successful in obtaining appravaelaprevir by May 23, 2011, the FDA's tardete to review our NDA submission, we
expect to begin receiving product revenues frorassaf telaprevir in the United States in mid-2011.

Collaborative Revenues
The table presented below is a summarewémues from collaborative arrangements for 200092nd 2008:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Collaborative revenue

Janssel $ 30,75( $54,64( $120,12:
Mitsubishi Tanabt 81,86¢ 18,71: 9,857
Other 50¢& 21¢€ 8,047

Total collaborative revenus $113,12¢ $ 73,56¢ $138,02:
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Our revenues from the Janssen collaborati@ach period consisted of:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Amortized portion of u-front paymen $12,42¢ $20,19¢ $ 22,44(
Milestone revenue — — 55,00(
Net reimbursement for telaprevir developm
costs 9,24t 27,71 42,62,
Reimbursement for manufacturing servi 9,077 6,73: 55
Total collaborative revenues attributable to 1
Janssen collaboratic $30,75( $54,64( $120,12:

We have not recognized milestone reventges Janssen since 2008, but will recognize milestevenues from Janssen in 2011. The
milestone event under the Janssen agreement rédetied filing of the MAA for telaprevir was achied in the first quarter of 2011 and is
expected to result in $50.0 million of collaboratirevenues. This milestone payment will be appteeard the redemption of $50.0 million of
our outstanding 2012 Notes as is required pursiaahie terms of the 2012 Notes. In 2011, it is fmsghat we will achieve one or more of the
additional $200.0 million in potential Janssen titge payments related to the approval and lauhtHaprevir in the European Union. We
obligated to apply the proceeds from the next ¥1@llion of these milestone payments toward thderaption of the remaining $105.0 milli
of 2012 Notes. The final $95.0 million in milestop@yments related to the potential launch of t&aipin the European Union are to be paid
by Janssen directly to the purchaser of these toitegpayments.

We adjusted our estimates regarding thegaf performance under the Janssen agreemehe ifirst quarter of 2010 due to changes in
the global development plan for telaprevir, whicdmiemplates the conduct of certain post-approvetld@ment activities, including a clinical
trial of twice-daily dosing of telaprevir and ardttal trial in patients co-infected with HIV and NCThis adjustment, together with a similar
adjustment that we made in the third quarter of208sulted in decreases in annual revenues frerartiortized portion of the Janssen upfront
payment. Our net reimbursements for telaprevir tgreent costs have been decreasing on an annusldggsuse the proportion of the
development activities that Janssen is conductirteuthe telaprevir development program has bemedsing. The decreases in our net
reimbursements for development costs have beemlpadffset by increases in revenues related touf@cturing services provided to Janssen
through our third-party manufacturing network.

In the third quarter of 2009, we entereld imn amendment to our license, development anananialization agreement with Mitsubishi
Tanabe that resulted in a $105.0 million paymergmtihe amendment was executed. We classified dlyiment as deferred revenues and are
recognizing it over the expected period of perfanoeafor our obligations under the amended agreerre8010 and 2009, we recognized
$38.2 million and $15.9 million, respectively, @venues from Mitsubishi Tanabe related to the $l61lion payment. In 2010, we also
recognized $43.6 million of revenues related to nfacturing services provided to Mitsubishi Tana®tigh our third-party manufacturing
network.

Royalty Revenue

Our royalty revenues relate to sales ofHhé protease inhibitors Lexiva/Telzir and Agenegdsy GlaxoSmithKline. In May 2008, we st
our right to receive future royalties from Glaxo8miline with respect to Lexiva/Telzir and Agenerasecluding the portion allocated to pay a
subroyalty on these net sales to a third partyetarn for a one-time cash payment of $160.0 mmillim May 2008, we deferred the recognition
of $155.1 million of revenues from this sale. We egcognizing these deferred revenues over thedéour agreement with GlaxoSmithKline
under the units-of-revenue method. We will contitmeacognize royalty revenues equal to the amotfitite third-party subroyalty and an
offsetting royalty expense for the third-party sapalty payment. In 2011, we expect to recognize as
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royalty revenues a portion of the remaining defénesenues from the sale of the royalty stream giladull amount of the third-party
subroyalty.

If Janssen is successful in obtaining aygrtor telaprevir, it will pay us royalties on salof telaprevir in Janssen's territories. Jankasn
obtained accelerated assessment for its MAA faptelvir and is seeking to obtain approval for andhth telaprevir in the European Union in
the second half of 2011. We will not receive anyatties from Mitsubishi Tanabe on sales of telaprev

Costs and Expenses

2010/2009 2009/2008
2010 2009 2008 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentage
Royalty expense $ 12,73C $ 14,20 $ 15,68¢ $ (1,472 (10)%$ (1,489 (9)%

Research an

development expens 637,41¢ 550,27 516,91: 87,14 16% 33,36: 6%
Sales, general ar

administrative

expense: 187,80 130,19: 101,29( 57,60¢ 44%  28,90: 29%
Restructuring expens 1,501 6,24( 4,32¢ (4,739 (76)% 1,91¢ 44%
Intangible asset

impairment charge — 7,20( — (7,200 (100)%  7,20C n/e
Acquisitior-related

expense — 7,79% — (7,799 (100%  7,79: n/e

Total costs and

expense: $839,44° $715,90: $638,21: $123,54¢ 17% $ 77,68¢ 12%

Our operating costs and expenses primeeifte to our research and development expensesuarsdles, general and administrative
expenses. Our research and development expensedéaw increasing due to the expanding scope igftest related to the development of
and regulatory submissions for our clinical drugdidates and increasing investments in commerafglges for telaprevir. Our sales, general
and administrative expenses have been increasing &screase our headcount and expand our capedilit preparation for the potential
commercial launch of telaprevir.

Research and Development Exper

2010/200¢ 2009/200¢

2010 2009 2008 Comparison Comparison

(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentage:
Research expens $189,27. $174,26° $165,38: $ 15,00¢ 9% $ 8,88¢ 5%
Development expens: 448,14; 376,000 351,53. 72,13¢ 19% 24,47¢ 7%

Total research and
development expens  $637,41¢ $550,27: $516,91: $87,14: 16% $ 33,36 6%

Our research and development expensedie@hternal and external costs incurred for redeand development of our drug candidates,
including telaprevir and VX-770. We do not assigm mternal costs, such as salary and benefitskdtased compensation expense, laboratory
supplies and infrastructure costs, to individualgdcandidates, because the employees within oeares and development groups typically are
deployed across multiple research and developnregt@ams. These internal costs are significanthatgnethan our external costs, such as the
costs of services provided to us by clinical resea@rganizations and other outsourced researctthwie do allocate by individual drug
development program. All research and developmestsdor our drug candidates are expensed as edturr

To date, we have incurred in excess of $4lidn in research and development expenses &dsdowith drug discovery and development.
The successful development of our drug candidategyhly uncertain and subject to a number of rigk@ddition, the duration of clinical tria
may vary substantially according to the type, caxipy and novelty of the drug candidate and thealig indication being targeted. The FDA
and comparable agencies in foreign countries impabstantial requirements on the introduction efdlpeutic pharmaceutical products,
typically requiring lengthy
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and detailed laboratory and clinical testing prazed, sampling activities and other costly and tomesuming procedures. Data obtained from
nonclinical and clinical activities at any steptlie testing process may be adverse and lead tordisaation or redirection of development
activities. Data obtained from these activitiepalse susceptible to varying interpretations, witichld delay, limit or prevent regulatory
approval. The duration and cost of discovery, nioiedl studies and clinical trials may vary sigo#itly over the life of a project and are
difficult to predict. Therefore, accurate and megfil estimates of the ultimate costs to bring duurg candidates to market are not available.

Over the three year period ended Decembg?®L0, costs related to telaprevir have represettie largest portion of the development
costs for our clinical drug candidates. We have gleted the registration program for telaprevir, éxpect to continue to incur telaprevir
development costs in connection with seeking regofeapproval for telaprevir and conducting additibclinical trials. We expect to begin
generating revenues and cash flows from saledaygrvir in 2011. If our registration program fokV770 is successful and completed on
currently projected timelines, we could submit &dANand an MAA for VX-770 in the second half of 2010ur other drug candidates are less
advanced and, as a result, any estimates regatdirglopment and regulatory timelines for these adarglidates are highly subjective and
subject to change. We cannot make a meaningfuhastiwhen, if ever, these drug candidates, inctuthie drug candidates we acquired from
ViroChem, will generate revenues and cash flows.

Research Expenses

2010/2009 2009/2008
2010 2009 2008 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)

Research Expense
Salary and benefil $ 67,50¢ $ 63,42. $ 55,75¢ $ 4,08¢ 6% $ 7,667 14%
Stock-based
compensation expen 23,49¢ 23,80: 18,76¢ (30¢€) (D% 5,03¢ 27%
Laboratory supplies ar

other direct expens¢ 29,14¢ 28,13¢ 24,28¢ 1,00¢ 1% 3,852 16%
Contractual service 9,881 5,40¢ 8,72t 4,47¢ 83% (3,319 (38)%
Infrastructure cost 59,24 53,50: 57,85 5,742 11% (4,352 (8)%

Total research
expense! $189,27. $174,26° $165,38. $ 15,00¢ 9% $ 8,88¢ 5%

Over the past three years we have mairdadargubstantial investment in research activitigls ehanges in various categories of expense
resulting in a 9% increase in research expense@lf as compared to 2009 and a 5% increase inrohsegpenses in 2009 as compared to
2008. We expect to continue to invest in our rede@rograms in an effort to identify additional grecandidates.

Development Expenses

2010/200¢ 2009/200¢
2010 2009 2008 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentage

Development Expense
Salary and benefil $108,61° $ 98,83( $ 78,947 $ 9,78 10% $ 19,88! 25%
Stocl-basec
compensation expen 41,70: 40,32¢ 27,38( 1,37¢ 3%  12,94¢ 47%
Laboratory supplies ani

other direct expenst¢ 33,23 27,68: 30,28! 5,54¢ 20% (2,599 (9%
Contractual service 113,03: 111,57¢ 121,06: 1,452 1% (9,489 (8%
Commercial supply

investmen 65,90: 21,59: 17,55¢ 44,317 20%% 4,03 23%
Infrastructure cost 85,66( 75,99¢ 76,30: 9,661 13% (309 0%

Total development
expense: $448,14. $376,000 $351,53: $72,13¢ 19% $ 24,47¢ 7%

69




Table of Contents

The increase in our development expensgsgld010 as compared to 2009 is due to a large@se in our commercial supply investment
and increases across most other categories ofemaetabment expenses. The majority of the increaseii commercial supply investment was
related to increasing our inventory of telapremipreparation for the potential commercial launttetaprevir in mid-2011 and a portion of the
increase was related to manufacturing servicesnbairovided to Mitsubishi Tanabe and Janssen giraur third-party manufacturing
network. Our development expenses excluding oumeeraial supply investment increased by $27.8 nmilliar 8%, in 2010 compared to 20
principally due to increased salary and benefitiafrastructure costs. We expect that we will beedo begin to capitalize our investment in
commercial supplies of telaprevir during 2011, #mat as a result the commercial supply investmefitgécted in our development expenses
decrease significantly in 2011 as compared to 2010.

Our development expenses increased by $2dlibn, or 7%, in 2009 as compared to 2008 priflgaas a result of increased expenses
related to our workforce partially offset by deesiin our contractual services expenses.

Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

2010/200¢ 2009/200¢
2010 2009 2008 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Sales, general and
administrative expenst $187,80( $130,19: $101,29( $57,60¢ 44%$ 28,90: 2%

Sales, general and administrative expeinsesased substantially in each of 2010 and 20@®agared to the preceding year as a res|
increases in workforce expenses as we preparbdgudtential commercial launch of telaprevir. IL@Qour sales, general and administrative
expenses increased from $35.6 million in the fitsdrter to $62.5 million in the fourth quarter. \&gect that sales, general and administrative
expenses will increase significantly in 2011 as pared to 2010, as the effect of the expansion oEommercial organization during 2010 is
reflected in the sales, general and administraipenses over a full fiscal year. In addition, wpezt to continue increasing the number of
employees in our commercial organization and exfgertcur substantial additional external costsannection with the commercial launch of
telaprevir.

Royalty Expense

Royalty expenses decreased $1.5 millior},086, in 2010 compared to 2009. Royalty expensesedsed $1.5 million, or 9%, in 2009
compared to 2008. Royalty expenses primarily refage subroyalty payable to a third party on négsaf Lexiva/Telzir and Agenerase. The
subroyalty expense offsets a corresponding amdunlyalty revenues. We expect to continue to recagthis subroyalty as an expense in
future periods.

Restructuring Expens

As of December 31, 2010, our lease resirirg liability was $29.6 million. In 2010, 2009 &2008, we recorded restructuring expense of
$1.5 million, $6.2 million and $4.3 million, resgaely. In 2010, 2009 and 2008, we made cash paysnar$14.8 million, $14.9 million and
$14.0 million, respectively, against the accruepesse and received $8.8 million, $8.6 million a8dbdillion, respectively, in sublease rental
payments. During 2011, we expect to make additioash payments of $14.8 million against the accexgnse and to receive $9.3 million in
sublease rental payments.
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Acquisitior-related Expenses

We incurred $7.8 million of expenses in 2@® connection with our acquisition of ViroChemgluding $5.7 million in transaction
expenses and $2.1 million related to a restruagupinViroChem's operations that we undertook in@B0order to focus ViroChem's activities
on its HCV assets. We did not have correspondiggiattion-related expenses in 2010 or 2008.

Impairment of Intangible Asse

In 2009, we recorded an expense of $7.Romiln connection with an impairment of the intévlg assets related to ViroChem's
development program for VCH-286, a drug candidatdlfe treatment of HIV infection. This intangildsset was estimated to have a fair value
on the acquisition date of $7.2 million, based emedopment costs through the acquisition datehdrfourth quarter of 2009, we determined
that VCH-286 was impaired and recorded an impaitrabarge of $7.2 million.

Non-operating Items
Interest Income

Interest income decreased by $3.1 mill@§1%, to $2.0 million in 2010 from $5.0 million 2009. The decrease in 2010 compared to
2009 was the result of lower portfolio yields in1®B0periods as compared to 2009. Our cash, cashadenis and marketable securities yielded
approximately 0% on an annual basis in 2010 congp@rapproximately 1% on an annual basis in 20@@rést income decreased by
$11.3 million, or 69%, to $5.0 million in 2009 fro#16.3 million in 2008. The decrease was a resutiwer portfolio yields during 2009 as
compared to 2008.

Interest Expens

Interest expense increased by $6.1 millko6%, to $19.3 million in 2010 from $13.2 milidn 2009. The increase was the result of
interest expense related to the 2012 Notes théssued in September 2009 and the 3.35% convesdsi®r subordinated notes due 2015, or
2015 Notes, we issued in September 2010, partidiibet by a decrease in interest expense relatedrt@013 Notes. In 2011, we expect tha
will have $13.4 million in interest expense relatedhe 2015 Notes and that we will continue talimienputed interest expense related to our
2012 Notes.

Interest expense decreased by $0.3 milbo2%, to $13.2 million in 2009 from $13.5 milliam 2008 as a result of a decrease in interest
expenses related to our 2013 Notes from $12.0anillh 2008 to $8.8 million in 2009 partially offdey the interest expenses in 2009 related to
the 2012 Notes that we issued in September 2009.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

In 2010 and 2009, we recorded losses of2illlion and $1.8 million, respectively, in coratien with the embedded and free-standing
derivatives associated with our September 2009 i transactions. The losses in 2010 were prailyilue to adjustments we made during
2010 to estimates regarding the timing and incigasebability of achieving the milestones under laassen agreement based on the positive
data from our telaprevir registration program aads3en's receipt of accelerated assessment froeMAefor the telaprevir MAA. These
losses also included time-value-of-money adjustsemthe estimated fair value of the free-standiegvative. If Janssen obtains approval for
and launches telaprevir in the European Union, xpeet that we will incur $35.2 million in additioh@on-cash expenses related to the
September 2009 financial transactions. We expectrthjority of these additional expenses to be ceftas changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments and a portion of these #altil expenses to be reflected as interest expense.
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Loss on Exchange of Convertible Subordinated N

In 2009, we incurred non-cash charges 8tBnillion in connection with the exchanges of $2bmillion in aggregate principal amount
of the 2013 Notes for 11.6 million newly-issuedrgsaof our common stock. The charges are basedeovatue of the additional 542,937
shares of common stock that we issued in excetteafumber of shares of common stock into whicth 2013 Notes were convertible prior
the exchanges. There were no corresponding expen2640 or 2008.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have incurred operating losses sincerm@ption and these operating losses have beegaisiog over the past several years. We have
financed our operations principally through pulalid private offerings of our equity and debt sdims] strategic collaborative agreements that
include research and/or development funding, dgwaént milestones and royalties on the sales ofymtsd strategic sales of assets or
businesses, financial transactions, investmenmnirgcand proceeds from the issuance of common stoddrwur employee benefit plans. We
expect that we will incur substantial expensesrdeoto seek approval for and commercialize teldprghile at the same time continuing to
pursue diversified research and development efforteur other drug candidates. In 2011, we expebiegin to receive cash flows from sales
of telaprevir.

At December 31, 2010, we had cash, casivalgats and marketable securities of $1.0 billiwhjch was a decrease of $253.5 million
from $1.3 billion at December 31, 2009. The deazesas primarily the result of cash expendituresweele in 2010 related to, among other
things, research and development expenses and galesal and administrative expenses, partiafigepby the $391.6 million in net proceeds
we received from our September 2010 issuance dl@& Notes. Capital expenditures for property equipment during the year ended
December 31, 2010 were $38.1 million.

We had $155.0 million in aggregate printgraount of 2012 Notes outstanding on DecembeRB10. The 2012 Notes mature on
October 31, 2012, subject to earlier mandatorymeidsn as specified milestone events under ouabolation with Janssen are achieved prior
to October 31, 2012. In September 2009, we alsbaal rights to receive an additional $95.0 millmfrpotential future milestone payments
that we expect to receive from Janssen for theclawan telaprevir in the European Union. As a resiithese transactions, the $250.0 million of
potential milestone payments from Janssen relatéiokt filing, approval and launch of telaprevitlie European Union, if and when earned,
will not provide us with liquidity in the future eept to the extent that they fund the redemptio®1&5.0 million of our 2012 Notes. In the first
quarter of 2011, a milestone event under our cotiaion with Janssen was achieved. Pursuant ttethes of the 2012 Notes, we are required
to redeem the first $50.0 million of 2012 Noteshatite proceeds from this milestone payment.

At December 31, 2010, we had outstandir@@$%*million in aggregate principal amount of 2N&tes. The 2015 Notes bear interest a
rate of 3.35% per annum, and we are required teersakni-annual interest payments on the outstargingipal balance of the 2015 Notes on
April 1 and October 1 of each year, beginning omil&l 2011. The 2015 Notes will mature on Octobe?015. The 2015 Notes are
convertible, at the option of the holder, into stammon stock at a price equal to approximately 83l@er share, subject to adjustment. In
January 2011, we entered into a credit agreemanptiovides for a $100.0 million revolving credatflity.

We expect to continue to make significaweistments in our development pipeline, particylarlour effort to prepare for potential
registration, regulatory approval and commerciahtzh of telaprevir and VX-770, and in clinical tsidor our other drug candidates. We also
expect to continue to make a substantial investrimesitug discovery research. The adequacy of oailahbe funds to meet our future operat
and capital requirements will depend on many factimicluding the timing of regulatory approvals fur late-stage drug candidates, the timing
and levels of product revenues
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generated by any drug that is approved, the nunbbeadth, costs and prospects of our discoverydamdlopment programs, and our decisions
regarding manufacturing and commercial investments.

We believe that our current cash, cashwedgmts and marketable securities will be suffitterfund our operations for at least the next
twelve months. If we meet our expectations for apal and sales of telaprevir, we believe we willjipegenerating earnings as a cashflow
positive company during 2012. We may seek to bomsmnking capital if such financing is availableus. The $100.0 million credit facility is
initially unsecured, but is subject to a numbeaffifmative and negative covenants, including ailiify covenant that requires us to maintain
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiemod than $400.0 million in domestic accountsvéfbreach any of these covenants and it
results in an event of default, upon the eventafédit we would grant a security interest in arhsfer to an account controlled by the lender
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitigsgha margined value of $100.0 million. The credjteement terminates on July 6, 2012.
Although we do not have any plans to do so in #&rterm, we may raise additional capital througblig offerings or private placements of
our securities, securing new collaborative agredgsenother methods of financing. Any such capi@hsactions may or may not be similar to
transactions in which we have engaged in the péstwill continue to manage our capital structurd smconsider all financing opportunities,
whenever they may occur, that could strengtheriang-term liquidity profile. There can be no assuw@that any such financing opportunities
will be available on acceptable terms, if at dladequate funds are not available, we may be redtd curtail significantly or discontinue one
or more of our research, drug discovery or devekmprograms or attempt to obtain funds througaregements that may require us to
relinquish rights to certain of our technologiesdang candidates.

CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS AND OBLIGATIONS

The first part of the following table sétsth commitments and obligations that have beennded on our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2010. Certain other obligations amdnositments, while not required under GAAP to beiied in the consolidated balance
sheet, may have a material impact on liquidity. Wdge presented these items, in the remaining réwsedable below in order to present a
more complete picture of our financial position digdidity.

2011 2012-2013  2014-2015 2016 and later Total
(in thousands)

Commitments and Obligations Recorded on {
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31

2010:
Convertible senior subordinated notes

(due October 201—principal paymen $ — 3 — $ 400,00 $ — $ 400,00(
Convertible senior subordinated notes

(due October 201—interest payment 3,46: — — — 3,46:
Secured notes due October 2( 136,99: — — — 136,99:
Liability related to sale of potential future

milestone payment 77,79¢ — — — 77,79¢

Additional Commitments and Obligations .
December 31, 2010:
Convertible senior subordinated notes

(due October 201—interest payment 10,05( 26,80( 26,80( — 63,65(
Facility operating lease 48,26¢ 85,79: 75,38! 55,41 264,85:
Secured notes due October 2012, net of amol

reflected on consolidated balance st 18,00¢ — — — 18,00¢
Liability related to sale of potential future

milestone payments, net of amounts reflect

on consolidated balance sh 17,20: — — — 17,20:
Research, development and commercial supg

investmen' 8,001 — — — 8,007

Total contractual commitments and obligati $ 319,78 $ 112,59 $ 502,18. $ 55,41: $ 989,97
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Commitments and Obligations Recorded on the Catetelil Balance Sheet at December 31, 2010

In September 2010, we issued $400.0 miilivaggregate principal amount of 2015 Notes. Titecfpal and interest accrued as of
December 31, 2010 under these notes is includexdipoonsolidated balance sheet as of Decembet03D, I he interest that is due for periods
after December 31, 2010 is not required under GA®A\Be reflected on our consolidated balance shrebtsaset forth separately on the table
above.

As a result of our September 2009 finantcéasactions, we are obligated to pay $155.0 onilin October 2012 to retire the 2012 Note
specified milestone events under our Janssen co#isibn relating to the filing, approval and laurafitelaprevir in the European Union are
achieved prior to October 31, 2012, we are requivegdeem a portion of the 2012 Notes equal th egitestone payment as it is earned under
the Janssen collaboration, until the 2012 Noteseateemed in full. The first of these milestonergsevas achieved in the first quarter of 2011
and the related milestone payment of $50.0 miNidihbe used to redeem $50.0 million of the 2012é¢opursuant to the terms of the 2012
Notes. The holders of the 2012 Notes will haverilet to cause us to repurchase all or any patti@R012 Notes at 100% of the face vall
we experience a change of control. In additior§éptember 2009, we sold $95.0 million in additigmatiential future milestone payments from
Janssen. The liability related to this sale isaet®d on the consolidated balance sheet at itgdaie of $77.8 million as of December 31, 2010.
The difference between the fair value and $95.0anils reflected on the table above as an additicommitment.

Janssen is seeking to obtain approval amach telaprevir in the European Union in 2011, tedtable above reflects the estimate that the
remaining $200.0 million in milestones under thesien collaboration will be achieved in 2011. # thilestone events are not achieved or are
delayed until 2012, the obligations under the 2Rbges would not be due until 2012. The liabilityated to the sale of the additional
$95.0 million in milestone payments is contingenttioe achievement of the related milestones.

Additional Commitments and Obligations Not Requietie Recorded on Consolidated Balance Sheetedieer 31, 201

Our future minimum commitments and conwatbbligations include facility operating leasasl @ontractual commitments related to our
research, development and commercial supply investnand interest that will accrue on the 2015 Blatiter December 31, 2010 and liabili
related to our September 2009 financial transastibat are not recorded on our consolidated balgineet as of December 31, 2010. These
items are not required under GAAP to be recordedwrtonsolidated balance sheet. They are discliostn table presented above to provide
a more complete picture of our financial positiow diquidity.

Our future minimum commitments under oun#all Square lease for the period commencing onalaril, 2011 are $18.3 million for
2011, $36.5 million for 2012 and 2013, $36.5 millimr 2014 and 2015, and $42.6 million from 201®tlyh the expiration of the lease in
2018. These amounts are included in the table al@syeart of our facility operating leases. Rentnpagts for our Kendall Square lease will be
subject to increase in May 2013, based on chamgas inflation factor. We are using approximatedy#tof the Kendall Square facility for our
operations. We have entered into two subleasahdoremaining rentable square footage at the KéBdalare facility to offset our on-going
contractual lease obligations. The future minimwmmitted income from the subleases is $7.3 milfm2011, $11.8 million for 2012 and
2013 and $6.7 million for 2014 and 2015. These arnt®are not offset against our obligations sehfartthe table above. See Note F,
"Restructuring Expense," to our consolidated finangtatements included in this Annual Report omir&0-K.

We have entered into a letter of intentbweéspect to the potential lease of new facilitpédbuilt in Boston, Massachusetts. We have not
yet, however, entered into a binding agreement reitipect tc
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this facility and intend that material commitmewtish respect to a new facility will be contingemt obtaining approval to market telaprevir in
the United States.

Commitments under research, developmentananercial supply investment represent contractaamitments entered into for
materials and services in the normal course ofnassi.

Our table detailing contractual commitmeantsl obligations does not include severance pagatiiins to certain of our executive officers
in the event of a not-for-cause employment ternmmatinder existing employment contracts.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note B, "Accounting Policies,"thre accompanying notes to the consolidated finhstaéements for a discussion of recent
accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

As part of our investment portfolio, we ofimancial instruments that are sensitive to marlgits. The investment portfolio is used to
preserve our capital until it is required to furgkaoations, including our research and developmettites. None of these market risk-sensitive
instruments are held for trading purposes. We ddaee derivative financial instruments in our istreent portfolio.

Interest Rate Ris

We invest our cash in a variety of finahaiatruments, principally securities issued by thated States government and its agencies,
investment grade corporate bonds and commercia@rpapd money market funds. These investmentsearendinated in United States dollars.
All of our interest-bearing securities are subjednterest rate risk, and could decline in valuaterest rates fluctuate. Substantially all of ou
investment portfolio consists of marketable se@sitvith active secondary or resale markets to éefure portfolio liquidity, and we have
implemented guidelines limiting the term-to-matyiaf our investment instruments. Due to the coretére nature of these instruments, we do
not believe that we have a material exposure &rast rate risk.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA
The information required by this Item &@ntained on pages F-1 through F-46 of this AnRegort on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(1) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls ahProcedures. The Company's chief executive officer and cFirgncial officer, after
evaluating the effectiveness of the Company's dssgke controls and procedures (as defined in R2delb(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as asdraks of the end of the period covered by thisuahReport on Form 10-K, have
concluded that, based on such evaluation, the Coygpdisclosure controls and procedures were éffedin designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, the Compargtsagement recognized that any controls and proesdoo matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuraraeh@dving the desired control objectives, and then@any's management necessarily was
required to apply its judgment in evaluating thstdeenefit relationship of possible controls andgadures.
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(2) Management's Annual Report on Interal Control Over Financial Reporting. The management of the Company is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate inteconatrol over financial reporting. Internal contmer financial reporting is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) promulgated unilerSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the Company's principal executind grincipal financial officers and effected by thempany's Board of Directors,
management and other personnel, to provide reaoaaturance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegettierally accepted accounting principles. The Gomgjs internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedurast th

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trengactions and dispositions of
assets of the Company;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@reded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of theg2my are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of manageraed directors of the Company; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, eselisposition of the
Company's assets that could have a material effettie financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

The Company's management assessed théwdfexss of the Company's internal control oveaticial reporting as of December 31, 2(
In making this assessment, it used the criteridostt in the Internal Control—Integrated Framewdagued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO¥eaon its assessment, the Company's managemertritsded that, as of
December 31, 2010, the Company's internal contret 6inancial reporting is effective based on thosteria.

The Company's independent registered pallhounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued an stig¢ion report on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting. See Section 4obel

(3) Changes in Internal Controls. During the quarter ended December 31, 201@¢twere no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting that materially affected, oe aeasonably likely to materially affect, our imtar control over financial reporting.
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(4) Report of Independent Registered Plib Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited Vertex Pharmaceuticalsrparated's internal control over financial repagtass of December 31, 2010, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatethnagement is responsible for maintaining dffednhternal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecégsrof internal control over financial reportinglirded in the accompanying Management's
Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opingm the company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance wWithdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgetr8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finangigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasaabturance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Vertex Pharmaceuticals hpooated maintained, in all material respects,atiffe internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Vertex Pharmacé&uticaorporated as of December 31, 2010 and 20091t related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders' equity and comprelverisiss, and cash flows for each of the three yieattse period ended December 31, 2010 of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and our regated February 17, 2011 expressed an unqualifisdompthereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachusetts
February 17, 2011
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE

The information regarding directors reqdiby this Item 10 will be included in the defingiWroxy Statement for our 2011 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, or the 2011 Proxy Statémenler "Election of Directors,” "Information Redang our Board," "Shareholder
Proposals for the 2011 Annual Meeting and Nomimetifor Director" and is incorporated herein by refeee. Other information required by
this Item 10 will be included in the 2011 Proxy t8taent under "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownershipdreng Compliance" and "Code of
Conduct and Ethics" and is incorporated hereingfgrence. The information regarding executive efficrequired by this Item 10 as well as
certain information regarding our directors is ugd in Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11l\Wwe included in the 2011 Proxy Statement undert@ensation Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participation," "Executive Compensationtiem "Information Regarding our Board" and is inparated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12lWwe included in the 2011 Proxy Statement undexct®ity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensatiom Rfarmation” and is incorporated herein by refee

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13lWe included in the 2011 Proxy Statement undéecfon of Directors" and "Executive
Compensation-Approval of Related Person Transas@a Transactions with Related Persons" and igpocated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14lWwe included in the 2011 Proxy Statement undedé&pendent Registered Public Accounting
Firm" and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES
(a)(1) The Financial Statements required to be filg Items 8 and 15(c) of Form 10-K, and filed lnétlk, are as follows:

Page Number in
this Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&0dQ00¢ F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeded December 31, 2010,

2009 and 200 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@mahprehensive Loss for tl

years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerailed December 31, 20!

2009 and 200 F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-6

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules have beenamhbecause they are either not applicable orafpeired information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thdigted in (a)(1) above.

(2)(3) Exhibits.

The following is a list of exhibits filedsgart of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated
by
Filed Reference
with herein
Exhibit this from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number
2.1 Share Purchase Agreement, dated March 3, 8-K March 13, 2009 000931¢
by and among Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Exhibit 2.1)
Incorporated, Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Canada)
Incorporated, ViroChem Pharma Inc. and the
ViroChem Securityholders named there
3.1 Restated Atrticles of Organization of Vertex 10-Q August 11, 2008 000931¢
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, as amen (Exhibit 3.1)
3.2 By-laws of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpora 10-Q August 9, 2005 000931¢
as amended and restated as of May 11, 2 (Exhibit 3.1)
4.1 Specimen stock certificate. S-1 July 18, 1991 33096¢
(Exhibit 4.1)
4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1991. S-1 July 5, 1991 33096¢
(Exhibit 4.2)
4.3 First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as 10-K March 28, 1997 000931¢
of February 21, 1997 (Exhibit 4.3)
4.4  Second Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated 10-Q August 14, 2001 000931¢
as of June 30, 200 (Exhibit 4.4)
4.5 Subordinated Indenture, dated as of 8-K September 29, 2010 020931¢
September 28, 2010, by and between Vertex (Exhibit 4.1)
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and U.S. Bank
National Association, as truste
4.€ First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of 8-K September 29, 2010 0@931¢
September 28, 2010, by and between Vertex (Exhibit 4.2)

Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and U.S. Bank
National Association, as truste
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Incorporated
by
Filed Reference
with herein
Exhibit this from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number
4.7 Form of 3.35% Convertible Senior Subordine 8-K September 29, 2010 00031¢
Note due 201t (Exhibit 4.3)
4.8 Indenture dated as of September 30, 2009 b 10-Q November 9, 200 0004931¢
between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (Exhibit 4.1)
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
and collateral agent.
4.9 Secured Notes due 2012. 10-Q November 9, 200 0004931¢
(Exhibit 4.2)
Collaboration Agreements
10.1 License, Development, Manufacturing and 10-Q August 9, 2006 000931¢
Commercialization Agreement, dated June 30, (Exhibit 10.1)
2006, by and between Vertex Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated and Janssen Pharmaceutica, M
10.z License, Development and Commercialization 10-Q November 9, 200 0001931¢
Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2004, between (Exhibit 10.1)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and
Mitsubishi Pharma Corporation
10.2  Second Amendment to License, Development 10-Q November 9, 200 0001931¢
and Commercialization Agreement, dated (Exhibit 10.2)
July 30, 2009, between Mitsubishi Tanabe
Pharma Corporation and Vertex Pharmaceut
Incorporated.”
10.4 Research Agreement and License Agreement, 10-K Year Ended 0004931¢
both dated December 16, 1993, between Vertex (Exhibit 10.16 December 31, 1993
and Burroughs Wellcome Ca
10.E Research, Development and Commercialization 8-K/IA September 10, 2004 020931¢
Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2004, between (Exhibit 99.2)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporat
10.6  Amendment No. 1 to Research, Development 10-K March 16, 2006 000931¢
and Commercialization Agreement, dated as of (Exhibit 10.9)
January 6, 2006, between Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporat
10.7 Amendment No. 2 to Research, Development 10-Q May 10, 2006 000931¢
and Commercialization Agreement, dated as of (Exhibit 10.1)
March 17, 2006, between Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporat
Financial Transactions
10.€ Purchase Agreement, dated May 30, 2008, by 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
and between Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Exhibit 10.2)
Incorporated and Fosamprenavir Royalty, |
10.¢ Note Purchase Agreement dated Septembe 10-Q November 9, 200 0004931¢
2009 by and between Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Exhibit 10.3)
Incorporated and Olmsted Park S.;
10.1C  Security Agreement dated September 30, 2009 10-Q November 9, 200 0004931¢
between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (Exhibit 10.4)
and U.S. Bank National Association, as
collateral agent.
10.11 Purchase Agreement Regarding Milestone #9 10-Q November 9, 200 0004931¢
dated September 30, 2009 by and between (Exhibit 10.5)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and
Olmsted Park S.A.
10.12 Purchase Agreement Regarding Milestone #10 10-Q November 9, 200 0004931¢
dated September 30, 2009 by and between (Exhibit 10.6)

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and
Olmsted Park S.A.
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Incorporated
by
Filed Reference
with herein
Exhibit this from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number
Leases
10.1¢ Lease, dated as of March 3, 1995, between Fort 10-K Year Ended 0001931¢
Washington Realty Trust and Vert¢ (Exhibit 10.15, December 31, 199
10.1¢ First Amendment to Lease, dated as of 10-K Year Ended 0001931¢
December 29, 1995, between Fort Washington (Exhibit 10.15, December 31, 1995
Realty Trust and Vertex Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated
10.1¢ Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of 10-K March 26, 1998 000931¢
June 13, 1997, between Fort Washington Ri (Exhibit 10.20
Trust and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpora
10.1¢ Third, Fourth and Fifth Amendments to Lease 10-K March 26, 2001 000931¢
between Fort Washington Realty Trust and (Exhibit 10.14
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporate
10.17 Lease, dated as of September 17, 1999, bet 10-Q November 15, 199 0001931¢
Trustees of Fort Washington Realty Trust and (Exhibit 10.27
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporate
10.1¢ Lease, dated as of January 18, 2001, between 10-K March 26, 2001 000931¢
Kendall Square, LLC and Vertex (Exhibit 10.16
Pharmaceuticals Incorporate(
10.1¢ Amendment to Lease, dated January 12, 2009, 10-Q May 11, 2009 000931¢
by and between BMR-200 Sidney Street LLC (Exhibit 10.4)
and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpora
10.2C Amendment to Lease, dated January 12, 2009, 10-Q May 11, 2009 000931¢
by and between BMR-40 Erie Street LLC and (Exhibit 10.5)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporat
10.21 Agreement for Lease, dated as of November 4, 10-K March 30, 1999 000931¢
1998, between Milton Park Limited, Vertex (Exhibit 10.21;
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Vertex
Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limite
10.2: Lease between MEPC Milton Park No.1 10-Q August 10, 2009 000931¢
Limited and MEPC Milton Park No. 2 Limited, (Exhibit 10.1)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limited and
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, dated
June 10, 200¢
Equity Plans
10.2¢ 1991 Stock Option Plan, as amended and 10-K March 3, 2000 00M931¢
restated as of September 14, 19¢ (Exhibit 10.1)
10.2¢ 1994 Stock and Option Plan, as amended and 10-K March 3, 2000 00M931¢
restated as of September 14, 19¢ (Exhibit 10.2)
10.2¢ 1996 Stock and Option Plan, as amended and 10-K March 16, 2005 000931¢
restated as of March 14, 200! (Exhibit 10.3)
10.2¢ Form of Stock Option Grant under 1996 Stock 8-K February 9, 2005 0Qm31¢
and Option Plan. (Exhibit 10.1)
10.27 Form of Restricted Stock Award under 1996 8-K February 9, 2005 00mB31¢
Stock and Option Pl—Annual Vesting.* (Exhibit 10.2)
10.2¢ Form of Restricted Stock Agreement 8-K February 9, 2005 0Qme31¢
(Performance Accelerated Restricted Stock) (Exhibit 10.3)
under 1996 Stock and Option Pla
10.2¢ Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option 10-Q August 3, 2010 000931¢
Plan.* (Exhibit 10.1)
10.3C  Form of Stock Option Grant under 2006 Stock 8-K May 15, 2006 000931¢
and Option Plan. (Exhibit 10.2)
10.31 Form of Restricted Stock Award (Performance 8-K May 15, 2006 000931¢
Accelerated Restricted Stock) under 2006 S (Exhibit 10.4)

and Option Plan.

82




Table of Contents

Incorporated
by
Filed Reference
with herein
Exhibit this from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number
10.32 Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated 10-Q August 11, 2008 000931¢
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (Exhibit 10.8)
and restated.
10.3¢  Form of Stock Option Grant-Performance 10-K February 19, 2010 0am31¢
Accelerated 2009 Sto-Options.* (Exhibit 10.33;
Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors
10.3¢ Agreement between Matthew W. Emmens and 8-K February 10, 2009 0am31¢
Vertex, dated February 5, 200¢ (Exhibit 10.1)
10.3¢  Employee Non-disclosure, Non-competition 8-K February 10, 2009 0am31¢
and Inventions Agreement between Matthew (Exhibit 10.2)
W. Emmens and Vertex, dated February 5,
2009.*
10.3¢ Amended and Restated Employment 10-Q May 3, 2010 00a931¢
Agreement, dated February 5, 2010, between (Exhibit 10.1)
Peter Mueller and Vertex
10.37 Amended and Restated Change of Control 10-Q May 3, 2010 00a931¢
Agreement, dated February 5, 2010, between (Exhibit 10.2)
Vertex and Peter Mueller
10.3¢ Amended and Restated Employment 10-Q November 9, 200 0004931¢
Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2004, (Exhibit 10.13’
between Vertex and lan F. Smitt
10.3¢  Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated 10-K February 17, 2009 0arm31¢
Employment Agreement between lan F. Smith (Exhibit 10.66,
and Vertex, dated December 29, 20
10.4C Employment Agreement, dated as of 10-K February 19, 2010 0am31¢
December 9, 2009 between Vertex and Nancy (Exhibit 10.42]
Wysenski.*
10.41 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of 10-K February 19, 2010 0am31¢
December 9, 2009 between Vertex and Nancy (Exhibit 10.43;
Wysenski.*
10.42 Second Amended and Restated Employment 10-Q May 3, 2010 00@931¢
Agreement, dated February 5, 2010, between (Exhibit 10.7)
Vertex and Kenneth S. Bogel
10.4: Amended and Restated Employment 10-Q May 3, 2010 00a931¢
Agreement, dated February 5, 2010, between (Exhibit 10.5)
Lisa Kelly-Croswell and Vertex.
10.4¢ Amended and Restated Change of Control 10-Q May 3, 2010 00@931¢
Agreement, dated February 5, 2010, between (Exhibit 10.6)
Vertex and Lisa Kell-Croswell.*
10.4¢  Amended and Restated Employment 10-Q May 3, 2010 00a931¢
Agreement, dated February 5, 2010, between (Exhibit 10.3)
Amit Sachdev and Vertex
10.4¢ Amended and Restated Change of Control 10-Q May 3, 2010 00@931¢
Agreement, dated February 5, 2010, between (Exhibit 10.4)
Amit Sachdev and Vertex
10.47 Form of Employee Non-Disclosure and S-1 May 30, 1991 33096¢
Inventions Agreement. (Exhibit 10.4)
10.4¢ Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated 10-Q May 12, 2008 000931¢
Executive Compensation Prograr (Exhibit 10.6)
10.4¢  Vertex Employee Compensation Pla X
10.5C Vertex Pharmaceuticals Non-Employee Board X
Compensation.
21.1 Subsidiaries of Vertex Pharmaceuticals X
Incorporated
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public X

Accounting Firm Ernst & Young LLF
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Incorporated
by
Filed Reference
with herein
Exhibit this from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer X
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
31.z Certification of the Chief Financial Officer X
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer X
and the Chief Financial Officer under
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
101.INS  XBRL Instance**
101.SCt XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation’
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels’
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentatior
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition*

**

Management contract, compensatory plan or agreement

Pursuant to applicable securities laws and reguiafiwe will be deemed to have complied with thporeng obligation relating to the submission dkiractive data files in such
exhibits and will not be subject to liability undany anti-fraud provisions of the federal secusitavs with respect to such interactive data filg$ong as we have made a good
faith attempt to comply with the submission requiemts and promptly amend the interactive data &ifeer becoming aware that the interactive daés fiil to comply with the
submission requirements. Users of this data aresedvhat, pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation $&se interactive data files are deemed not éfedi otherwise are not subject
to liability, except as provided by applicable séties laws and regulations.

Confidential portions of this document have beé&dfseparately with the Securities and Exchangerfission pursuant to a request for confidentialtiresnt.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATEL

February 17, 2011 By: /sl MATTHEW W. EMMENS

Matthew W. Emmens
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenesidgrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ites indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ MATTHEW W. EMMENS Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board &vésident (Principal

Executive Officer)

February 17, 201
Matthew W. Emmen

[S/\AN F. SMITH Executive Vice President and Chief Financial OffifRerincipal Financial

February 17, 201

lan F. Smitr Officer)
/sl PAUL M. SILVA
Vice President and Corporate Controller (Princ#etounting Officer) February 17, 201
Paul M. Silva
/s JEFFREY M. LEIDEN
Lead Independent Director February 17, 201
Jeffrey M. Leider
/sl JOSHUA S. BOGER
Director February 17, 201
Joshua S. Boge
/s/ STUART J.M. COLLINSON
Director February 17, 201
Stuart J.M. Collinsol
/sl EUGENE H. CORDES
Director February 17, 201
Eugene H. Corde
/sl WAYNE J. RILEY
Director February 17, 201
Wayne J. Riley
/s/ BRUCE |. SACHS
Director February 17, 201
Bruce I. Sach
/s/ ELAINE S. ULLIAN
Director February 17, 201
Elaine S. Ulliar
/s/ DENNIS L. WINGER
Director February 17, 201

Dennis L. Winge!
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying cons@itbtlance sheets of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incagmbas of December 31, 2010 and
2009, and the related consolidated statementsarhtipns, stockholders' equity and comprehensis®, land cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2010. Tiresecial statements are the responsibility of @menpany’'s management. C
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesaritial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statement®ned to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of Ve
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated at December 31, 28d@@09, and the consolidated results of its ofmratand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20b@nformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting OgbtdBoard (United States), Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated's internal control éimancial reporting as of December 31, 2010, basecriteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion and our report dated
February 17, 2011 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachusetts
February 17, 2011

F-1




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

2010 2009
Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 243,190 $ 446,65t
Marketable securities, available for s 788,21 838,25!
Accounts receivabl 12,52¢ 9,601
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 13,09¢ 12,510
Total current asse 1,057,03! 1,307,021
Restricted cas 34,09( 30,31
Property and equipment, r 72,33 62,27¢
Intangible asset 518,70( 518,70(
Goodwill 26,10: 26,10:
Other asset 17,18: 11,06¢
Total asset $ 1,725,441 $ 1,955,48!
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 35857 $ 36,98¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 134,41 118,75:
Accrued interes 3,46: 571
Deferred revenues, current porti 74,61¢ 74,95¢
Accrued restructuring expense, current por 5,497 6,31¢€
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 2018Jeat portior — 32,07:
Secured notes (due 2012), current por 136,99: —
Liability related to sale of potential future miteee payments, curre
portion 77,79¢ —
Other obligation: 6,15( 15,22}
Total current liabilities 474,78 284,88:
Deferred revenues, excluding current por! 160,04¢ 225,57¢
Accrued restructuring expense, excluding curreintiqno 24,09¢ 27,70:
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 2! 400,00( —
Secured notes (due 2012), excluding current po — 121,76"
Liability related to sale of potential future mitese payments
excluding current portio — 38,20%
Deferred tax liability 160,27¢ 160,27¢
Other liabilities 2,26t 732
Total liabilities 1,221,47. 859,14.
Commitments and contingencies (Note K and Not
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 shaurt®orized; non
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2010 ar@ — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000,000 sharth®rzed a
December 31, 2010 and 2009; 203,522,976 and 199285hares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2010 ar@l 2&§pectively 2,01¢ 1,982
Additional paic-in capital 3,947,43. 3,784,78
Accumulated other comprehensive i (1,067%) (640)
Accumulated defici (3,444,40) (2,689,78)
Total stockholders' equi 503,97: 1,096,34!
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 1,725,441 $ 1,955,48:

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Revenues
Royalty revenue $ 30,24« $ 28,32( $ 37,48:
Collaborative revenue 113,12¢ 73,56¢ 138,02:
Total revenue 143,37( 101,88¢ 175,50
Costs and expense
Royalty expense 12,73( 14,20: 15,68¢
Research and development exper 637,41¢ 550,27- 516,91.
Sales, general and administrative expel 187,80( 130,19: 101,29(
Restructuring expens 1,501 6,24( 4,32¢
Intangible asset impairment char — 7,20( —
Acquisitior-related expense — 7,792 —
Total costs and expens 839,44 715,90: 638,21:
Loss from operation (696,07) (614,019 (462,709
Interest incomt 1,95¢ 5,01( 16,32¢
Interest expens (19,27%) (13,199 (13,47))
Change in fair value of derivative instrume (41,229 (1,847 —
Loss on exchanges of convertible senior subordir
notes
(due 2013 — (18,137) —
Net loss $ (754,62¢) $ (642,17) $ (459,85)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (3.77) $ (3.7 $ (3.27)
Basic and diluted weighted-average number of commo
shares outstandir 200,40: 173,25¢ 140,55t

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity an@omprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
— Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive  Accumulated  Stockholders’  Comprehensive
Shares  Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity Income (Loss)

Balance,

December 3

2007 132,87¢ $ 1,31z $ 1,856,85 $ 881 $ (1,587,75) $ 271,29!

Unrealized

holding

gains on

marketable

securities 3,68¢ 3,68: $ 3,68:
Reclassificatio

adjustment

for realized

loss on

marketable

securities

included in

net loss (1,247) (1,242 (1,247)
Translation

adjustment: (154) (154) (154)
Net loss (459,85.) (459,85)) (459,85.)
Comprehensiv

loss $ (457,56

Issuances of

common

stock:

Equity

offerings 15,52¢ 15& 329,99( 330,14
Benefit plans 2,84« 27 36,98¢ 37,01
Stock-based

compensatic

expense 57,98t 57,98t
Balance,

December 3

2008 151,24 $ 1,49/ $ 2,28181 $ 3,16¢ $ (2,047,60) $ 238,87«

Unrealized

holding

losses on

marketable

securities (3,17¢) (3,179 $ (3,17¢)
Translation

adjustment: (630) (630) (630)
Net loss (642,179 (642,179 (642,179
Comprehensiv

loss $ (645,98
Issuances of

common

stock:
Convertible

senior

subordinate:

notes (due

2013)

exchange: 11,58: 11€ 270,77t 270,89:
Acquisition of

ViroChem 10,73¢ 107 290,45( 290,55°
Equity

offerings 23,00( 23C 801,15! 801,38
Benefit plans 3,39¢ 35 53,86° 53,90:
Stock-based

compensatic

expense 86,72: 86,72:
Balance,

December 3

2009 199,958 $ 1,98: $ 3,784,78 $ (640 $ (2,689,78) $ 1,096,341

Unrealized

holding

gains on

marketable

securities 46 46 $ 46
Translation

adjustment: 477) 479) 477)
Net loss (754,621 (754,62 (754,621




Comprehensiv
loss

Issuances of
common
stock:

Convertible
senior
subordinate:
notes (due
2013)
conversior

Benefit plans

Stock-based
compensatic
expense

Balance,
December 3
2010

$ (755,05

1,38¢ 14 31,55 31,56¢
2,182 20 39,9172 39,99.
91,12- 91,12«

203,520 $ 2,01¢ $ 3,947,43 $ (1,067 $ (3,444,40) $ 503,97¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ (754,620 $ (642,17) $ (459,85)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortization expel 30,45¢ 30,107 32,19¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 91,12 86,72: 57,98¢
Other noi-cash based compensation expe 6,552 6,04¢ 5,027
Intangible asset impairment charg — 7,20( —
Secured notes (due 2012) discount amortizationresg 13,58¢ 3,12¢ —
Change in fair value of derivative instrume 41,22¢ 1,847 —
Change in deferred tax liabili — (2,225) —
Loss on disposal of property and equiprr 39 2,211 11
Realized gain on marketable securi — — (632)
Loss on exchanges of convertible senior subordinadées (due 201! — 18,137 —
Other noi-cash expenses, r (31) — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exatuthe effect of an acquisitio
Accounts receivabl (2,927 13,90( 7,831
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (600) 2,07( (7,33))
Accounts payabl (1,187 (15,057 19,01(
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 8,182 8,92¢ 58
Accrued restructuring expen (4,427) (47) (1,22¢)
Accrued interes 3,031 (1,427) 5,34¢
Deferred revenue (65,86%) 53,057 115,09
Net cash used in operating activit (635,447) (427,58¢) (226,48:)
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of marketable securi (1,234,71) (1,186,70) (755,42:)
Sales and maturities of marketable secur 1,284,80! 788,26 427,64¢
Payment for the acquisition of ViroChem, net ofttasquirec — (87,42) —
Expenditures for property and equipm (38,059 (23,49¢) (32,18()
Increase in restricted ca (3,777) (55) —
(Increase) decrease in other as (955) 67¢ (69€)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 7,301 (508,73:) (360,65()
Cash flows from financing activitie
Issuances of common stock from employee benefitsplaet 33,43 47,85( 31,98
Issuances of common stock from stock offerings — 801,38! 330,14!
Issuances of convertible senior subordinated noet: 391,64! — 278,60
Issuance of secured notes (due 2012) and saleafitp future milestone
payments, ne — 149,90: —
Repayment of collaborator development loan (dueSp — — (19,99))
Debt conversion/exchange co (22) (13)) —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 425,05 999,00¢ 620,73t
Effect of changes in exchange rates on (377 (5,145) (154)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (203,46.) 57,54{ 33,45:
Cash and cash equivale—beginning of periot 446,65¢ 389,11! 355,66:
Cash and cash equivale—end of perioc $ 243,19 $ 446,65¢ $ 389,11!
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid for intere: $ 761 $ 10,24¢  $ 6,67¢
Cash paid for taxe $ — —  $ —
Conversion/exchange of convertible senior subotdthaotes (due 2013) for
common stocl $ 32,07 $ 255,42¢ $ —
Accrued interest offset to additional paid-in cap@n conversion/exchange of
convertible senior subordinated notes (due 2! $ 14C  $ 3,35t $ —
Unamortized debt issuance costs of converted/exgthoonvertible senior
subordinated notes (due 2013) offset to additipa#d-in capital $ 624 $ 589¢ $ —
Fair value of common stock issued to acquire Vired $ — % 290,55 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A. The Company

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ("\térter the "Company") is in the business of discawgrdeveloping and commercializing small
molecule drugs for the treatment of serious diseaBelaprevir, the Company's lead drug candidatanioral hepatitis C protease inhibitor. In
November 2010, the Company submitted a new druticapipn ("NDA") requesting approval to market ggtavir in the United States for tl
treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis C gimfection. In January 2011, the Company recepraatity review designation for its
telaprevir NDA from the United States Food and DAuministration (the "FDA"), and the target date fioe FDA to complete its review of t
telaprevir NDA is May 23, 2011. The Company alsdeseloping, among other drug candidates, VX-7#ickis being evaluated in a
registration program focused on patients with cyftirosis who have the G551D mutation in the gessponsible for cystic fibrosis.

The Company's net loss for 2010 was $764ll6bn, or $3.77 per basic and diluted common shand the Company expects to incur
operating losses at least until it obtains markeéipproval and successfully commercializes teldprég of December 31, 2010, the Company
had cash, cash equivalents and marketable seswfti&l.0 billion. The Company expects that the @any's current cash, cash equivalents
marketable securities will be sufficient to funsl @perations for at least the next twelve months.

Vertex is subject to risks common to comesain its industry including, but not limited tine dependence on the success of the
Company's lead drug candidate, uncertainty abdnital trial outcomes, limited experience in drugydlopment, manufacturing, and sales and
marketing, rapid technological change and compaetitiincertain protection of proprietary technoladng need to comply with government
regulations, share price volatility, uncertaintiemting to pharmaceutical pricing and reimbursetmgependence on collaborative relationships
and potential product liability.

On March 12, 2009, Vertex acquired ViroCheharma Inc. ("ViroChem"). The Company consolidatgd@Chem's operating results with
those of Vertex beginning on the date of the adtijoiis See Note P, "Acquisition of ViroChem Pharma.," for further information regarding
the acquisition.

B. Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatio

The consolidated financial statements céflee operations of the Company and its wholly-ed/subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled. The Company operates in one segmentiatauticals, and all revenues are
from United States operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financiatements in conformity with United States gengraticepted accounting principles requires
management to make certain estimates and assum piianaffect the reported amounts of assets abdities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the constditifinancial statements, and the amounts of ree®and expenses during the reported periods.
Significant estimates in these consolidated finglrgtiatements have been made in connection withalwelation of revenues, research and
development expenses, stock-based compensationsgae-approval inventories, restructuring expetige value of intangible assets,
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)

B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

derivative instruments and debt securities. The @amg bases its estimates on historical experiendevarious other assumptions, including in
certain circumstances future projections, that rgangent believes to be reasonable under the ciramees. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Changes in estimates are reflectegdorted results in the period in which thegdmae known.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially fdbjthe Company to concentration of credit risksistrprincipally of money market funds and
marketable securities. The Company places thesstments with highly rated financial institutioasd, by policy, limits the amounts of cre
exposure to any one financial institution. Thes®amts at times may exceed federally insured linfite Company has not experienced any
credit losses in these accounts and does not bdtieexposed to any significant credit risk bage funds. The Company has no foreign
exchange contracts, option contracts or otherdorexchange hedging arrangements.

The Company's revenues have been gendratadh limited number of collaborators in the bitaology and pharmaceuticals industries
in the United States, Europe and Japan. In 2080Ctmpany had significant revenue transactions Mithubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation
("Mitsubishi Tanabe") and Janssen Pharmaceutida, (Wanssen") that accounted for 57% and 21% emsgely, of the Company's total
revenues. In 2009, the Company had significantmegdransactions with Janssen and Mitsubishi Tatteieaccounted for 54% and 18%,
respectively, of the Company's total revenues 0882 the Company had significant revenue transastidth Janssen that accounted for 68'
the Company's total revenues.

Receivables from Mitsubishi Tanabe, GlaxdBKline plc and Janssen represented 55%, 23% a%g flespectively, of the Company's
accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2@Edi¥ables from Janssen, GlaxoSmithKline plc antsiishi Tanabe represented 36%,
36% and 15%, respectively, of the Company's acsoteivable balance at December 31, 2009. Managdrebeves that credit risks
associated with these collaborators are not sicanifi

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquidestments with original maturities of three monthgess at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist principdiijnoney market funds and debt securities. Changeash and cash equivalents may be
affected by shifts in investment portfolio matweggtias well as by actual cash receipts and disbergsm

Marketable Securitie

Marketable securities consist of investraentU.S. Treasuries, government-sponsored enserpecurities and higirade corporate bon
and commercial paper that are classified as avaHa-sale. The Company classifies marketable s&esi available to fund current operations
as current assets on the consolidated balancessMetketable securities are classified as longr@ssets on the consolidated balance sheets |
(i) they have been in an unrealized loss positmridnger than one year and (ii) the Company hastiility and intent to hold them (a) until 1
carrying value is recovered and (b) such holdingogemay be longer than one year. Marketable stearare stated at fair value with their
unrealized gains and losses included as a compofhactumulated other comprehensive income (legsich is a separate component of
stockholders' equity, until such gains and losses a
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)

B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

realized. The fair value of these securities isdam quoted prices for identical or similar asdét decline in the fair value is considered
other-thantemporary, based on available evidence, the uzeshlbss is transferred from other comprehensigenre (loss) to the consolidat
statements of operations. There were no charges @k other than temporary declines in fair vadfienarketable securities in 2010, 2009 or
2008. Realized gains and losses are determinddeospecific identification method and are includtethterest income in the consolidated
statements of operations. Please refer to NotdvV@rKetable Securities,” for further information.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The Company expenses the fair value of eyga stock options and other forms of stock-basegl@/ee compensation over the
associated employee service period or for awartts warket conditions, the derived service periaxt. &wvards with performance conditions,
the Company makes estimates regarding the liketitafsatisfaction of the performance conditiond tfgect the period over which the
expense is recognized. Compensation expense isrdetsl based on the fair value of the award agthet date, including estimated
forfeitures, and is adjusted to reflect actualddatfres and the outcomes of certain market anebpaeince conditions. Please refer to Note D,
"Stock-based Compensation Expense," for furthermétion.

Research and Development Exper

All research and development expensesydtirty amounts funded by research and developmdaboeations, are expensed as incurred.
The Company defers and capitalizes nonrefundahlarad payments made by the Company for researctesmopment activities until the
related goods are delivered or the related serdpeperformed.

Research and development expenses are isethjof costs incurred by the Company in perfornmggparch and development activities,
including salary and benefits; stock-based compensaxpense; laboratory supplies and other degpenses; contractual services costs,
including clinical trial and pharmaceutical devetognt costs; expenses associated with commerciplysinvestment in its drug candidates;
and infrastructure costs, including facilities oahd depreciation expense. The Company evaluatesljzally whether a portion of its
commercial supply investment may be capitalizeohasntory. Generally, inventory may be capitalizieitlis probable that future revenues v
be generated from the sale of the inventory antthiese revenues will exceed the cost of the irrgntn 2010, the Company continued to
expense all of its commercial supply investmenttute high risk inherent in drug development.

The Company's collaborators have fundetigges of the Company's research and developmegtamts related to specific drug
candidates and research targets, including telagre2010 and 2009; and telaprevir, certain kirsamed certain cystic fibrosis research targets
in 2008. The Company's collaborative revenues B&i3.1 million, $73.6 million and $138.0 millioregpectively, for 2010, 2009 and 2008.
The Company's research and development expenseatalil to programs in which a collaborator funddéast a portion of the research and
development expenses were approximately $156 mjlapproximately $149 million and approximately §48illion, respectively, for 2010,
2009 and 2008.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
B. Accounting Policies (Continued)
Pre-approval Inventories

The Company capitalizes inventories produogoreparation for initiating sales of a drug digate when the related drug candidate is
considered to have a high probability of regulatmpyproval and the related costs are expected tedowerable through sales of the drug. As of
December 31, 2010, the Company had not yet capgthtany inventory costs for telaprevir manufactunegreparation for its expected product
launch in 2011. The Company has submitted its ND#tdélaprevir to the FDA, and the target date far EDA to complete its review of the
telaprevir NDA is May 23, 2011. The Company expeatBegin to capitalize inventory costs for telafirén 2011.

Restructuring Expens

The Company records costs and liabilitesoaiated with exit and disposal activities basedsiimates of fair value in the period the
liabilities are incurred. In periods subsequerihitial measurement, changes to the liability aeasured using the credit-adjusted risk-free
discount rate applied in the initial period. Liatiés are evaluated and adjusted as appropriatehfimmges in circumstances at least on a qus
basis. Please refer to Note F, "Restructuring Egegrfor further information.

Revenue Recognitic
Collaborative Revenues

The Company's revenues are generated pigrttaiough collaborative research, development@andommercialization agreements. The
terms of these agreements typically include paynetite Company of one or more of the followingnrefundable, up-front license fees;
milestone payments; funding of research and/orldeweent activities; payments for services the Comygarovides through its third-party
manufacturing network; and royalties on produceésaEach of these types of payments results iatomlhtive revenues, except for revenues
from royalties on product sales, which are clasdifis royalty revenues.

Agreements containing multiple elementsdivaled into separate units of accounting if dertaiteria are met, including whether the
delivered element has stand-alone value to thalothtor and whether there is objective and rediabldence of the fair value of the
undelivered obligation(s). The consideration reediis allocated among the separate units eithénebasis of each unit's fair value or using
the residual method, and the applicable revenusgreétion criteria are applied to each of the sefgauaits.

Up-front License Fees

The Company recognizes revenues from nandable, up-front license fees on a straigig-basis over the contracted or estimated ps
of performance, which is typically the period owhich the research and development is expecteddor@r manufacturing services are
expected to be provided. In order to estimate #reog of performance, the Company is required t@erestimates regarding the drug
development and commercialization timelines forgdeandidates being developed pursuant to the @ipdiagreement. The Company's
estimates regarding the period of performance ucekain of its collaboration agreements have chdrig the past and may change in the
future.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
B. Accounting Policies (Continued)
Milestone Payments

At the inception of each agreement thauitkes milestone payments, the Company evaluatethetheach milestone is substantive on the
basis of the contingent nature of the milestoneciigally reviewing factors such as the scientdind other risks that must be overcome to
achieve the milestone, as well as the level ofreffnd investment required. The Company recognizesnues related to substantive milestc
in full in the period in which the substantive nsilene is achieved, if payment is reasonably assaamddhe Company's performance obligations
are fully satisfied or if the Company has fair vafor its remaining obligations. If the Company hamaining obligations after the achievem
of a substantive milestone and does not have fiitievidence of the fair value of those obligasiotihe milestone payment is recognized over
the period of performance. If a milestone paymsmidt considered substantive, the Company recogtfizeapplicable milestone over the
remaining period of performance.

Research and Development Activities/ManufacturiexyiBes

Under certain of its collaboration agreetagthe Company is entitled to reimbursement frtsxcollaborators for specified research and
development expenses and/or payments for specif@etufacturing services that the Company providesuthh its third-party manufacturing
network. The Company considers the nature and actuil terms of the arrangement and the natudeeo€bmpany's business operations in
order to determine whether research and developfueding will result in collaborative revenues or @ffset to research and development
expenses. The Company typically recognizes theneagrelated to these reimbursable expenses anafawauring services in the period in
which the reimbursable expenses are incurred oméneufacturing services are provided.

Royalty Revenues

Royalty revenues typically are recognizeddal upon actual and estimated net sales of lidgorselucts in licensed territories, as provided
by the licensee, and generally are recognizeddrp#riod the sales occur. The Company reconcilesdjusts for differences between actual
royalty revenues and estimated royalty revenudisarguarter they become known. These differencerigally have not been significant.

The Company has sold its rights to centayalties on sales of HIV protease inhibitors aachignizes the revenues related to this sale as
royalty revenues. In the circumstance where the fizmy has sold its rights to future royalties uraelécense agreement and also maintains
continuing involvement in the royalty arrangemednit(not significant continuing involvement in thergeration of the cash flows due to the
purchaser of the future royalty rights), the Compdefers recognition of the proceeds it receivegte royalty stream and recognizes these
deferred revenues over the life of the licenseegent. The Company recognizes these deferred resgrursuant to the units-of-revenue
method. Under this methothe amount of deferred revenues to be recognizeoyadty revenues in each period is calculated bitiplying the
following: (1) the royalty payments due to the fhaser for the period by (2) the ratio of the rermgjrdeferred revenue amount to the total
estimated remaining royalty payments due to thelmser over the term of the agreement. The Conmpastimates regarding the estimated
remaining royalty payments due to the purchasee lchanged in the past and may change in the future.
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Property and Equipmet

Property and equipment are recorded at Begireciation and amortization is provided usimg straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the related asset, generally fous¢oen years for furniture and equipment and ttodiee years for computers and software.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using thegktrine method over the lesser of the useful diféehe improvements or the remaining life
of the associated lease. Major additions and le#ets are capitalized. Maintenance and repaira isaet that do not improve or extend its
are charged to operations. When assets are retirettherwise disposed of, the assets and relalegaices for depreciation and amortization
are eliminated from the accounts and any resufiaig or loss is reflected in the Company's conatdid statements of operations.

Income Taxe

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@gaized for the expected future tax consequencesmorary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the income tax lsessets and liabilities. A valuation allowans@pplied against any net deferred tax asset
if, based on the available evidence, it is moreljikhan not that some or all of the deferred tssets will not be realized.

Financial Transaction Expens

Issuance costs incurred to complete theg2ayls convertible senior subordinated note offgriand the financial transactions that the
Company entered into in September 2009 are defamddncluded in other assets on the Company'stidated balance sheets. The issuance
costs are amortized using the effective interastmaethod over the term of the related debt omiered instrument. The amortization expense
related to the issuance costs is included in isteepense on the consolidated statements of opesat

The Company defers direct and incrememsiscassociated with the sale of its rights toreutoyalties. These costs are included in other
assets on the Company's consolidated balance sirektse amortized in the same manner and ovesathe period during which the related
deferred revenues are recognized as royalty regefiiie® amortization expense related to these ttdnasexpenses is included in royalty
expenses on the consolidated statements of opesatio

Expenses incurred in connection with commsimck issuances are recorded as an offset ta@ulippaid-in capital on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Business Combinatior

The Company assigns the value of the cenafibn transferred to acquire a business to thgiliée assets and identifiable intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed on the basiseif fair values at the date of acquisition. The @any assesses the fair value of assets,
including intangible assets such as in-processreBeand development assets, using a variety diodet Each asset is measured at fair value
from the perspective of a market participant. Thespnt-value models used to estimate the fair gadfien-process research and development
assets incorporate significant assumptions reggutthie estimates that market participants would niiakeder to evaluate an asset: including
market participants' assumptions regarding thealiiby of completing in-process research and dewelent projects, which would require
obtaining regulatory approval for marketing of the
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associated drug candidate; market participantshasts regarding the timing of and the expectetsdoscomplete in-process research and
development projects; market participants' estimafduture cash flows from potential product spbesl the appropriate discount rates for
market participants. Transaction costs and restringt costs associated with the transaction aremsgd as incurred.

In-process Research and Development Assets

In-process research and development aasegtsred in a business combination are recorded the acquisition date at fair value and
accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible ass€tsese assets are maintained on the Company'slioiaied balance sheets until either the
project underlying them is completed or the asBet®me impaired. If a project is completed, theyiag value of the related intangible asse
amortized as a part of cost of revenues over tinairgng estimated life of the asset beginning epkriod in which the project is completed. If
a project becomes impaired or is abandoned, thgicgrvalue of the related intangible asset isternitdown to its fair value and an impairment
charge is taken in the period in which the impaintreccurs. In-process research and developmentsassate to the Company's acquisition of
ViroChem in March 2009. In-process research aneldgwent assets are tested for impairment on anchasis as of October 1, and more
frequently if indicators are present or changesiricumstances suggest that impairment may exist.

Goodwill

The difference between the purchase pricktlae fair value of assets acquired and liabdiissumed in a business combination is
allocated to goodwill. Goodwill relates to the Canp's acquisition of ViroChem in March 2009. Goodltligi evaluated for impairment on an
annual basis as of October 1, and more frequeithglicators are present or changes in circumstsaggest that impairment may exist.

Derivative Instruments and Embedded Derivat

The Company has entered into financialsaations involving a free-standing derivative instent and embedded derivatives. These
financial transactions include arrangements invj\decured notes, the sale of potential futuregtuitee payments and senior subordinated
convertible notes. The embedded derivatives aneined|to be bifurcated from the host instrumentsaose the derivatives are not clearly and
closely related to the host instruments. The Compketermines the fair value of each derivativerimsient or embedded derivative on the date
of issuance. The estimates of the fair value adeéhderivatives, particularly with respect to detiies related to the achievement of milestones
in the development of telaprevir, include signifitassumptions regarding the estimates marketjgatits would make in order to evaluate
these derivatives. Changes in the fair value cdelderivatives are evaluated on a quarterly bB&ase refer to Note Q, "September 2009
Financial Transactions," for further information.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net losso#imel comprehensive income (loss), which inclidesign currency translation adjustments,
reclassification adjustment for realized gain (Jags marketable securities included in net losd, @mrealized gains and losses on certain
marketable securities. For purposes of comprehengss disclosures, the Company does not recorprtassions
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or benefits for the net changes in foreign curremagslation adjustment, as the Company intengetmanently reinvest undistributed earni
in its foreign subsidiaries.

Foreign Currency Translatio

All consolidated entities have the U.S laohs their functional currency except the funwiocurrency of the Company's United Kingdom
subsidiary for all periods and the Company's Caaradubsidiaries prior to January 1, 2010 is thalloarrency. Non-U.S. dollar functional
currency subsidiaries have assets and liabiliteasstated into U.S. dollars at rates of exchangdfect at the end of the year. Revenue and
expense amounts are translated using the averabarege rates for the period. Net unrealized gaidd@sses resulting from foreign currency
translation are included in accumulated other cain@nsive income (loss), which is a separate commpaiestockholders' equity. Included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (losshet anrealized loss related to foreign currencydtation of $1.1 million at December 31,
2010, a net unrealized loss related to foreignenay translation of $0.6 million at December 3102@nd a net unrealized gain related to
foreign currency translation of $27,000 at Decengier2008.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Common St

Basic net loss per common share is based the weighted-average number of common sharssamdling during the period, excluding
restricted stock and restricted stock units thaeHaeen issued but are not yet vested. Dilutedbsstper common share is based upon the
weighted-average number of common shares outstguidiring the period plus additional weighted-averagmmon equivalent shares
outstanding during the period when the effect listiie. Common equivalent shares result from theuased exercise of outstanding stock
options (the proceeds of which are then assumbewe been used to repurchase outstanding stoog thertreasury stock method), the
assumed conversion of convertible notes and thingesf unvested restricted stock and restrictedkstinits. Common equivalent shares have
not been included in the net loss per common steloeilations because the effect would have beearddutive. Total potential gross common
equivalent shares consisted of the following:

At December 31,

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share
amounts)
Stock options 21,29: 19,23: 16,497
Weighted-average exercise price (per
share) $ 3050 $ 313 $ 29.1¢
Convertible senior subordinated no 8,192 1,38¢ 12,42¢
Conversion price (per shar $ 488: $ 2314 $ 23.1¢
Unvested restricted stock and restricted ¢
units 1,95( 1,723 1,851

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

In December 2010, the Financial Accountitgndards Board ("FASB") provided guidance to fydiow pharmaceutical manufacturers
should recognize and classify in their consolidatiadements of operations the fees mandated heteatly enacted Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act as amended by the Health CadeEducation Reconciliation Act. The fees are agtdeductible and are imposed on
manufacturers annually based on their share gbtlaemaceutical industry’'s branded drug sales fopteceding year. The portion allocated to
an individual manufacturer becomes payable
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to the U.S. Treasury once the manufacturer hasfyngl gross receipts from branded prescriptiongdsales. The liability for the fee will be
estimated and recorded in full upon the first dfyadg sale with a corresponding deferred cost ihaimortized to expense using a straight-line
method of allocation unless another method beliecates the fee over the calendar year in whith payable. The annual fee will be prese
as an operating expense. The guidance becameiwdfémt the Company on January 1, 2011. As thislgice relates only to classification, the
adoption of this guidance will not have an effegttbe Company's consolidated financial statements.

In April 2010, FASB provided updated guidaron defining a milestone and determining whenay be appropriate to apply the
milestone method of revenue recognition for redeard development transactions. The update becHentive and was adopted by the
Company on a prospective basis for milestones aetlibeginning on January 1, 2011. The updated go&i consistent with the accounting
policies that the Company has used with respetttd@ecognition of milestone revenues during thedlyear period ending December 31,
2010.

In September 2009, the FASB provided uptigtedance (1) on whether multiple deliverablesgXiow the deliverables in a revenue
arrangement should be separated and how the coatsisceshould be allocated; (2) requiring companmieallocate revenues in an arrangement
using estimated selling prices of deliverables\itador does not have vendor-specific objective@wvie or third-party evidence of selling
price; and (3) eliminating the use of the residuathod and requiring companies to allocate revensieg the relative selling price method.
The updated guidance became effective for the Cagnpa January 1, 2011. The Company adopted theteghdmidance on a prospective b
and it will apply to revenue arrangements entenéal dor materially modified after December 31, 2010.

C. Preferred Stock, Common Stock and Equity Plans

The Company is authorized to issue 1,00Dgd@res of preferred stock in one or more seridd@fix the powers, designations,
preferences and relative participating, optiontbeorights thereof, including dividend rights, gension rights, voting rights, redemption
terms, liquidation preferences and the number afeshconstituting any series, without any furtheewor action by the Company's
shareholders. As of December 31, 2010 and 200; ¢inepany had no shares of preferred stock issuedtetanding.

The Company is authorized to issue 300@@Dshares of common stock. Holders of common stoelentitled to one vote per share.
Holders of common stock are entitled to receivédginds, if and when declared by the Board of Daoes;tand to share ratably in the
Company's assets legally available for distributmthe Company's shareholders in the event ofdajion. Holders of common stock have no
preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversights. The holders of common stock do not haveudative voting rights.

Stock and Option Plans

The purpose of each of the Company's stockoption plans is to attract, retain and motiviatemployees, consultants and directors.
Awards granted under these plans can be incerttiek sptions ("ISOs"), nonstatutory stock optiot8§0s"), restricted stock ("RSs"),
restricted stock units ("RSUs") or other equitydmhawards, as specified in the individual plans.
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Shares issued under all of the Compangisspare funded through the issuance of new shEnedollowing table contains information
about the Company's equity plans:

As of December 31, 201

Additional
Awards
Type of Authorized
Award Awards for
Title of Plan Group Eligible Granted Outstanding Grant
2006 Stock and Option Plan NSO,
ISO,
Employees, Noremployee Directors ar RS and
Consultants RSU 15,910,30 13,597,31
1996 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee Directors, NSO,
Advisors and Consultan ISO, RS 5,177,97 —
1994 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee Directors,
Advisors and Consultan NSO, ISC 76,10( —
1991 Stock and Option Pl Employees and Consultar NSO, ISO 3,80( —
Other(1) Employees, Noremployee Directors at
Consultant: NSO, ISO 143,45¢ —
Total 21,311,63 13,597,31
1) Consists of options outstanding on December 310 204t were assumed by the Company in connectitimitgiacquisition of Aurora Biosciences Corporatin
2001.

All options granted under the Company's&8€ck and Option Plan ("2006 Plan") and 1996 Istoal Option Plan were granted with an
exercise price equal to the fair value of the ulyiley common stock on the date of grant. As of Deler 31, 2010, the only stock and option
plan under which the Company makes new equity asvigrthe Company's 2006 Plan. Under amendmenitetdd06 Plan adopted in 2008, no
stock options can be awarded with an exercise pegsthan the fair market value on the date afitgithe Company's shareholders approved
increases in the number of shares authorized $oaisce pursuant to the 2006 Plan of 12,000,00@sh&;700,000 shares and 6,600,000 s
respectively, in 2010, 2009 and 2008.

During the three years ended December @10, 2grants to current employees and directorsatgr@dnt date that was the same as the date
the award was approved by the Company's BoardrefcRirs. During the three years ended Decembe2(®I, for grants to new employees
and directors, the date of grant for awards wa®thployee's first day of employment or the datedihector was elected to the Company's
Board of Directors. All options awarded under tr@pany's stock and option plans expire not more tea years from the grant date.

During the three years ended December @10 2all shares of outstanding restricted stockrastticted stock units have been granted at
price equal to $0.01, the par value of the Compatymmon stock. Vesting of options, restrictedlstnd restricted stock units generally is
ratable over specified periods, usually four yeans] is determined by the Company's Board of Darsct
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The following table summarizes informatiehated to the outstanding and vested options duha year ended December 31, 2010:

Weighted-average

Weighted-average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Stock Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (per share) (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding
at
December
2009 19,23: $ 31.3¢
Granted 4,621 36.7¢
Exercisec (86€) 25.6¢
Forfeited (332) 33.4¢
Expired (1,362 66.5¢
Outstanding
at
December
2010 21,29 % 30.5C 6.7 $ 116,20¢
Exercisable ¢
December
2010 12,76¢ $ 28.0C 54C $ 98,37¢
Total
exercisabli
or expecte
to vest at
December
2010 20,18: % 30.2¢ 6.6C $ 114,47:

The aggregate intrinsic value in the taileve represents the total pre-tax amount, netertese price, which would have been received
by option holders if all option holders had exeedisll options with an exercise price lower thamniarket price on December 31, 2010, which
was $35.20 based on the average of the high angtice of the Company's common stock on that date.

The total intrinsic value (the amount byieththe fair market value exceeded the exercissepof stock options exercised during 2010,
2009 and 2008 was $10.5 million, $36.4 million &23.7 million, respectively. The total cash recdif®m employees as a result of employee
stock option exercises during 2010, 2009 and 2088 $22.2 million, $38.2 million and $24.1 milliorespectively.

The following table summarizes informataout stock options outstanding and exercisatilleaember 31, 2010:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Range average Weighted- Weighted-
of Remaining average average
Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Prices  Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
(in (in
thousands) (in years) (per share) thousands) (per share)

$8.68—

$20.0 4,09¢ 4.0¢ $ 15.71 3,72t $ 15.4¢
$20.01—

$30.0 2,701 5.0C $ 27.2: 2,40¢ $ 27.1¢
$30.01—

$40.0 14,15( 7.8¢ $ 35.0¢ 6,380 $ 35.01
$40.01—

$50.0 32¢ 3.3¢ $ 42.3t 242 $ 42.6%
$50.01—

$67.3 17 0.11 $ 60.2¢ 17 $ 60.2¢

F-16




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
C. Preferred Stock, Common Stock and Equity PlansGontinued)

The following table summarizes the restiicstock activity of the Company during the yeadeshDecember 31, 2010:

Weighted-average

Restricted Grant-date

Stock Fair Value

(in thousands) (per share)
Nonvested at December 31, 2C 1,727 $ 31.2¢
Grantec 84¢€ 37.2%
Vested (544) 32.7(
Cancellec (98) 33.1¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2C 1,931 $ 33.3¢

The total fair value of the restricted &toesting during 2010, 2009 and 2008 (measuredenlate of vesting) was $20.1 million,
$26.5 million and $11.0 million, respectively.

In 2010, the Company began granting restlistock units to employees of its Canadian opgraubsidiary. During 2010, 19,875
restricted stock units with a weighted-average gdate fair value per unit of $37.63 were grantddyhich 1,200 restricted stock units with a
grant-date fair value per unit of $39.05 were cdedeThere were no vestings of restricted stodksuturing 2010.

Employee Stock Purchase P!

The Company has an employee stock purghlasgthe "ESPP"). The ESPP permits eligible emgdsyto enroll in a twelve-month
offering period comprising two six-month purchaseipds. Participants may purchase shares of thep@oys common stock, through payroll
deductions, at a price equal to 85% of the fairkmawvalue of the common stock on the first dayhef applicable twelve-month offering period,
or the last day of the applicable six-month purehgeriod, whichever is lower. Purchase dates utigeESPP occur on or about May 14 and
November 14 of each year. In May 2008, the Comgastyareholders approved an increase in the nunilsbaoes of common stock authori:
for issuance pursuant to the ESPP of 2,000,00@f A&scember 31, 2010, there were 1,039,000 sharesnamon stock authorized for issua
pursuant to the ESPP.

During the year ended December 31, 20fdlhowing shares were issued to employees ungeESPP:

Year Ended
December 31, 2010
(in thousands,

except per share amount)
Number of share 394

Average price paid per she $ 28.4¢

Rights

Each Vertex shareholder also holds oneesparchase right (a "Right") for each share of camistock owned. Each Right entitles the
holder to purchase from the Company one half oftmmedredth of a share of Series A junior partidimapreferred stock, $0.01 par value (the
"Junior Preferred Shares"), of the Company at eepsf $135 per one half of one-hundredth of a Jurreferred Share, subject to adjustment
(the "Purchase Price"). The Rights are not exdotgsantil
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after the acquisition by a person or group of 15%nore of the outstanding common stock (an "AcagifPerson”), or after the announcement
of an intention to make or the commencement ohddeoffer or exchange offer, the consummation ity would result in the beneficial
ownership by a person or group of 15% or more efahtstanding common stock (the earlier of suchglaging called the "Distribution Date
Until the Distribution Date (or earlier redemptionexpiration of the Rights), the Rights will baded with, and only with, the common stock.
Until a Right is exercised, the Right will not dfgithe holder thereof to any rights as a sharegrold

If any person or group becomes an AcquiRegson, each holder of a Right, other than Rigateficially owned by the Acquiring Pers
will thereafter have the right to receive upon eis and payment of the Purchase Price that nuoftsdrares of common stock having a
market value of two times the Purchase Price drideiCompany is acquired in a business combindtammsaction or 50% or more of its assets
are sold, each holder of a Right will thereafterénthe right to receive upon exercise and paymetiteoPurchase Price that number of shar
common stock of the acquiring company that atithe of the transaction will have a market valuévad times the Purchase Price.

At any time after any person becomes arukoty Person and prior to the acquisition by spebson or group of 50% or more of the
outstanding common stock, the Board of DirectorshefCompany may cause the Rights (other than Rmlihed by such person or group) to
be exchanged, in whole or in part, for common starckunior Preferred Shares, at an exchange rateeo$hare of common stock per Right or
one half of one-hundredth of a Junior Preferred&par Right.

At any time prior to the acquisition by erpon or group of beneficial ownership of 15% orenaf the outstanding common stock, the
Board of Directors of the Company may redeem tlghRiat a price of $0.01 per Right.

The Rights have certain anti-takeover éffélgat will cause substantial dilution to a persoigroup that attempts to acquire a significant
interest in Vertex on terms not approved by therBad Directors.

D. Stock-based Compensation Expense

The Company recognizes share-based payrnweaisployees as compensation expense using thvafae method. The fair value of stock
options and shares purchased pursuant to the BESfitulated using the Black-Scholes option pricimaglel. The fair value of restricted stock
and restricted stock units typically is based anitiirinsic value on the date of grant. Stock-basmdpensation, measured at the grant date
based on the fair value of the award, is typicedlyognized as expense ratably over the servicegheéFhe expense recognized over the service
period includes an estimate of awards that wilfdséeited.
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The effect of stock-based compensation esg@euring the three years ended December 31,\284@s follows:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by line

item:

Research and development expet $ 65,19¢ $ 64,12¢ $ 46,14«

Sales, general and administrative expel 25,92¢ 22,59 11,84:
Total stock-based compensation expense

included in net los $ 91,12« $ 86,72: $ 57,98

The stock-based compensation expense leydfyaward during the three years ended Decemhe&2(3D was as follows:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by type

award:

Stock options $ 64,000 $ 63,397 $ 39,44¢

Restricted stock and restricted stock u 22,96( 18,98: 15,19¢

ESPP share issuanc 4,15¢ 4,34; 3,34:
Total stock-based compensation expense

included in net los $ 9112« $ 86,72: $ 57,98

The stock-based compensation expense defattock options for 2009 included $12.7 milli@tated to stock options that were
accelerated and modified in connection with tramsiand severance arrangements with certain o€tmpany's former executive officers. 1
stock-based compensation expense related to teststock for 2009 included $2.2 million relatecatwelerated vesting of restricted stock
awards in connection with transition and severarc@ngements with certain of the Company's foreecetive officers. The stock-based
compensation expense for restricted stock for 2008ded $0.6 million related to accelerated vegsbhrestricted stock awards in connection
with an executive officer's separation arrangement.

The following table sets forth the unreciagd stock-based compensation expense, net ofastinforfeitures, as of December 31, 2010
by type of award and the weighted-average peri@t wiich that expense is expected to be recognized:

As of December 31, 2010
Unrecognized Expense Weighted-average

Net of Recognition
Estimated Forfeitures Period
(in thousands) (in years)
Type of award

Stock options $ 118,35( 2.67
Restricted stock and restricte

stock units 34,95¢ 2.32
ESPP share issuanc 3,501 0.64

Stock Options

The Company issues stock options with sergbnditions, which are generally the vestingqutsiof the awards. In 2009, the Company
also issued, to certain members of senior managestenk
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options that vest upon the earlier of the satigfaadf (1) performance conditions or (2) a sendgoedition. If the Company estimates that it is
probable that a performance condition will be rntte¢, Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsg&pelated to the shares that would
vest upon the performance condition over an imipdiervice period that is shorter than the vestieigoal. This implicit service period is the
period that will be required to meet the perfornenondition based on the Company's estimates.10,28ie Company determined based on
the results from the registration program for tedapr and the completion of the convertible delfenhg in September 2010 that it was
probable that some of the performance conditioméadoed in the stock options granted to certain s of senior management would be
achieved and began recognizing a portion of theksb@sed compensation expense related to thedeitions over an implicit service that is
shorter than the service period over which the Caomghad been recognizing the expense.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes optiming model to estimate the fair value of stockiops at the grant date. The Black-Scholes
option pricing model uses the option exercise paicevell as estimates and assumptions relatec texipected price volatility of the Compar
stock, the rate of return on risk-free investmetits,expected period during which the options baloutstanding, and the expected dividend
yield for the Company's stock to estimate theWalue of a stock option on the grant date. Theomgtigranted during 2010, 2009 and 2008
a weighted-average grant-date fair value per shia$@8.52, $19.11 and $14.33, respectively.

The fair value of each option granted dgi2010, 2009 and 2008 was estimated on the dayeaof using the Blackscholes option pricin
model with the following weighted-average assumpgio

2010 2009 2008
Expected stock price volatilit 52.1%% 57.7% 52.7¢%
Risk-free interest rat 2.44% 2.85% 3.42%
Expected term of optior 5.71 year 6.31 year 5.78 year

Expected annual divident — _ _
The weighted-average valuation assumptigere determined as follows:

. Expected stock price volatility:Options to purchase the Company's stock with ieimgaterms of greater than one year are
regularly traded in the market. Expected stockepviolatility is calculated using the trailing one@mnth average of daily implied
volatilities prior to grant date.

. Risk-free interest rate:The Company bases the risk-free interest rath®imterest rate payable on U.S. Treasury seesiiiti
effect at the time of grant for a period that isntoensurate with the assumed expected option term.

. Expected term of option The expected term of options represents the gp@fitime options are expected to be outstandihg
Company uses historical data to estimate employeecise and post-vest termination behavior. The @y believes that all
groups of employees exhibit similar exercise anstqpest termination behavior and therefore doestratify employees into
multiple groups in determining the expected terroptfons.

. Expected annual dividendsThe estimate for annual dividends is $0.00 bez#tus Company has not historically paid, and does
not intend for the foreseeable future to pay, édeind.

F-20




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
D. Stock-based Compensation Expense (Continued)
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock U

The Company issues restricted stock artdet=sl stock units with service conditions, whatte generally the vesting periods of the
awards.

In 2009 and 2010 the Company issued, taicemembers of senior management, restricted stodkrestricted stock units that vest upon
the earlier of the satisfaction of (i) performamomditions or (ii) a service condition. If the Coamy estimates that it is probable that a
performance condition will be met, the Company ggtipes the stock-based compensation expense rétatied shares that would vest upon
the achievement of that performance condition ¢iverestimated period that will be required to mbetperformance condition. In 2010, the
Company determined based on the results from thistration program for telaprevir that it was prbleathat some of the performance
conditions contained in the restricted stock arstricted stock units granted to certain membeseafor management in 2009 and 2010 would
be achieved and began recognizing a portion o$tihek-based compensation expense related to thesdsover a period that is shorter than
the service period over which the Company had lbeeognizing the expense.

In 2006, 2007, 2008 the Company issuedettain members of senior management, restrictexk shat vests upon the earlier of the
satisfaction of (i) market conditions or (ii) a gee condition. For these grants, a portion offdievalue of the common stock on the date of
grant is recognized ratably over a derived serp@@od that is equal to the estimated time to Satie market condition. The portion of the f
value of the common stock that is recognized overderived service period is determined on theshafsthe estimated probability that a grant
will vest as a result of satisfying the market dtind. For the 2006, 2007 and 2008 grants, thevedrservice period relating to each market
condition was shorter than the four-year servicgedasesting period. The difference between thevidire of the common stock on the date of
grant and the value recognized over the derivedeperiod is recognized ratably over the fourrysavice-based vesting period. The stock-
based compensation expense recognized over ediod dérived service periods and the four-year serperiods includes an estimate of
awards that will be forfeited prior to the end loé tderived service periods or the four-year semp@@ods, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase P!

The weighted-average fair value of eacltipase right granted during 2010, 2009 and 2008848s19, $11.31 and $10.14, respectively.
The following table reflects the weighted-averagsuanptions used in the Black-Scholes option priaiglel for 2010, 2009 and 2008:

2010 2009 2008
Expected stock price volatilit 43.92% 54.22% 66.63%
Risk-free interest rat 0.24% 0.3%% 1.1€%
Expected tern 0.71 year 0.76 year 0.72 year

Expected annual dividen: — _ _

The expected stock price volatility for BS&fferings is based on implied volatility. The Guemy bases the risk-free interest rate on the
interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury securitieffect at the time of grant for a period thatésnmensurate with the assumed expected term.
The expected term represents purchases and punobidsds that take place within the offering peridtle expected
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D. Stock-based Compensation Expense (Continued)

annual dividends estimate is $0.00 because the @oyripas not historically paid, and does not forftreseeable future intend to pay, a
dividend.

E. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Company's financiedets and liabilities reflects the Company's esgémfamounts that it would have received in
connection with the sale of the assets or paigbimection with the transfer of the liabilities in arderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. In conneutitmmeasuring the fair value of its assets aallilities, the Company seeks to maximize
use of observable inputs (market data obtained Bounces independent from the Company) and to nieithe use of unobservable inputs
(the Company's assumptions about how market paaitics would price assets and liabilities). Theofelhg fair value hierarchy is used to
classify assets and liabilities based on the oladdevinputs and unobservable inputs used in ocdealue the assets and liabilities:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assefiabilities. An active market for an assetiability is a market in whict
transactions for the asset or liability occur watifficient frequency and volume to provide pricinfprmation on an ongoing
basis.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs. Exas\pf Level 2 inputs include quoted prices in activarkets for similar assets

or liabilities and quoted prices for identical @ssar liabilities in markets that are not acti

Level 3: Unobservable inputs based on the Company's assetssfithe assumptions that market participants dogle in pricing the asset
or liability.

The Company's investment strategy is fodwsecapital preservation. The Company investastriments that meet credit quality
standards as outlined in the Company's investmaidypguidelines. These guidelines also limit timecaint of credit exposure to any one issue
or type of instrument. As of December 31, 2010,Gloepany's investments are in money market fundsshaort-term government guaranteed
or supported securities.

As of December 31, 2010, all of the Compsfipancial assets that were subject to fair vaheasurements were valued using observable
inputs. The Company's financial assets that welieedabased on Level 1 inputs consist of a moneykeatdund, U.S. Treasuries and
government-sponsored enterprise securities, whiglgavernment-supported. The money market fundhichivthe Company invests also holds
government-sponsored enterprise securities. D@, 2009 and 2008, the Company did not recomtlzr-than-temporary impairment
charge related to its financial assets. The Conipdimancial liabilities that were subject to faalue measurement relate to the financial
transactions that the Company entered into in Sapte 2009 and are valued based on Level 3 inplegas® refer to Note Q, "September 2009
Financial Transactions."
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The following table sets forth the Comparfinancial assets and liabilities subject to f@lue measurements as of December 31, 2010:

Fair Value Measurements as
of December 31, 2010
Fair Value Hierarchy
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in thousands)

Financial assets carried at fair val
Cash equivalent:

Money market fund $ 14832« $ 148,32t $ — % —

U.S. Treasury securitie 4,77 4,77 — —

Governmer-sponsored enterprise securit 44 ,58: 44,58: — —
Marketable securitie:

U.S. Treasury securitie 103,22( 103,22( — —

Governmer-sponsored enterprise securit 684,99 684,99: — —
Restricted cas 34,09( 34,09( — —

Total $ 1,01998 $ 1,019,98 $ — 3 —

Financial liabilities carried at fair valu

Embedded derivative related to 2012 N¢ $ 12,08¢ $ — 3 — $ 12,08¢
Liability related to sale of potential future
milestone payment 77,79¢ — — 77,79¢
Total $ 89,88t $ — 3 — $ 89,88¢

The following table is a reconciliationfafancial liabilities measured at fair value ussignificant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

Year Ended
December 31, 2010
(in thousands)

Balance, December 31, 20 $ 48,65¢
Change in fair value of derivative instrume 41,22¢
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 89,88¢

As of December 31, 2010, the Company h&@d®million in aggregate principal amount of 3.36&fivertible senior subordinated notes
due 2015 (the "2015 Notes") on its consolidatedhee sheet. At December 31, 2010, these 2015 Natka fair value of approximately
$405 million as obtained from a quoted market seurc
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In June 2003, Vertex adopted a plan taquesire its operations to coincide with its incieganternal emphasis on advancing drug
candidates through clinical development to comnadizition. The restructuring was designed to rexdbed the Company's relative investments
in research and development to better support tmepgany's long-term strategy. At that time, thertestiring plan included a workforce
reduction, write-offs of certain assets and a decigot to occupy approximately 290,000 square déspecialized laboratory and office space
in Cambridge, Massachusetts under lease to VetieX'Kendall Square Lease"). The Kendall Squareseemmmenced in January 2003 and
has a 15-year term. In the second quarter of 20@5Company revised its assessment of its reakeastiquirements and decided to use
approximately 120,000 square feet of the facilitpject to the Kendall Square Lease (the "Kendaligsg Facility") for its operations,
beginning in 2006. The remaining rentable squaotafye of the Kendall Square Facility currentlyubleased to third parties.

The Company's initial estimate of its ligpifor net ongoing costs associated with the Kah8quare Lease obligation was recorded ir
second quarter of 2003 at fair value. The restrirgjiexpense incurred from the second quarter 6828rough the end of the first quarter of
2005 (i.e., immediately prior to the Company's dieti to use a portion of the Kendall Square Facitt its operations) relates to the estimated
incremental net ongoing lease obligations assatiatth the entire Kendall Square Facility, togettdth imputed interest costs relating to the
restructuring liability. The restructuring expernseurred in the period beginning in the second tpwasf 2005 relates only to the portion of the
building that the Company currently does not intemdccupy for its operations. The remaining lealsgations, which are associated with the
portion of the Kendall Square Facility that the Gramy occupies and uses for its operations, arededas rental expense in the period
incurred. The Company reviews its assumptions atichates quarterly and updates its estimates sflitibdility as changes in circumstances
require. The expense and liability recorded iswdated using probability-weighted discounted cdsin of the Company's estimated ongoing
lease obligations, including contractual rental bhoild-out commitments, net of estimated subleaseats, offset by related sublease costs.

In estimating the expense and liability eniis Kendall Square Lease obligation, the Compestiynated (i) the costs to be incurred to
satisfy rental and build-out commitments underléase (including operating costs), (ii) the leadetinecessary to sublease the space, (iii) the
projected sublease rental rates, and (iv) the ipatied durations of subleases. The Company usesld-adjusted risk-free rate of
approximately 10% to discount the estimated cashdl The Company reviews its estimates and assangptin at least a quarterly basis, and
intends to continue such reviews until the termaradf the Kendall Square Lease, and will make what modifications the Company belie’
necessary, based on the Company's best judgmegf|dot any changed circumstances. The Compasiite&es have changed in the past,
may change in the future, resulting in additiorgjlatments to the estimate of the liability, and &ffect of any such adjustments could be
material. Changes to the Company's estimate dfabiity are recorded as additional restructurexgense/(credit). In addition, because the
Company's estimate of the liability includes thelagation of a discount rate to reflect the timdweaof money, the Company will record
imputed interest costs related to the liabilitylegoarter. These costs are included in restrugekpense on the Company's consolidated
statements of operations.

The restructuring liability of $29.6 millicat December 31, 2010 relates solely to the podfdhe Kendall Square Facility that the
Company does not intend to use for its operatioasiacludes other related lease obligations, reznbat net present value. The Company
classified $5.5 million of the
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F. Restructuring Expense (Continued)

total restructuring liability at December 31, 2H$short-term, and $24.1 million as long-term. $hert-term portion of the restructuring
liability represents the net amount the Companyeetspto pay in 2011.

The activity related to restructuring anbdew liability for 2003 was as follows:

Cash Non-cash Liability as of
Charge payments write-off December 31,
in 2003 in 2003 in 2003 2003

(in thousands)
Lease restructuring and other operating le

expense $ 84,72¢ $ (15,2000 $ — % 69,52¢
Employee severance, benefits and relatec
costs 2,61¢ (2,616 — —
Leasehold improvements and asset
impairments 4,482 — (4,482) —
Total $ 9182« $ (17,816 $ (4,487 $ 69,52¢

In 2003, the lease restructuring and otiperating lease expense included $78.7 milliorea$é restructuring expense and $6.0 million of
lease operating expense incurred prior to the ierci®t to occupy the Kendall Square Facility. Tastructuring accrual as of December 31,
2003 related only to the lease restructuring expens

The activity related to restructuring f@&02 through 2010 was as follows:

Restructuring Liability

2010 2009 2008 2004-2010
(in thousands)

Liability, beginning of the perio $ 34017 $ 3406: $ 3529 $ 69,52¢
Cash payment (14,759 (14,92 (14,017 (133,94()
Cash received from subleas 8,83¢ 8,631 8,46¢ 45,46¢
Credit for portion of facility Vertex decided to

occupy in 200t — — — (10,01%)
Additional charge 1,501 6,24( 4,32¢ 58,56
Liability, end of the perio« $ 29598 $ 34,017 $ 34,06 $ 29,59¢

In each period, the Company records leaestucturing expense attributable to imputed isterelating to the restructuring liability. In
certain periods, the restructuring expense aldeatsfthe revision of certain key estimates andrapsions about operating expenses and
building operating expenses. In 2005, the Compangrded net restructuring expense as a resultidit to the restructuring liability made
when the Company decided to occupy and use a pasfithe Kendall Square Facility that was offset{Byhe estimated incremental net
ongoing lease obligations associated with the pomif the Kendall Square Facility that the Compdigynot intend to occupy and (ii) imputed
interest costs relating to the restructuring ligpil
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A summary of cash, cash equivalents andetalble securities is shown below:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)
December 31, 2010
Cash and cash equivalel

Cash and money market fur $ 19384 $ — 3 — $ 193,84!
U.S. Treasury securitie 4,77 — — 4,77C
Government-sponsored enterprise
securities 44,587 1 (6) 44 ,58:
Total cash and cash equivale $ 243,20 $ 1 9 6) $ 24319

Marketable securitie
U.S. Treasury securities (due within

1 year) $ 10323 $ 1 % (11) $ 103,22
Government-sponsored enterprise
securities (due within 1 yea 684,96¢ 87 (62) 684,99:
Total marketable securiti $ 788,19%¢ $ 88 $ (73) $ 788,21
Total cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securitie $ 1,031,40 $ 8¢ $ (79 $ 1,031,41

December 31, 200!
Cash and cash equivalel

Cash and money market fur $ 251,000 $ — % — $ 251,00
U.S. Treasury securitie 20,19¢ — (5) 20,19¢
Government-sponsored enterprise
securities 175,45! 8 ?3) 175,46(
Total cash and cash equivale $ 446,65¢ $ 8 $ (8 $ 446,65t

Marketable securitie
U.S. Treasury securities (due within

1 year) $ 22342, $ — 3 (99 $ 223,32
Government-sponsored enterprise
securities (due within 1 yea 614,86¢ 81 (18) 614,93:
Total marketable securiti¢ $ 83829. $ 81 $ (1179 $ 838,25!
Total cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securitie $ 128494 $ 8¢ $ (125 $ 1,284,91

The Company has marketable securitiesifiedss current assets of $788.2 million and $838illion, respectively, on its consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The Company reviews investments in marketabcurities for other-than-temporary impairmehewnever the fair value of an investment
is less than amortized cost and evidence indi¢ht#san investment's carrying amount is not recalerwithin a reasonable period of time. To
determine whether an impairment is other-than-teanyothe Company considers the intent to sellyloether it is more likely than not that the
Company will be required to sell, the investmerfoberecovery of the investment's amortized costsbd&vidence considered in this
assessment includes reasons for the impairmenpl@me with the Company's investment policy, teesity and the duration of the
impairment and changes in value subsequent togrehr

The Company owned 32 available-$ate marketable securities at December 31, 201the&3€ 32 securities, there were 15 securities
unrealized losses, none of which was individualiygicant.
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G. Marketable Securities (Continued)

The following table summarizes the fairuebnd gross unrealized losses related to markesablrities, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual secesithad been in a continuous unrealized loss posits of December 31, 2010:

Less than 12 month: 12 months or more Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
(in thousands)
U.S. Treasury
securities $ 9594 $ a s — 3 — $ 9594 % (12)
Government-
sponsored
enterprise
securities 253,87 (62) — — 253,87 (62)
Total $ 349,81. $ 73 $ — 3 — § 34981 $ (73

As of December 31, 2010, unrealized logsdise portfolio related to various debt securifieduding U.S. Treasuries and government-
sponsored enterprise securities. For these segjritie unrealized losses were primarily due toeemes in interest rates. The contractual terms
of these investments do not permit the issuerttteshe securities at a price less than the amettcost bases of the investments. Because the
Company does not intend to sell the investmentdtdadot more likely than not that the Companyl we required to sell the investments
before recovery of their amortized cost bases, whiay be maturity, the Company does not considesetlinvestments to be other-than-
temporarily impaired at December 31, 2010.

The following table summarizes the fairuebnd gross unrealized losses related to markesablrities, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual sedesithad been in a continuous unrealized loss paosits of December 31, 2009:

Less than 12 month: 12 months or more Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
(in thousands)
U.S. Treasury
securities $ 221,410 $ @9 $ — § — $ 221410 % (99
Government-
sponsored
enterprise
securities 118,95( (18) — — 118,95( (18)
Total $ 340,36 $ 117y $ — $ — $ 340,36: $ (17)

As of December 31, 2009, unrealized logséise portfolio related to various debt securiii@duding U.S. Treasuries and government-
sponsored enterprise securities. For these segyritie unrealized losses were primarily due toesmes in interest rates. The contractual terms
of these investments do not permit the issuerttteshe securities at a price less than the amettcost bases of the investments. Because the
Company does not intend to sell the investmentdtaadot more likely than not that the Companyl Wé required to sell the investments
before recovery of their amortized cost bases, whiay be maturity, the Company does not considesetlinvestments to be other-than-
temporarily impaired at December 31, 2009.

The Company had proceeds of $1.3 billiat§83 million and $427.6 million, respectively, fncsales and maturities of available-for-sale
securities in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Realized gains and losses are determinied tlse specific identification method and are intedd in interest income on the consolidated

statements of operations. There were no groszeghfjains and losses for 2010 and 2009. Groszedatiains and losses for 2008 were
$943,000 and $310,000, respectively.
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H. Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Combeaty $34.1 million and $30.3 million, respectively restricted cash. At December 31, 2
and 2009, the balance was held in deposit withazeltanks predominantly to collateralize conditisstand-by letters of credit in the names of
the Company's landlords pursuant to certain opegddiase agreements.

I. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of thiefiohg at December 31:

2010 2009
(in thousands)
Furniture and equipme $ 137,90« $ 128,92(
Leasehold improvemen 102,72( 88,02(
Software 50,21! 41,91(
Computers 28,817 25,15¢
Total property and equipment, grc 319,65: 284,00!
Less accumulated depreciation and amortizz 247,31¢ 221,72t
Total property and equipment, r $ 72331 $ 62,27¢

Total property and equipment, net, on tbenfany's consolidated balance sheets as of Decetph2010 and 2009 included $15.3 mill
and $3.8 million, respectively, related to the Camgs United Kingdom subsidiary.

Depreciation and amortization expensehentears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 20082¥a& million $28.3 million and
$30.4 million, respectively.

In 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Company wofteertain assets that were fully depreciated mmébnger utilized. There was no effect on
Company's net property and equipment. Additionalg, Company wrote-off or sold certain assetswet not fully depreciated. The loss on
disposal of those assets was $39,000 for 2010,8@ian for 2009, and $11,000 for 2008

J. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities ad Other Obligations

Accrued expenses and other current ligdslitonsisted of the following at December 31:

2010 2009
(in thousands)
Research and development contract ¢ $ 5837t $ 5491
Payroll and benefit 52,41¢ 45,88:
Professional fee 8,62¢ 7,801
Other 14,99¢ 10,15¢
Total $ 134,41« $ 118,75:

Other obligations of $6.2 million and $15n8lion as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respelsti consisted of the remaining amount
deposit received from a collaborator for poterfiidilire obligations of the Company.
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The Company leases its facilities and aeeguipment under operating leases. The Comp&gses have terms through June 2020. The
leases of the Company's primary facilities in Cadde were extended in 2009 through December 2046 tdrm of the Kendall Square Lease
began January 1, 2003. Rent payments will be sutgjeocrease in May 2013, based on changes inft@tion index. These increases will be
treated as contingent rentals. The Kendall Squagsé will expire in 2018, and the Company has ghiew to extend the term for two
consecutive terms of ten years each, ultimatelyriexpin 2038. The Company occupies and uses $ooperations approximately 120,000
square feet of the Kendall Square Facility. The @any has sublease arrangements in place for th&imamg rentable square footage of the
Kendall Square Facility, with terms that expireAingust 2012 and April 2015. See Note F, "RestrucguExpense,” for further information.

As of December 31, 2010, future minimum agtments under facility operating leases with teohmore than one year and expected
sublease income under the Company's subleasdsfitendall Square Facility are as follows:

Sublease Income Total Operating
Kendall for Other Leases (Net of
Square Kendall Square Operating Sublease
Year Lease Facility Leases Income)
(in thousands)
2011 $ 18,26( $ (7,27¢) $ 30,00¢ $ 40,99!
2012 18,26( (6,780) 26,71¢ 38,19¢
2013 18,26( (5,027) 22,55t 35,79«
2014 18,26( (5,027) 18,91. 32,15!
2015 18,26( (1,679 19,94¢ 36,53t
Thereafte 42,60¢ — 12,807 55,41%
Total
minimu
lease
payme $ 133,90t $ (25,779 $ 130,94¢ $ 239,08(

Rental expense for 2010 was $46.6 millehich included $11.6 million related to the Kendadjuare Facility. Rental expense for 2009
was $39.1 million, which included $11.5 million a&dd to the Kendall Square Facility. Rental expdas2008 was $31.1 million, which
included $10.7 million related to the Kendall Squ&acility.

The Company has future contractual commitier connection with its research, developmedt@mmercial supply investment. For
2011, the amount committed under these contra&8.Gmillion.

In September 2009, the Company enterediividinancial transactions pursuant to which $uisd secured notes and sold its rights to
future potential milestones. See Note Q, "Septer@béP Financial Transactions," for further inforioat In September 2010, the Company
issued $400.0 million in aggregate principal of 20otes. See Note L, "Convertible Senior Subor@iddotes and Collaborator Loan," for
further information.
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2015 Notes

On September 28, 2010, the Company contphateoffering of $400.0 million in aggregate pripedi amount of 3.35% convertible senior
subordinated notes due 2015. This offering resuitetet proceeds of $391.6 million to the CompaFtye underwriting discount of $8.0 milli
and other expenses of $0.4 million related to dfffisring were recorded as debt issuance costs@nideuded in other assets on the Comps
consolidated balance sheet. The 2015 Notes waredgsursuant to and are governed by the terms ifdemture (as supplemented, the
"Indenture").

The 2015 Notes are convertible at any tiae¢he option of the holder, into common stock atice equal to approximately $48.83 per
share, or 20.4794 shares of common stock per $pf@6pal amount of the 2015 Notes, subject taisiiipent. The 2015 Notes bear interest at
the rate of 3.35% per annum, and the Company isnedjto make semi-annual interest payments owtitstanding principal balance of the
2015 Notes on April 1 and October 1 of each yeegiiming on April 1, 2011. The 2015 Notes maturélatober 1, 2015.

Prior to October 1, 2013, if the closingcprof the Company's common stock has exceeded D3@86 then applicable conversion price
for at least 20 trading days within a period ofc8disecutive trading days, the Company may redeerg@h5 Notes at its option, in whole or in
part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of tlecpal amount of the 2015 Notes to be redeemettiellCompany elects to redeem the 2015
Notes prior to October 1, 2013, or the holder sléactconvert the 2015 Notes after receiving naticeuch redemption, the Company will
obligated to make an additional payment, payabtash or, subject to certain conditions, sharge@fCompany's common stock, so that the
Company's total interest payments on the 2015 Nuggry redeemed and such additional payment styadllehree years of interest. On or a
October 1, 2013, the Company may redeem the 201&sN its option, in whole or in part, at the megéon prices stated in the Indenture plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but exolgidthe redemption date.

Holders may require the Company to repwselsme or all of their 2015 Notes upon the ocoge®f certain fundamental changes of
Vertex, as set forth in the Indenture, at 100%hefgrincipal amount of the 2015 Notes to be repasel, plus any accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

If a fundamental change occurs that is alspecific type of change of control under theeltdre, the Company will pay a make-whole
premium upon the conversion of the 2015 Notes imection with any such transaction by increasimgapplicable conversion rate on such
2015 Notes. The make-whole premium will be in a@ddito, and not in substitution for, any cash, s#ies or other assets otherwise due to
holders of the 2015 Notes upon conversion. The mdkae premium will be determined by referencehte iIndenture and is based on the date
on which the fundamental change becomes effectidettae price paid, or deemed to be paid, per stfaiee Company’'s common stock in the
transaction constituting the fundamental changejestito adjustment.

Based on the Company's evaluation of tHéb 2otes, the Company determined that the 2015d\mirtain a single embedded derivative.
This embedded derivative relates to potential pggraterest payments that could be imposed on tragany for a failure to comply with its
securities reporting obligations pursuant to th&#3®Notes. This embedded derivative required bifimosbecause it was not clearly and closely
related to the host instrument. The Company hasréed that the value of this embedded derivatige nominal as of September 28, 2010
and December 31, 2010.

F-30




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
L. Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes and Collabrator Loan (Continued)
2013 Notes

In February 2008, the Company completedféaring of $287.5 million in aggregate principahaunt of 4.75% convertible senior
subordinated notes due 2013 (the "2013 Notes"} dfiering resulted in net proceeds of $278.6 onillio the Company. The underwriting
discount of $8.6 million and other expenses of $fifion related to the 2013 Notes offering werearled as debt issuance costs and included
in other assets on the Company's consolidated takstmeet.

The 2013 Notes were convertible, at théoopdf the holder, into common stock at a priceada $23.14 per share or 43.22 shares of
common stock per $1,000 in principal amount of28&3 Notes. The 2013 Notes bore interest at tleeofed.75% per annum, and the Comg.
was required to make semi-annual interest paynwntke outstanding principal balance of the 20188 on February 15 and August 15 of
each year. The Company had the right to redeer@(h8 Notes, in whole or in part, on or after Febyub, 2010, at the redemption prices
stated in the indenture, plus accrued and unpé#édest to, but excluding, the redemption date. 203 Notes would have matured on
February 15, 2013.

In the second quarter of 2009, the Compaapanged $143.5 million in aggregate principal am@f the 2013 Notes, plus accrued
interest, for 6,601,000 shares of newly-issued comsiock. In order to induce the holders of theRbtes to enter into these exchanges, the
Company agreed to issue 46 shares of common stodath $1,000 in principal amount of the 2013 Noteéhich was 2.78 more shares of
common stock per $1,000 in principal amount tharevovided for upon conversion pursuant to thmgeof the 2013 Notes. As a result of
these exchanges, the Company incurred a non-caspechf $12.3 million in the second quarter of 26€lated to the incremental shares that
were issued to the holders of the 2013 Notes. tiitiad, accrued interest of $2.1 million and unatized debt issuance costs of the 2013 Notes
of $3.5 million were recorded as an offset to addal paid-in capital.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Comparghanged $111.9 million in aggregate principal amof the 2013 Notes, plus accrued
interest, for 4,980,838 shares of newly-issued comstock. In order to induce the holders of the®Rbtes to enter into these exchanges, the
Company agreed to issue 44.5 shares of common f&pelach $1,000 in principal amount of the 2013a@8pwhich was 1.28 more shares of
common stock per $1,000 in principal amount tharevovided for upon conversion pursuant to thmgeof the 2013 Notes. As a result of
these exchanges, the Company incurred a non-casgechf $5.8 million in the fourth quarter of 20@%ated to the incremental shares that
were issued to the holders of the 2013 Notes. tiitiad, accrued interest of $1.3 million and unatized debt issuance costs of the 2013 Notes
of $2.4 million were recorded as an offset to dddal paid-in capital.

In the first quarter of 2010, the Companpaunced that it would redeem the remaining $32llomin aggregate principal amount of the
2013 Notes on March 19, 2010. Instead, the holdietise remaining 2013 Notes elected to converrth@13 Notes, pursuant to the original
terms of the 2013 Notes, into 1,386,006 shareewsiyrissued common stock in full satisfaction of 013 Notes. Accrued interest of
$0.1 million and unamortized debt issuance costh®P013 Notes of $0.6 million were recorded asféset to additional paid-in capital.
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Collaborator Loan

On January 1, 2008, the Company had owstgr$20.0 million in loans under a loan facilitstablished in connection with a
collaboration with Novartis that was completed 008. In May 2008, the Company repaid the $20.0ionilin loans outstanding under the loan
facility.

M. Common Stock Offerings
February 2008 Offerin

In February 2008, the Company completedftering 6,900,000 shares of common stock, whichevemld at a price of $17.14 per share.
This offering resulted in net proceeds of $112.1iom to the Company. The underwriting discoun®$sf3 million and other expenses of
$0.2 million were recorded as an offset to addaigraid-in-capital.

September 2008 Offering

In September 2008, the Company completeaffening of 8,625,000 shares of common stock, Whiere sold at a price of $25.50 per
share. This offering resulted in $217.4 millionneft proceeds to the Company. The underwriting distof $2.2 million and other expenses of
$0.3 million were recorded as an offset to addaigraid-in-capital.

February 2009 Offeriny

In February 2009, the Company completedfaring of 10,000,000 shares of common stock, Whiere sold at a price of $32.00 per
share. This offering resulted in $313.3 millionnett proceeds to the Company. The underwriting distof $6.4 million and other expenses of
$0.3 million were recorded as an offset to addalgraid-in capital.

December 2009 Offerir

In December 2009, the Company completedffaning of 13,000,000 shares of common stock, Whiere sold at a price of $38.50 per
share. This offering resulted in $488.1 millionnett proceeds to the Company. The underwriting distof $12.1 million and other expenses
of $0.3 million were recorded as an offset to dddil paid-in capital.

N. Income Taxes

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2062008, there is no provision for income taxetuded in the consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company's federal statutory incomergde for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was 34%. The Compasyritturred losses from operations but
has not recorded an income tax benefit for 201092(hd 2008, as the Company has recorded a vailgt@wance against its net operating
losses and other net deferred tax assets due éstaimties related to the realizability of these dasets.
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The difference between the Company's "ebgolcax provision (benefit), as computed by appdyihe U.S. federal corporate tax rate of
34% to loss before provision for income taxes, actdal tax is reconciled as follows:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Loss before provision for income tax $ (754,62() $ (642,179 $ (459,85)

Expected tax benefit at 34 (256,579 (218,34)) (156,34¢)
State taxes, net of federal ben (46,109 (38,965 (28,839
Unbenefited operating loss 299,89 248,38¢ 185,01¢
Non-deductible expenst¢ 2,15¢ 8,24¢ 127
Other 632 674 39
Income tax provisiol $ — 3 — % =

For federal income tax purposes, as of Béez 31, 2010, the Company has net operating Ersgforwards of approximately
$2.8 billion, and tax credits of $73.7 million, whimay be used to offset future federal incometardiability, respectively. For state income
tax purposes, the Company has net operating losg@avards of approximately $1.9 billion, and tesedits of $44.4 million, which may be
used to offset future state income and tax liahiliéspectively. These operating loss carryforwéxesan to expire in 2006, and the tax credit
carryforwards began to expire in 2005. After coasadion of all the evidence, both positive and tiggamanagement has established a
valuation allowance for the full amount of the 2@lJerred tax asset since it is more likely thanthat the deferred tax asset will not be
realized. In future periods, if management deteemithat it is more likely than not that the defériax asset will be realized (i) the valuation
allowance would be decreased, (ii) a portion opfthe deferred tax asset would be reflected erctinsolidated balance sheet and (iii) the
Company would record non-cash benefits in its statés of operations related to the reflection efdeferred tax asset on the consolidated
balance sheet.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities aredrined based on the difference between finantaéiment and tax bases using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences aexpected to reverse. The components of the deféares at December 31 were as follows:

2010 2009
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating los $ 94427 $ 759,68
Tax credit carryforward 112,46 83,56:
Property and equipme 22,48 22,37(
Deferred revenue 138,80 99,207
Stocl-based compensatit 81,21: 59,95¢
Inventory 38,81( 38,71
Accrued expenses and ott 30,07¢ 17,93¢
Gross deferred tax assi 1,368,13: 1,081,43
Valuation allowanct (1,368,13) (1,081,43)

Total deferred tax asse — —
Deferred tax liabilities
Acquired intangible: (160,279 (160,279

Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (160,279 $ (160,279
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Generally, tax return deductions are alloan stock-based compensation plans, but, mag aridifferent amounts and periods from
when compensation costs are recognized in thediabstatements. If the tax return deduction foaammrd exceeds the cumulative
compensation expense recognized in the financagtstents, any excess tax benefit shall be recagimig@dditional paid-in capital when the
deduction reduces income tax payable. The netrteouat of the unrealized excess tax benefits aseakeber 31, 2010 was approximately
$112 million. The gross amount of this excess &dudtion in the net operating loss carryforward agsroximately $525 million.

The valuation allowance increased by $28liam from December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2@&kbnarily due to the increase in net
operating losses and tax credits.

At December 31, 2010 and December 31, 20@9Company had no material unrecognized tax lteraafd no adjustments to liabilities or
operations were required. The Company does notoexipat its unrecognized tax benefits will matdyiahcrease within the next twelve
months. The Company did not recognize any intarepenalties related to uncertain tax positionr®etember 31, 2010 and December 31,
20009.

The Company files United States federabine tax returns and income tax returns in varidate slocal, and foreign jurisdictions. The
Company is no longer subject to any tax assessfr@ntan income tax examination in the United Staefore 2007 and any other major
taxing jurisdiction for years before 2005, excepiene the Company has net operating losses or ¢ahit carryforwards that originate before
2005. The Company completed an examination byriteerial Revenue Service with respect to 2006 ie 2009 with no material changes.
Company is currently under examination by Revenueli@c for the year ended March 11, 2009 and theeyeted December 31, 2007. No
adjustments have been reported. The Company ignutgr examination by any other jurisdictions foy & year.

O. Collaborative Arrangements
Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.

In June 2006, the Company entered intdlatmaration agreement with Janssen for the devesspmmanufacture and commercialization
of telaprevir. Under the agreement, Janssen hagdgo be responsible for 50% of the drug develaoproests incurred under the development
program for the parties' territories (North Amerfoathe Company, and the rest of the world, othan the Far East, for Janssen) and has
exclusive rights to commercialize telaprevir intésritories including Europe, South America, thelle East, Africa and Australia.

Janssen made a $165.0 million up-fronniseepayment to the Company in July 2006. The uptiicense payment is being amortized
over the Company's estimated period of performamncker the collaboration agreement. The Compantie&es regarding the period of
performance under the Janssen collaboration agreéemsge adjusted in 2007, in the third quarter@2and in the first quarter of 2010, as a
result of changes in the global development plandiaprevir, which contemplates the conduct ofaierdevelopment activities in the post-
approval period, if telaprevir is approved for metikg. These adjustments were made on a prospédxsie beginning in the periods in which
the changes were identified and resulted in a dseren the amount of revenues the Company recatjfriam the Janssen agreement by
$2.6 million per quarter for the first adjustmelog, $1.1 million per quarter for the second adjusthend by $1.4 million per quarter for the
third
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adjustment. As of December 31, 2010, there wasA®®@lion in deferred revenues related to this umf license payment that will be
recognized over the remaining estimated periodedfopmance.

Under the agreement, Janssen agreed to coakiagent milestone payments for successful dgweént, approval and launch of telapre
as a product. As of December 31, 2010, the Compadyearned $100.0 million of these contingent roles payments. The remaining
$250.0 million in contingent milestones that then@any could achieve under the agreement cons#&l@d.0 million related to the regulatory
filing with and approval of telaprevir by the Euegm Medicines Agency, and $150.0 million relatethslaunch of telaprevir in the European
Union. On September 30, 2009, the Company entatedwo financial transactions related to these0$28nillion in contingent milestones.
Please refer to Note Q, "September 2009 Financaidactions.”

Under the collaboration agreement for tedap, each party incurs internal and external linsable expenses related to the telaprevir
development program and is reimbursed for 50% esetexpenses. The Company recognizes the full arnobtire reimbursable costs it incurs
as research and development expenses on its atetsalistatements of operations and recognizesetreemount that Janssen is obligated tc
the Company with respect to reimbursable expedes, offsetting reimbursable expenses incurreddnssen, as collaborative revenues.

Each of the parties will be responsibledourg supply in their respective territories. Thengpany has agreed to provide Janssen certain
services through the Company's third-party manufagg network until June 2011. Reimbursements fdamssen for manufacturing services
are recorded as collaborative revenues.

The collaboration agreement with Janssso plovides the Company with royalties on any saleslaprevir in the Janssen territories,
with a tiered royalty averaging in the mid-20% rangs a percentage of net sales in the Janssioriest In addition, Janssen will be
responsible for certain third-party royalties ot seles in its territories. Janssen may termirtegeagreement (A) prior to the receipt of
marketing approval for telaprevir, without causey time upon six months' notice to the Compan{Bdiif marketing approval has been
obtained, upon the later of (i) one year's advaratiee and (i) such period as may be requiredsgiga and transfer to the Company specified
filings and approvals.

During the three years ended December @10,2he Company recognized the following collaktivearevenues attributable to the Janssen
collaboration:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Amortized portion of u-front paymen $ 1242¢ $ 20,19¢ $ 22,44(

Development milestone paymel — — 55,00(
Net reimbursement for telaprevir developm

costs 9,24¢ 27,711 42,627

Reimbursement for manufacturing servi 9,077 6,732 55
Total collaborative revenues attributable 1

the Janssen collaborati $ 30,75( $ 54,64( $ 120,12.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporatic

In June 2004, the Company entered intdlalmaration agreement (the "MTPC Agreement") witiiddbishi Tanabe, pursuant to which
Mitsubishi Tanabe agreed to provide financial atigep
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support for the development and commercializatiotelaprevir. Under the terms of the agreementsiiishi Tanabe has the right to develop
and commercialize telaprevir in Japan and certdierd=ar East countries. The MTPC Agreement pral/fde payments by Mitsubishi Tanabe

to the Company through Phase 2 clinical developmeduding an up-front license fee, developmeagstmilestone payments and
reimbursement of certain drug development costsefaprevir.

In July 2009, the Company and Mitsubishmdlae amended the MTPC Agreement. Under the amegtedment, Mitsubishi Tanabe p
the Company $105.0 million in the third quarte2609, and the Company may receive a further coatingiilestone payment ranging from
between $15.0 million to $65.0 million. The amendgdeement provides to Mitsubishi Tanabe a fulligfiaense to manufacture and
commercialize telaprevir to treat HCV infectionJapan and specified other countries in the Far. Biitgtubishi Tanabe is responsible for its
own development and manufacturing costs in itsteey. Mitsubishi Tanabe may terminate the agreemaéany time without cause upon
60 days' prior written notice to the Company, inchihcase all rights to telaprevir will revert teet@ompany.

Prior to the amendment, the Company re@eghievenues based on an amortized portion ofG8é @p-front payment, milestones, if any,
and reimbursement of certain of the Company's esgeemcurred in telaprevir development. The $1@%I0on payment that the Company
received in the third quarter of 2009 pursuanhtdamended agreement is a nonrefundable, up-foemise fee and revenues related to this
payment are being recognized on a straight-lineslmager the expected period of performance of tam@any's obligations under the amended
agreement. As of December 31, 2010, there was $Billion in deferred revenues related to this upnfrlicense payment that will be
recognized over the remaining period of performasfde Company's obligations under the amendeglesmgent. In connection with the

amendment to the MTPC Agreement, the Company ageesapply manufacturing services to Mitsubishi dla@ through the Company's third-
party manufacturing network.

During the three years ended December @l0Q,2he Company recognized the following collakigearevenues attributable to the
Mitsubishi Tanabe collaboration:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Amortized portion of u-front payment: $ 38,23 $ 16,020 $ 167
Development milestone paymel — — 4,000
Reimbursement for telaprevir development ¢ — 1,26°¢ 5,68¢
Payments for manufacturing servic 43,63¢ 1,41¢ —
Total collaborative revenues attributable to
Mitsubishi Tanabe collaboratic $ 8186¢ $ 18,71. $ 9,857

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporchte

In May 2004, Vertex entered into an agresimehich was amended in 2006, with Cystic Fibrégisindation Therapeutics Incorporated
("CFFT") that provided partial funding for Vertexgstic fibrosis drug discovery effort. Under theended agreement, Vertex retains the right
to develop and commercialize VX-770, VX-809 and athyer compounds discovered in the research cobdlba, and will owe royalties to
CFFT on net sales of any drug candidate approvdc¢cammercialized under the
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collaboration. Funding under the agreement endeghity 2008. In 2010, 2009 and 2008, Vertex reczaphi$0, $0.5 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, in revenues related to its agreem@htCFFT.

Merck & Co., Inc.

In June 2004, Vertex entered into a glaodlhboration with Merck to develop and commera@lAurora kinase inhibitors for the
treatment of cancer. Merck was responsible for ewgide clinical development and commercializatioranf compounds developed under the
collaboration and would have been obligated tothayCompany royalties on any product sales. Mezokinated this collaboration agreement
in 2010. In 2008, Vertex recognized revenues framlastone of $6.0 million from this collaboratiofhe Company did not recognize any
revenues from this collaboration in 2010 or 2009.

P. Acquisition of ViroChem Pharma Inc.

On March 12, 2009, the Company acquiredd 00the outstanding equity of ViroChem, a privatkeld biotechnology company basec
Canada, for $100.0 million in cash and 10,733,52¢es of the Company's common stock. Vertex acdjiieoChem in order to add two
clinical-development stage HCV polymerase inhilsttr Vertex's HCV drug development portfolio. Aettime of the acquisition, ViroChem
was also engaged in research stage activitie®cetatviral diseases and was developing an eaatyestirug candidate for the treatment of
patients with HIV infection.

The transaction was accounted for undeatugiisition method of accounting. All of the assstquired and liabilities assumed in the
transaction were recognized at their acquisitiotre-dair values, while transaction costs and restiniey costs associated with the transaction
were expensed as incurred. The intangible assdtg@odwill related to the ViroChem acquisition sgsted for impairment on an annual basis
as of October 1, and more frequently if indicatans present or changes in circumstances suggestib@rment may exist.

Purchase Price

The $390.6 million purchase price for Vitwn is based on the acquisition-date fair valuid@fconsideration transferred, which was
calculated based on the opening price of the Cogipaommon stock of $27.07 per share on March @292The acquisitiomlate fair value ¢
the consideration consisted of the following:

Fair Value of
Consideration
(in thousands)

Cash $ 100,00(
Common stocl 290,55
Total $ 390,55°

Allocations of Assets and Liabiliti

The Company allocated the purchase pric¥fmChem to net tangible assets and intangibéeiss goodwill and a deferred tax liability.
The difference between the aggregate purchase qmite
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the fair value of assets acquired and liabilitissumed was allocated to goodwill. The followinglésdummarizes the fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisitiate:

Fair Values
as of
March 12,
2009
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivale| $ 12,57¢
Other tangible asse 2,701
Intangible assel 525,90(
Goodwill 26,10:
Accounts payable and accrued expel (14,22)
Deferred tax liability (162,507

Net asset $ 390,55°

All of the intangible assets acquired ia ¥iroChem acquisition related to in-process regeand development assets. These in-process
research and development assets primarily relat®iroChem's two clinical development-stage HCVymaérase inhibitors, VX-222 and VX-
759, which accounted for $412.9 million and $10%i8ion, respectively, of the intangible assetdeeted on the Company's consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2010 and Dec&hh2009. The Company's consolidated balance shésst reflect goodwill that relates
the potential synergies from the possible develagroécombination therapies involving telaprevidahe acquired drug candidates.

In addition, the Company considered Viro@teother clinical drug candidates and determihatd WCH-286, ViroChem's lead HIV drug
candidate, had an estimated fair value of $7.2anilat the acquisition date, based on developmestsdhrough the acquisition date.

The deferred tax liability of $160.3 milli@s of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2068ply relates to the tax impact of future
amortization or impairments associated with thaified intangible assets acquired from ViroCherhjah are not deductible for tax purposes.

The difference between the consideratiandferred to acquire the business and the faievaflassets acquired and liabilities assumed
was allocated to goodwill. This goodwill relateshe potential synergies from the possible devekmnof combination therapies involving
telaprevir and the acquired drug candidates. Ndnieeogoodwill is expected to be deductible forame tax purposes.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill P-acquisition

If the Company completes a project reldtedn in-process research and development assél, émortize as part of cost of revenues the
carrying value of the related intangible asset dkerremaining estimated life of the asset begimmirthe period in which the project is
completed. If the Company determines that a prdjastbecome impaired or abandons a project, itwrite down the carrying value of the
related intangible asset to its fair value and taille an impairment charge in the period in whighimpairment occurs. The ViroChem
intangible assets and goodwill are tested for impant on an annual basis as of October 1, and frexjaently if indicators are present or
changes in circumstance suggest that impairmentaxiay. In connection with each annual impairmesseasment and any interim impairment
assessment, the Company compares the fair valkhe elsset

F-38




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)

P. Acquisition of ViroChem Pharma Inc. (Continued)

as of the date of the assessment with the carmahge of the asset on the Company's consolidatiesh@a sheet.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Compedetermined that the fair value of VCH-286 was zeesulting in a $7.2 million impairment
charge. In connection with this impairment chathe,Company also recorded an adjustment of $2.Iomio the deferred tax liability. In the
fourth quarter of 2010 and 2009, the Company evetl®X-759 and VX-222 and the goodwill related e iroChem transaction for
impairment. No impairment was found for VX-759, \222 or the goodwill.

Acquisitior-related Expenses, Including Restructuring

In connection with the acquisition of Virb€@n, the Company incurred $7.8 million in expensdsch are reflected as acquisition-related
expenses on the consolidated statement of opesatid?®009. These costs include transaction expersesll as a restructuring charge the
Company incurred in March 2009 when it determintedduld restructure ViroChem's operations in ottdefiocus on ViroChem's HCV
programs. As a result of this restructuring plahjolr was completed in the second quarter of 20@8tex recorded a $2.1 million expense
related to employee severance, benefits and retatstd in 2009.

ViroChem Financial Information

The results of operations of ViroChem hbeen included in the consolidated financial statemsince the acquisition date. ViroChem
had no revenues in the period from the acquisiiate of March 12, 2009 through December 31, 2089fdma results of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, assun@ragtjuisition of ViroChem had taken place at thgirb@ng of each period, would n
differ significantly from Vertex's actual reportegsults.

Q. September 2009 Financial Transactions
2012 Notes

On September 30, 2009, the Company sol&.$1willion in aggregate principal amount of secunetes due 2012 (the "2012 Notes") for
an aggregate of $122.2 million pursuant to a natelpse agreement with Olmsted Park S.A. (the Haser"). The 2012 Notes were issued
pursuant to, and the 2012 Notes are governed biethes of, an indenture entered into on Septembe2@9 between the Company and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee and collaggant. In connection with the issuance of the22Bbtes, the Company granted a security
interest to the Purchaser with respect to $155lBomiof future telaprevir milestone payments tttee Company is eligible to earn from Jans
for the future filing, approval and launch of telayr in the European Union.

The 2012 Notes were issued at a discouhtlamot pay current interest prior to maturityeT2012 Notes will mature on October 31,
2012, subject to earlier mandatory redemption ¢oetktent specified milestone events set forth énGbmpany's collaboration with Janssen
occur prior to October 31, 2012. $100.0 milliortloése potential milestone payments relate to thelasory filing with and approval of
telaprevir by the European Medicines Agency, anl@nillion of these potential milestone paymeseiate to the launch of telaprevir in the
European Union. The Company will be required teessd the portion of the 2012 Notes equal to eachstahe payment as each such
milestone payment is earned under the Jansseiomltéon.
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The holders of the 2012 Notes have the tiglsause the Company to repay all or any pattt®@®2012 Notes at 100% of the principal
amount of the 2012 Notes to be repurchased if agthaf control of the Company occurs. The Compaay aiso redeem all or any part of the
2012 Notes at any time at 100% of the principal amof the 2012 Notes to be redeemed. Upon ceetants of default occurring and
continuing, either the trustee or the holders dfless than 25% in aggregate principal amountef2®12 Notes then outstanding may declare
the principal of the 2012 Notes immediately due pagable. In the case of certain events of bankyyisolvency or reorganization relating
the Company, the principal amount of the 2012 Netedl automatically become immediately due andcapbey

The Company has determined that the 202dN\mntain an embedded derivative related to dbengial mandatory redemption or early
repayment of the 2012 Notes at the principal amgubot to their maturity date. The Company bifusththe embedded derivative from the
2012 Notes because the features of the embeddizatiler were not clearly and closely related to 2042 Notes.

The Company determines the fair value efambedded derivative based on a probability-wetyjiodel of the discounted value that
market participants would ascribe to the potemtiahdatory redemption and early repayment featurdeed2012 Notes. The fair value of this
embedded derivative is evaluated quarterly, with@ranges in the fair value of the embedded devieaesulting in a corresponding loss or
gain. Changes in the fair value of the embeddedakire that result in a loss increase the liapiéitich quarter by an amount corresponding to
the loss and changes in the fair value of the e derivative that result in a gain decreaseidiidlity each quarter by an amount
corresponding to the gain. The Company recordstguiainterest expense related to the 2012 Notésrihéned using the effective interest rate
method. The liabilities related to the 2012 Notesluding the embedded derivative, are reflectegttioer on the Company's consolidated
balance sheets. As of December 31, 2009, theitiabifelated to the 2012 Notes were reflectedbag-term. As of December 31, 2010, these
liabilities were reflected as current.

Sale of Future Milestone Payments

On September 30, 2009, the Company entatedwo purchase agreements with the Purchasasupat to which the Company sold its
rights to an aggregate of $95.0 million in potdrfidure milestone payments pursuant to the Janagerement related to the launch of
telaprevir in the European Union, for nonrefundgidgments totaling $32.8 million. The purchase agrents contain representations,
warranties, covenants and indemnification obligatiof each party, including the obligation of thengpany to make the milestone payment
the Purchaser when the underlying milestone eaetsichieved if the Janssen agreement has beendézth

The Company determined that this salemdtential future revenue stream should be accouoteas a liability because the Company has
significant continuing involvement in the generatimf the potential milestone payments pursuanistodllaboration agreement with Janssen.
As a result, the Company records a liability orctesolidated balance sheets equal to the faiewvallthe purchase agreements. No revenues o
deferred revenues have been recorded on accotht amounts that the Company received from theHasger pursuant to these purchase
agreements. In addition, the Company determinettiiegpurchase agreements are free-standing degvastruments. The aggregate fair
value of the free-standing derivatives createdheysale of the rights to future milestone paymemthe Purchaser pursuant to the purchase
agreements is based on a probability-weighted
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model of the discounted value that market partitipavould ascribe to these rights. The models tsedtimate the fair value of the rights sold
to the Purchaser pursuant to the purchase agregmeeptire the Company to make estimates regardingng other things, the assumptions
market participants would make regarding the tinang probability of achieving the milestones areldbpropriate discount rates. The fair
value of the rights sold to the Purchaser purstaatite purchase agreements will be evaluated egurting period, with any changes in the
value of the derivative instruments based on tlobgility of achieving the milestones, the timirfgaohieving the milestones or discount rates
resulting in a corresponding gain or loss. BecdlnsgCompany's estimate of the fair value of thatgdo the future milestone payments
includes the application of a discount rate toerfthe time-value-of-money, the Company expectsd¢ord costs related to this liability each
quarter. As of December 31, 2009, the liabilityatet to sale of the potential future milestone payts was reflected as long-term. As of
December 31, 2010, this liability was reflectectagent.

Expenses and Liabilities Related to September Ed@#ncial Transaction:

Due to the positive results the Companyioietd from the telaprevir registration programhia second and third quarters of 2010 and
Janssen's receipt of accelerated assessment Bythpean Medicines Agency for the marketing autadidon application for telaprevir in the
fourth quarter of 2010, the Company revised itgregtes regarding the probability and timing of asimg the milestones under the Company's
collaboration agreement with Janssen, which regufte significant increase in the fair value daf thability related to the sale of potential
future milestone payments during 2010.

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009
(in thousands)

Expenses and Losses (Gains):

Interest expense related to 2012 N¢ $ 15,06¢ $ 3,46F
Change in fair value of embedded derivative relabe?i012

Notes 1,637 (200)
Change in fair value of free-standing derivativelsted to

sale of potential future milestone payme 39,59 2,047

Total September 2009 financial transaction expe $ 56,290 $ 5,31

December 31 December 31
2010 2009
(in thousands)

Liabilities:
2012 Notes, excluding fair value of embedde

derivative $ 124,90. $ 111,31
Embedded derivative related to 2012 Nc¢ 12,08¢ 10,45:
Liability related to sale of potential future

milestone payment 77,79¢ 38,207

Total liabilities related to September 2009

financial transaction $ 214,790 $ 159,97:
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R. Sale of HIV Protease Inhibitor Royalty Stream

In December 1993, the Company and Glaxd8(liite plc entered into a collaboration agreemenesearch, develop and commercialize
HIV protease inhibitors, including Agenerase (anmprgr) and Lexiva/Telzir (fosamprenavir calciumndér the collaboration agreement,
GlaxoSmithKline agreed to pay the Company royabieset sales of drugs developed under the coldioor. GlaxoSmithKline has the right
terminate its arrangement with the Company witlgautse upon twelve months' notice. Termination efdabllaboration agreement by
GlaxoSmithKline will relieve it of its obligatiorotmake further payments under the agreement ah@mdlany license granted to
GlaxoSmithKline by the Company under the agreenlantune 1996, the Company and GlaxoSmithKlineiobtha worldwide, non-exclusive
license under certain G.D. Searle & Co. ("Searleyv owned by Pharmacia/Pfizer) patents in the afé#V protease inhibition. Searle is paid
royalties based on net sales of Agenerase and &&eé\zir.

On May 30, 2008, the Company entered irparahase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement")Regamprenavir Royalty, L.P.
("Fosamprenavir Royalty") pursuant to which the @amy sold, and Fosamprenavir Royalty purchasedztdmpany's right to receive royalty
payments, net of royalty amounts to be earned apdal Searle, arising from sales of Lexiva/Telnd #Agenerase under the Company's 1993
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, from April 1, 20@8the end of the term of the collaboration agresfer a one-time cash payment of
$160.0 million to the Company. In accordance wlith Purchase Agreement, GlaxoSmithKline makes wiltp payments, net of the subroy:
amounts payable to Searle, directly to Fosampremalty. The Purchase Agreement also containsratfpresentations, warranties,
covenants and indemnification obligations. The Canypcontinues to be obligated for royalty amoumitied and that are due to Searle. The
Company has instructed GlaxoSmithKline to pay sudounts directly to Searle as they become due.

Because the transaction was structurednasiaancellable sale, the Company has no significantinuing involvement in the generation
of the cash flows due to Fosamprenavir Royaltythede are no guaranteed rates of return to FosarayireRoyalty, the Company recorded
proceeds as deferred revenues. These deferreduesyare being recognized as royalty revenues bedifé of the collaboration agreement
because of the Company's continuing involvemethéroyalty arrangement over the term of the Pugelfsgreement. Such continuing
involvement, which is required pursuant to covesaointained in the Purchase Agreement, includessegimg GlaxoSmithKline's compliance
with the collaboration agreement, monitoring anfedding patent infringement, adverse claims ogédition involving the royalty stream,
undertaking to cooperate with Fosamprenavir Rolgéiforts to find a new license partner if Glaxda®iline terminates the collaboration
agreement, and complying with the license agreeméhtSearle, including the obligation to make fetuoyalty payments to Searle.

The Company recorded $155.1 million, repngisig the proceeds of the transaction less theoyatty payable to Fosamprenavir Royalty
for the period from April 1, 2008 through May 3@UB, as deferred revenues to be recognized agyaogaknues over the life of the
collaboration agreement based on the units-of-reeenethod. The amount of deferred revenues todmgnéized as royalty revenues in each
period is calculated by multiplying the followin@) the net royalty payments due to FosamprenasyaRy for the period by (2) the ratio of
the remaining deferred revenue amount to the &stiinated remaining net royalties that GlaxoSmiithdis expected to pay Fosamprenavir
Royalty over the term of the collaboration agreetas of December 31, 2010, the Company had $1t@lbn in deferred revenues relatec
the Purchase Agreement. In addition, the Compantirages to recognize royalty revenues for the partf the royalty earned that is due to
Searle.

F-42




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
R. Sale of HIV Protease Inhibitor Royalty Stream (@ntinued)

The Company recognizes royalty expensesam period based on (i) deferred transaction esqeeim the same manner and over the same
period during which the related deferred revenuesecognized as royalty revenues plus (i) theeyddty paid by GlaxoSmithKline to Searle
on net sales of Agenerase and Lexiva/Telzir forpdeod.

S. Employee Benefits

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plae (Vertex 401(k) Plan™) in which substantially aflits permanent United States employees
are eligible to participate. Participants may ciiie up to 60% of their annual compensation totbgex 401(k) Plan, subject to statutory
limitations. The Company may declare discretiomaatching contributions to the Vertex 401(k) Plaatthre payable in Vertex common stock.
The match is paid in the form of fully vested irtgts in a Vertex common stock fund. Employees tlaeability to transfer funds from the
Company stock fund as they choose. As of Decembge2@®L0, 279,000 shares of common stock remainaitbéle for grant under the Vertex
401(k) Plan. The Company declared matching cortighs to the Vertex 401(k) Plan as follows:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Discretionary matching contributions during the

year ended December & $ 655 $ 6,04« $ 5,027
Shares issued during the year ended Decemb 174 19¢ 19t
Shares issuable as of the year ended Decemb 42 35 38

T. Contingencies

The Company has certain contingent lidbgithat arise in the ordinary course of its bussrectivities. The Company accrues a resery
contingent liabilities when it is probable thattg expenditures will be made and such expenditarde reasonably estimated. There we
material contingent liabilities accrued as of Debenm31, 2010 or 2009.

U. Guarantees

As permitted under Massachusetts law, thiegany's Articles of Organization and Bylaws previtlat the Company will indemnify
certain of its officers and directors for certalaims asserted against them in connection wittr $eivice as an officer or director. The
maximum potential amount of future payments that@ompany could be required to make under thessrindication provisions is unlimite:
However, the Company has purchased directors' Hiogrs' liability insurance policies that coulddkgce its monetary exposure and enable it to
recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Ndemnification claims are currently outstanding #melCompany believes the estimated fair
value of these indemnification arrangements is mihi

The Company customarily agrees in the emgirtourse of its business to indemnification ps@rs in agreements with clinical trial
investigators and sites in its drug developmengrms, in sponsored research agreements with agadachnot-for-profit institutions, in
various comparable agreements involving partiefopming services for the Company and in its rethtesleases. The Company also
customarily agrees to certain indemnification psams in its drug discovery, development and consiakization collaboration agreements.
With respect to the Company's clinical trials apdrssored research agreements, these indemnifigattimisions typically apply to any claim
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U. Guarantees (Continued)

asserted against the investigator or the investigainstitution relating to personal injury or pesty damage, violations of law or certain
breaches of the Company's contractual obligatioisgg out of the research or clinical testing led Company's compounds or drug candid;
With respect to lease agreements, the indemnificgirovisions typically apply to claims assertediagt the landlord relating to personal
injury or property damage caused by the Companyidiations of law by the Company or to certaindwiees of the Company's contractual
obligations. The indemnification provisions appegrin the Company's collaboration agreements amgasi but in addition provide some
limited indemnification for its collaborator in trevent of third-party claims alleging infringemeaftintellectual property rights. In each of the
cases above, the indemnification obligation gehegairvives the termination of the agreement fansextended period, although the
obligation typically has the most relevance dutimg contract term and for a short period of timer¢lafter. The maximum potential amount of
future payments that the Company could be requoedake under these provisions is generally undichiThe Company has purchased
insurance policies covering personal injury, propdamage and general liability that reduce itso=xpe for indemnification and would enable
it in many cases to recover a portion of any fummeunts paid. The Company has never paid any ialad@nounts to defend lawsuits or settle
claims related to these indemnification provisiolscordingly, the Company believes the estimatédvi@ue of these indemnification
arrangements is minimal.

In March 2003, the Company sold certairetsssf PanVera LLC to Invitrogen Corporation fopegximately $97 million. In December
2003, the Company sold certain instrumentationtageeAurora Discovery, Inc. for approximately $4n8lion. The agreements with the
buyers each require the Company to indemnify thesbagainst any loss it may suffer by reason oft&ses breach of certain representations
and warranties, or failure to perform certain caw@s, contained in such agreement. The represemsativarranties and covenants contained in
the agreements are of a type customary in agresroéttiis sort. The Company's aggregate obligatiomer the indemnity contained in each
agreement are, with a few exceptions which the Gombelieves are not material, capped at one-fisitfeoapplicable purchase price, and
apply to claims under representations and warrauni@de within fifteen months after closing (whigripd has ended) although there is no
corresponding time limit for claims made based mabhes of covenants. Neither Invitrogen nor Aut@a made any claims to date under the
applicable indemnities, and the Company believasttie estimated fair value of the remaining indication obligations is minimal.

On February 12, 2008, the Company enteredunderwriting agreements with Merrill Lynch, Rie, Fenner & Smith Incorporated; on
September 18, 2008, the Company entered into aerwniting agreement with Goldman, Sachs & Co.; ebriary 18, 2009, the Company
entered into an underwriting agreement with Metrjlhch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated; on&mwber 2, 2009, the Company entered
into an underwriting agreement with Goldman, Sa&l@o.; and on September 23, 2010, the Company eshieto an underwriting agreement
with Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorded (collectively, the "Underwriting Agreementst),each case as the representative c
several underwriters, if any, named in such agreg¢sneelating to the public offering and sale ddirgls of the Company's common stock or
convertible senior subordinated notes. The UndéngriAgreement relating to each offering requies €Company to indemnify the
underwriters of that public offering against angddhey may suffer by reason of the Company's hrehany representation or warranty
relating to that public offering, the Company'ddeg to perform certain covenants in those agre¢snéime inclusion of any untrue statement of
material fact in the
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U. Guarantees (Continued)

prospectus used in connection with that offerihg,amission of any material fact needed to maksetimaterials not misleading, and any
actions taken by the Company or its representativesnnection with the offering. The representatiovarranties and covenants in the
Underwriting Agreements are of a type customarggreements of this sort. The Company believesgtimated fair value of these
indemnification arrangements is minimal.

V. Subsequent Event

On January 7, 2011, the Company enteredaimredit agreement with Bank of America, N.Aadministrative agent and lender. The
credit agreement provides for a $100.0 million tewg credit facility that is initially unsecured.

The Company may elect that the loans utidecredit agreement bear interest at a rate pemarequal to (i) LIBOR plus 1.50%, or
(ii) the rate of interest publicly announced frame to time by Bank of America as its prime ratheTCompany may prepay the loans, in wl
or in part, in minimum amounts without premium @nplty, other than customary breakage costs wiiheet to LIBOR borrowings. The
Company may borrow, repay and reborrow under tbiéitfauntil July 6, 2012, at which point the faityl terminates.

The agreement contains customary repreti@mseand warranties, affirmative and negative caves and events of default, including
payment defaults, defaults for breaches of reptatens and warranties, covenant defaults and aefsilts. The credit agreement also
requires that the Company comply with certain firiahcovenants, including a covenant that requinesCompany to maintain at least
$400.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and matietsecurities in domestic deposit and secumtiesunts and a covenant that limits the
Company's quarterly net losses.

The obligations of the lender to make atidhadvance under the credit agreement are stufyexnumber of conditions, including a
satisfactory due diligence review of the Compafigancial position and business. Also, if, priorao initial borrowing under the credit
agreement, the Company engages in certain investarguisition or disposition transactions or psep@mdebtedness, such activities could
restrict the Company's ability to borrow under thedit agreement.

If the Company borrows under the credieagnent, the Company will become subject to cegdditional negative covenants, subject to
exceptions, restricting or limiting the Companyidlity and the ability of the Company's subsidiarte, among other things, grant liens, make
certain investments, incur indebtedness, makeinatispositions and prepay indebtedness.

If the Company defaults under certain psimris of the credit agreement, including any defaiud financial covenant, the loans will
become secured by the Company's cash, cash equivaled marketable securities with a margined vafu#100.0 million. In addition, if an
event of default occurs, the interest rate woutiléase and the administrative agent would be edtit take various actions, including the
acceleration of payment of amounts due under the.lo
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Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010
(in thousands, except per share amount:
Revenues
Royalty revenue $ 6407 $ 7,26z $ 8,17 $ 8,40
Collaborative revenue 16,02: 24,36( 15,62: 57,12:
Total revenue 22,42¢ 31,62: 23,79¢ 65,52«
Costs and expense
Royalty expense 3,367 3,08¢ 3,22¢ 3,04¢
Research and development exper 143,01: 155,08: 170,43 168,88
Sales, general and administrative expel 35,55 40,91¢ 48,85t 62,47¢
Restructuring expens 78C 2,11z 86€ (2,257
Total costs and expens 182,71 201,19 223,38 232,15¢
Loss from operation (160,287) (169,57) (199,58) (166,639
Interest incom 45E 484 492 52:
Interest expens (3,955 (3,687%) (3,95)) (7,68¢€)
Change in fair value of derivative instrume (1,489 (27,239 (5,91)) (6,595
Net loss $(165,27) $(200,00¢) $(208,95) $(180,39)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (08)3% ((100S$ ((10H$ (090
Basic and diluted weight-average number ¢
common shares outstandi 198,93! 200,39° 200,88 201,35!
Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2009 2009 2009 2009
(in thousands, except per share amount:
Revenues
Royalty revenue $ 6,24 $ 5917 $ 7,83¢ $ 842¢
Collaborative revenue 17,83¢ 13,14% 17,12¢ 25,46(
Total revenue 23,97¢ 19,06¢ 24,957 33,88¢
Costs and expense
Royalty expense 3,57¢ 3,267 3,71z 3,647
Research and development exper 143,58: 139,33: 132,13: 135,23(
Sales, general and administrative expel 28,52( 32,52¢ 36,57: 32,574
Restructuring expens 2,402 1,107 774 1,957
Intangible asset impairment char¢ — — — 7,20(
Acquisitior-related expense 7,79: — — —
Total costs and expens 185,87: 176,23: 173,19 180,60t
Loss from operation (161,89) (157,16°) (148,23) (146,719
Interest incomt 2,59¢ 1,48¢ 59¢ 327
Interest expens (3,37§ (3,325 (1,927 (4,562)
Change in fair value of derivative instrume — — — (1,849
Loss on exchanges of convertible senior
subordinated notes (due 20: — (12,299 — (5,847
Net loss $(162,67) $(171,29) $(149,56%) $ (158,64
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (10H)3$ (099 $ (089 $ (0.8
Basic and diluted weighted-average number ¢
common shares outstandi 155,86( 172,56: 178,73t 185,49:
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Exhibit 10.4¢
Vertex Employee Compensation Plan

On an annual basis in the first quarter of thealigear the Management Development and Compendatommittee of our Board of
Directors adopts an employee compensation plaodoofficers and other employees, including our edrexecutive officers, together with
performance goals for that fiscal year. The plagresses three components of employee compensatiase-dalary, performance bonuses
which serve as short-term incentives and equitptgrevhich serve as long-term incentives—that astgied to motivate, reward and retain
employees by aligning compensation with the achierg of strategic corporate goals.

Upon completion of each performance period (usualtalendar year), our Board of Directors assigpsréormance rating on the
basis of achievement of goals for the company péd Board, in consultation with our chief exeeatofficer, early in the performance peri
The amount available for payment of performanceulen is established on the basis of this perforeeating, and is allocated to employees
on the basis of salary tier and individual perfonggrating. The base salaries of the executivearffiare set based on market and other
competitive factors. Merit increases to base saddior other employees are made on the basis idodl performance rating. Annual equity
grants, made in the form of stock options, restddtock grants, or a combination of both are nuadihe basis of salary tier and individual
performance.

The Board of Directors retains broad discretiodgtermine the appropriate form and level of comagas, particularly for our
executives, on the basis of its assessment of\aaugives, the demand for talent, our performameeather factors. Key corporate performe
factors generally include, among other things, eainent of regulatory and commercialization gaalsearch and development productivity,
enhancements of organizational capabilities, maamee of financial stability and other aspectswfmerformance. We reserve the right to
modify the plan, and the key corporate performdaceors and criteria under the plan, at any time.

On February 3, 2011, the Board of Directors deteetlithe cash bonus awards related to the fiscaleyeted December 31, 2010 and
annual salaries effective February 2011. The casludawards for 2010 and annual salaries for 26d.thé following executive officers were:

Name 2010 Cash Bonus 2011 Salary

Matthew W. Emmen $ 2,931,630 $ 1,166,99!
Peter Muelle $ 509,85( $ 583,49!
lan F. Smitt $ 459,000 $ 525,30(
Nancy J. Wysensl $ 426,300 $ 504,70(
Kenneth S. Boge $ 342,56 $ 463,50(




Exhibit 10.5C

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Non-Employee Board Compensian

Annual Retainer:

Board Meeting Fees
In-Person Board Meeting
Telephonic Board Meeting

Committee Meeting Fee:

In-Person on Regular Board Meeting L
In-Person Meeting held on Day other than reg
Board Meeting Da

Telephone Meetin

Committee Chair Compensation

Audit & Finance Chai

Corporate Governance & Nominati
Committee Chai

Management Development & Compensation Comm
Chair

Equity Grants

$25,000

$2,500
$1,250 (none for meetings called for less than 8iutas)

$500
$1,000

$375

$20,000 annual retain

$20,000 annual retain

$14,000 annual retain

Upon first election to the Board, 30,000 optionssting quarterly ove
four years; an

On June 1 of each year in service, 20,000 fullyadsptions

On June 1 of each year, 2,500 fully vested optfonghe Chairman ¢
the Board, if independent, or the Lead Indepenbérctor.




SUBSIDIARIES OF VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (San Diego) LLC, a Delaviariéed liability company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (North America) LLC, a Dedasvlimited liability company (1)
VSD Sub Il LLC, a Delaware limited liability compgif2)
Vertex Securities Corporation, a Massachusettsoratipn
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman) Limited, a Caynséantls company
Vertex Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Vertex Securities Trust, a Massachusetts busimess(8)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Ltd., a United Kiomg limited liability company (4)
0846727 B.C. Ltd., a British Columbia company

Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Canada) Incorporated, adian company (5)

(1) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Sargd)j¢.LC

(2) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Northekica) LLC
(3) a subsidiary of Vertex Holdings, Inc.

(4) jointly held by Vertex Securities Trust and ¥ Holdings, Inc.

(5) a subsidiary of 0846727 B.C. Ltd.

Exhibit 21.1




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRhbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 33-4803018848, 33-65472, 333-65666, 33-
93324, 333-12325, 333-27011, 333-56179, 333-65883,79549, 333-104362, 333-115458, 333-134482,1332-77, 333-150946, 333-
150945, 333-160442, and 333-166803, and Form Ss3 BBB-153543 and 333-165002) of Vertex Pharmazaatincorporated of our reports
dated February 17, 2011, with respect to the caghsteld financial statements of Vertex Pharmacelsticecorporated and the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting of VertBkarmaceuticals Incorporated, included in this aifReport (Form 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachuse!
February 17, 201




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

[, Matthew W. Emmens, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/eftex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:
€)) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahadporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataroce with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sloésire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period coveydhis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant’s internal control over finaiceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):
€) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveammagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 17, 2011 /s/ Matthew W. Emmen

Matthew W. Emmen
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Presid




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, lan F. Smith, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/eftex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operetand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:
€)) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahadporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataroce with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sloésire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period coveydhis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant’s internal control over finaiceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 17, 2011 /s/ lan F. Smitt

lan F. Smitr
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@p@r 63 of Title 18, United
States Code) each of the undersigned officers dieXé>harmaceuticals Incorporated, a Massachusaferation (the “Company”), does
hereby certify, to such officer’'s knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endeddnber 31, 2010 (the “Form 10-K”) of the Compauiiyfcomplies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&éearExchange Act of 1934, and the informationtagred in the Form 10-K fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial conditioraesults of operations of the Company.

Date: February 17, 201
/s/ Matthew W. Emmen

Matthew W. Emmen
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Presid

Date: February 17, 201
/s/ lan F. Smitt

lan F. Smitlr
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyndl be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&ammission or its staff upon request.




